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How This Publication Is Organized vii

HOW THIS PUBLICATION IS ORGANIZED

Arrangement of Material in AICPA Technical Questions and
Answers
The material in AICPA Technical Questions and Answers is arranged as follows:
Financial Statement Presentation
Assets
Liabilities and Deferred Credits
Capital
Revenue and Expense
Specialized Industry Problems
Specialized Organizational Problems
Audit Field Work
Auditors' Reports
Attestation Engagements

Description of Content

The major divisions are divided into sections, each with its own section number.
Each paragraph or equivalent is decimally numbered for reference purposes.
With respect to Technical Questions and Answers, within each section, each
question and answer is decimally numbered. For example, Q&A section 9100.02
is the second question and answer in Q&A section 9100, Signing and Dating
Reports. When a question and answer is deleted, its number is reserved. Re-
served sections are deleted permanently if no future questions and answers
are expected for a particular topic.

Authoritative pronouncements are referenced in the questions and answers,
whenever possible, to support the guidance provided. The following list explains
the references and cites the publications containing the authoritative literature:

AR Accounting and Review Services standard or interpretation con-
tained in AICPA Professional Standards

AR-C Clarified Accounting and Review Services standard or interpreta-
tion contained in AICPA Professional Standards
AT Attestation standard or interpretation contained in AICPA Profes-
sional Standards
AU-C!' Clarified auditing standard or interpretation contained in AICPA
Professional Standards
AUD Statements of Position—Auditing and Attestation contained in
AICPA Professional Standards
ET Section from the Code of Professional Conduct of the AICPA con-
tained in AICPA Professional Standards

TSP Trust Services Principles and Criteria of ASEC contained in AICPA
Trust Services Principles and Criteria

1 The "AU-C" identifier was established to avoid confusion with references to existing "AU"
sections, which have been superseded and deleted from Professional Standards as of December 2013.
The AU-C identifier was scheduled to revert back to the AU identifier at the end of 2013, by which
time the previous AU sections would be superseded for all engagements. However, in response to user
requests, the AU-C identifier will be retained indefinitely.

©2015, AICPA
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AICPA Technical Questions and Answers

Note: Generally, abbreviations are not used to reference AICPA Audit and
Accounting Guides. Each guide is published separately and is also included in
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides subscription service.

The Q&A Topical Index for Technical Information Service Questions and An-
swers uses the key word method to facilitate reference to the inquiries. This
index is arranged alphabetically by subject, with references to section numbers.

Special Note About FASB Accounting Standards Codification®

FASB released the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) on July
1, 2009. On its effective date, FASB ASC became the source of authoritative
U.S. accounting and reporting standards for nongovernmental entities, in ad-
dition to guidance issued by the SEC. FASB ASC significantly changes the way
financial statement preparers, auditors, and academics perform accounting
research.

FASB ASC flattens the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
hierarchy to two levels: one that is authoritative (in FASB ASC) and one that
is nonauthoritative (not in FASB ASC). Exceptions include all rules and in-
terpretive releases of the SEC under the authority of federal securities laws,
which are sources of authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants, and certain
grandfathered guidance having an effective date before March 15, 1992. The
codification creates FASB ASC 105, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Amendments to FASB ASC are now issued by FASB through Accounting Stan-
dards Updates (ASUs) and serve only to update FASB ASC. FASB does not
consider the ASUs authoritative in their own right; such amendments become
authoritative when they are incorporated into FASB ASC. The ASUs issued
include the amendments to the codification and an appendix of FASB ASC up-
date instructions. ASUs also provide background information about the amend-
ments, and explain the basis for FASB's decisions. This method of updating the
accounting guidance means that there will no longer be, for example, account-
ing standards in the form of statements, staff positions, Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) abstracts, or AICPA Accounting Statements of Position (SOPs).
ASUs are issued in the form of ASU No. 20YY-XX, in which "YY" is the last
two digits of the year and "XX" is the sequential number for each update. For
example, ASU No. 2011-01 is the first update in the year 2011. FASB orga-
nizes the contents of each ASU using the same section headings as those used
in FASB ASC.

FASB ASC is a major restructuring of accounting and reporting standards de-
signed to simplify user access to all authoritative U.S. GAAP by providing the
authoritative literature in a topically organized structure. FASB ASC disas-
sembled thousands of nongovernmental accounting pronouncements (including
those of FASB, the EITF, and the AICPA) and reassembled them under approx-
imately 90 topics and included all accounting standards issued by a standard
setter within levels A-D of the current U.S. GAAP hierarchy. FASB ASC also
includes relevant portions of authoritative content issued by the SEC, as well
as selected SEC staff interpretations and administrative guidance issued by
the SEC; however, FASB ASC is not the official source of SEC guidance and
does not contain the entire population of SEC rules, regulations, interpretive
releases, and staff guidance. Moreover, FASB ASC does not include govern-
mental accounting standards. FASB ASC is not intended to change U.S. GAAP
or any requirements of the SEC.

©2015, AICPA



How This Publication Is Organized

FASB ASC uses a topical structure in which guidance is organized into areas,
topics, subtopics, sections, and subsections. These terms are defined as follows:

Areas. The broadest category in FASB ASC and represent a grouping
of topics.

Topics. The broadest categorization of related content and correlate
with the International Accounting Standards (IASs) and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Subtopics. Represent subsets of a topic and are generally distin-
guished by type or scope.
Sections. Indicate the nature of the content such as recognition, mea-

surement, or disclosure. The sections' structure correlates with the
IASs and IFRSs.

Subsections. Allow further segregation and navigation of content.

Topics, subtopics, and sections are numerically referenced. This effectively
organizes the content without regard to the original standard setter or standard
from which the content was derived. An example of the numerical referencing
is FASB ASC 305-10-05, in which 305 is the Cash and Cash Equivalents topic,
10 represents the "Overall" subtopic, and 05 represents the "Overview and
Background" section.

FASB ASC represents a major shift in the organization and presentation of U.S.
GAAP. Users are encouraged to read the notice to constituents, which explains
the scope, structure, and usage of consistent terminology in FASB ASC. This
document is available on the FASB website at http:/asc.fasb.org. In addition
to the notice, this link contains information on the options available for users
to access the codification. FASB ASC is offered by FASB at no charge in a Basic
View and for an annual fee in a Professional View. FASB ASC and the notice
to constituents are also offered by certain third party licensees, including the
AICPA.

FASB ASC Effect on AICPA Literature Included in This Publication

As noted previously, FASB ASC disassembled and reassembled thousands of
nongovernmental accounting pronouncements (including those of FASB, the
EITF, and the AICPA) and codified them under approximately 90 topics. FASB
ASC reduces the U.S. GAAP hierarchy to two levels: one that is authoritative
(in FASB ASC) and one that is not (not in FASB ASC). Those standards you
have come to memorize through FASB Statement Nos., FASB Interpretation
Nos., accounting SOPs, and the like now reside in FASB ASC and have a FASB
ASC reference for accountants to use. FASB ASC codified all AICPA accounting
SOPs and Practice Bulletins and also sections .38-.76 of Q&A section 5100,
Revenue Recognition.

Levels of Authority

The following tables outline the three levels of authority for auditing, attes-
tation, and compilation and review publications, including levels of authority
under Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARS)
No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clar-
ification and Recodification (AICPA, Professional Standards). Also included
are links to authoritative standards and the publications that fall within each
category.

©2015, AICPA
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Auditing Publications

AU-C section 200, Overall Objectives of the Independent Auditor and the Conduct of
an Audit in Accordance With Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (AICPA,
Professional Standards), sets forth the following three types of auditing publications

and their authority:

® Auditing Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With Standards
Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (AICPA, Professional

Standards, ET sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

® Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Auditing
Standards Board; if the auditor does not apply the auditing guidance
included in an applicable interpretive publication, the auditor should be
prepared to explain how he or she complied with the Statements on
Auditing Standards (SASs) provisions addressed by such auditing

guidance.

® Other Auditing Publications: No authoritative status; however, other
auditing publications may help the auditor understand and apply the

SASs.
Other Auditing
Auditing Standards Interpretive Publications Publications
® AU-C sections (SASs)in ® Auditing o AICPA Alerts
Professional Standards interpretations (AU-C  Audit and Accounting
9000 sections in Manual

Professional Standards)
Appendixes to the SASs
Auditing guidance in
AICPA Guides

Auditing Statements of
Position in Professional
Standards

Specific sections of
AICPA Technical
Questions and Answers

Checklists and
IMlustrative Financial
Statements

Practice Aids
White papers
Auditing articles in the
Journal of Accountancy

or other professional
publications

Auditing articles in the
AICPA CPA Letter
Daily

Continuing professional
education programs

Other instruction
materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit
programs, and
checklists

Auditing publications
from state CPA
societies, other
organizations, and
individuals

©2015, AICPA



How This Publication Is Organized

Attestation Publications

AT section 50, SSAE Hierarchy (AICPA, Professional Standards), sets forth the
following three types of attestation publications and their authority:

® Attestation Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With
Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (AICPA,
Professional Standards, ET sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

® Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Auditing
Standards Board; if the practitioner does not apply the attestation
guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication, the
practitioner should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with
the Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAEs)
provisions addressed by such attestation guidance.

e (Other Attestation Publications: No authoritative status; however, other
attestation publications may help the practitioner understand and apply

the SSAEs.
Other Attestation
Attestation Standards Interpretive Publications Publications
® AT sections (SSAEs)in ® Attestation AICPA Alerts
Professional Standards interpretations (AT Audit and Accounting
9000 sections in Manual
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Appendixes to the
SSAEs

Attestation guidance in
AICPA Guides

Attestation Statements
of Position in
Professional Standards

Specific sections of
AICPA Technical
Questions and Answers

Checklists and
IMlustrative Financial
Statements

Practice Aids

White papers
Attestation articles in
the Journal of
Accountancy or other

professional
publications

Attestation articles in
the AICPA CPA Letter
Daily

Continuing professional
education programs

Other instruction
materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit
programs, and
checklists

Attestation publications
from state CPA
societies, other
organizations, and
individuals
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Compilation and Review Publications

AR section 60, Framework for Performing and Reporting on Compilation and Review
Engagements (AICPA, Professional Standards), sets forth the following three types of
compilation and review publications and their authority:

® Compilation and Review Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With
Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (AICPA,
Professional Standards, ET sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

® Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Accounting and
Review Services Committee; if the accountant does not apply the compilation
and review guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication, the
accountant should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)
provisions addressed by such compilation and review guidance.

® Other Compilation and Review Publications: No authoritative status;
however, other compilation and review publications may help the accountant
understand and apply the SSARSs.

Compilation and Review
Standards

Interpretive Publications

Other Compilation and
Review Publications

® AR sections (SSARSSs) in
Professional Standards

® Compilation and Review
interpretations (AR 9000
sections in Professional
Standards)

® Appendixes to the
SSARSs

® Compilation and Review
guidance in AICPA
Guides

® Compilation and Review
guidance in Statements
of Position in Professional
Standards

AICPA Alert
Developments in Review,
Compilation, and
Financial Statement
Preparation Engagements
Audit and Accounting
Manual

Specific sections of
AICPA Technical
Questions and Answers
Checklists and
Illustrative Financial
Statements

® Practice Aids
® White papers

® Compilation and Review

articles in the Journal of
Accountancy or other
professional publications

Compilation and Review
articles in the AICPA
CPA Letter Daily

Continuing professional
education programs

Other instruction
materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit
programs, and checklists
Compilation and Review
publications from state
CPA societies, other
organizations, and
individuals
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Review, Compilation, and Preparation Publications—For Engagements
Conducted Under SSARS No. 21

SSARS No. 21, Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services: Clarification
and Recodification (AICPA, Professional Standards), sets forth the following three types of
review, compilation, and preparation publications and their authority:

® Compilation and Review Standards: Authoritative per the "Compliance With
Standards Rule" of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct (AICPA,
Professional Standards, ET sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001).

® Interpretive Publications: Issued under the authority of the Accounting and
Review Services Committee; if the accountant does not apply the compilation
and review guidance included in an applicable interpretive publication, the
accountant should be prepared to explain how he or she complied with the
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs)
provisions addressed by such compilation and review guidance.

® Other Review, Compilation, and Preparation Publications: No authoritative
status; however, other compilation and review publications may help the
accountant understand and apply the SSARSS.

Other Review, Compilation,
and Preparation
Publications

Review, Compilation, and

Preparation Standards Interpretive Publications

® AR-C sections (SSARSs)
in Professional Standards

® Review, Compilation, and ® AICPA Alert
Preparation Developments in Review,

interpretations, when
issued (AR-C 9000
sections in Professional
Standards)

Review, Compilation, and
Preparation guidance in
AICPA Guides

Review, Compilation, and
Preparation guidance in
Statements of Position in

Compilation, and
Financial Statement
Preparation Engagements
Audit and Accounting
Manual

Specific sections of
AICPA Technical
Questions and Answers
Checklists and
Ilustrative Financial

Professional Standards Statements

Practice Aids

® White papers
Review, Compilation, and
Preparation articles in
the Journal of
Accountancy or other
professional publications

® Review, Compilation, and
Preparation articles in
the AICPA CPA Letter
Daily

® Continuing professional
education programs

® Other instruction
materials, textbooks,
guide books, audit
programs, and checklists

® Review, Compilation, and
Preparation publications
from state CPA societies,
other organizations, and
individuals
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AICPA Technical Questions and Answers

AICPA Technical Questions and Answers

(Nonauthoritative)

Notice to Readers

The questions and answers in AICPA Technical Questions and Answers are
not sources of established authoritative accounting principles as described in
FASB Accounting Standards Codification and GASB Statement No. 55, The
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for State and Local Gov-
ernments, the authoritative sources of generally accepted accounting principles
for nongovernmental and governmental entities, respectively. This material is
based on selected practice matters identified by the staff of the AICPA's Tech-
nical Hotline and various other bodies within the AICPA and has not been
approved, disapproved, or otherwise acted upon by any senior committee of the
AICPA.

This publication is designed to provide accurate information in regard to the
subject matter covered. It is sold with the understanding that the publisher is
not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional service.

AICPA TECHNICAL HOTLINE
The AICPA Technical Hotline answers inquiries about specific audit or
accounting problems.
Call Toll Free:
877.242.7212
This service is free to AICPA members.
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Q&A Section 1100
Statement of Financial Position

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Unclassified Balance Sheet for Venture With Limited Life

Inquiry—A corporation has recently been organized with the sole purpose
of constructing a shopping center which will take several years to complete,
after which the company will be liquidated. The company uses the completed
contract method to recognize income, and will have only one operating cycle.
Would an unclassified balance sheet be appropriate?

Reply—An unclassified balance sheet would be more appropriate than
a classified one in this situation. The sole purpose of the corporation is to
construct the shopping center, and the appropriate time frame for reporting
purposes, by definition, becomes the time required to complete the project,
rather than an arbitrary one-year period.

[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved

.07 Comparative Statement Disclosures

Inquiry—When financial statements of the prior period are presented on
a comparative basis with financial statements of the current period, should
the notes to the comparative financial statements disclose details for the prior
year?

Reply—Generally, in practice notes to comparative financial statements
are also comparative if they present details of items on the financial statements
or are otherwise pertinent. For example, details of notes payable outstanding
at the end of each period are normally disclosed, but the future maturities
disclosure need only be disclosed for the current year.

[Amended, June 1995.]

.08 Classification of Outstanding Checks

Inquiry—Should the amount of checks that have been issued and are out
of the control of the payor but which have not cleared the bank by the balance
sheet date be reported as a reduction of cash?

Reply—Yes. A check is out of the payor's control after it has been mailed
or delivered to the payee. The balance sheet caption "cash" should represent
an amount that is within the control of the reporting enterprise, namely, the
amount of cash in banks plus the amount of cash and checks on hand and
deposits in transit minus the amount of outstanding checks. Cash is misrepre-
sented if outstanding checks are classified as liabilities rather than a reduction
of cash.

[.09] Reserved
[.10] Reserved
[.11] Reserved
[.12] Reserved
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[.13] Reserved

.14 Classification of Convertible Debt

Inquiry—A company has debt that is convertible into common stock of the
company at the option of the company. The debt by its terms is considered
long-term debt in the classified balance sheet. The company intends to call the
debt and issue the common stock within one year of the balance sheet date.
Should this debt be classified as a current liability?

Reply—No. The expected call of the debt securities will not consume current
assets or increase current liabilities, and accordingly should continue to be
classified as a long-term obligation.

The general principle underlying the classification of debt in a debtor's
principal balance sheet should be based on facts existing at the date of the
balance sheet rather than on expectations. According to Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) glossary,
the term current liabilities "is used principally to designate obligations whose
liquidation is reasonably expected to require the use of existing resources prop-
erly classifiable as current assets, or the creation of other current liabilities."

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.15 Liquidity Restrictions

Inquiry—Entities may invest in assets such as money market funds or
other short term investment vehicles from which they generally may withdraw
funds at any time without prior notice or penalty, but for which the fund (or
its trustee) may restrict the ability of an entity to withdraw its balance in the
fund or other short term investment vehicle. In some circumstances, with little
or no notice, the fund (or its trustee) may impose such withdrawal restrictions.
For example, the fund (or its trustee), in accordance with the terms of the fund,
may, with little or no notice, stipulate that up to 20 percent of the fund balance
can be withdrawn immediately, an additional 30 percent can be withdrawn in
6 months, and the remaining balance can be withdrawn in 2 years.

What are the potential accounting and auditing implications of such an
event for a nongovernmental entity (the event being restrictions on the ability
of an entity to withdraw its balance in the money market fund or other short
term investment vehicle)?

Reply—The following are examples of potential accounting and auditing
issues that may be relevant if such an event exists. Each situation is different
and should be evaluated based on its specific facts and circumstances:

Balance Sheet Classification. Such withdrawal restrictions should be con-
sidered in determining whether such assets meet the definition of cash equiv-
alents. (This technical question and answer does not address whether such
assets met the definition of cash equivalents prior to the imposition of such
withdrawal restrictions.)

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Cod-
ification (ASC) glossary provides a definition of cash equivalents for the pur-
poses of applying FASB ASC 230, Statement of Cash Flows.

Such withdrawal restrictions should be considered in determining whether
such assets meet the definition of current assets.

FASB ASC glossary defines current assets for balance sheet classification
purposes.
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For entities that do not prepare a classified balance sheet, such withdrawal
restrictions should be considered in determining the sequencing of assets on
the balance sheet or disclosures in the notes to financial statements providing
relevant information about the liquidity or maturity of assets.

Disclosures. The entity may be required to provide financial statement
disclosures about such events. For example, such events may create or lead
to risks and uncertainties pertaining to certain significant estimates, such
as measurement, liquidity, and violation of debt covenants, and vulnerability
from concentrations of investments in volatile markets. Entities should con-
sider whether they should make disclosures in their financial statements (be-
yond those required or generally made in financial statements) about the risks
and uncertainties resulting from such events and existing as of the date of the
financial statements. In addition, auditors should consider whether such dis-
closures include forward-looking statements that are not required by generally
accepted accounting principles and therefore may not be audited.

FASB ASC 275, Risks and Uncertainties, provides guidance pertaining to
disclosures about risks and uncertainties.

Debt Covenants. Such events may result in balance sheet classifications
(balance sheet classifications are previously discussed) and other events that
may trigger violations of debt covenants. If a covenant violation occurs, issuers
of debt should consider whether that covenant violation triggers classification
of the debt liability as current (or otherwise affects reported information about
liquidity) or cross covenant violations in other arrangements.

FASB ASC glossary defines current assets and current liabilities for balance
sheet classification purposes. FASB ASC 470-10-45-11 clarifies how the debtor
should present obligations that are callable by the creditor in a balance sheet
in which liabilities are classified as current or noncurrent.

Paragraphs 12A-12B of FASB ASC 470-10-45 provide guidance for the
classification of short-term obligations that are expected to be refinanced on a
long-term basis.

FASB ASC 470-10-45 and FASB ASC 470-10-55 address the classification
of obligations at the balance sheet date that are not callable at the balance
sheet date, but that become callable by violation of a debt agreement provision
after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued.

FASB ASC 470-10-45-2 and FASB ASC 470-10-50-3 provide guidance per-
taining to balance sheet classification in circumstances in which debt agree-
ments include subjective acceleration clauses.

Events Occurring Subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date. Events occurring
subsequent to the balance sheet date, but prior to the issuance of the financial
statements, such as significant changes in fair value or changes in liquidity
leading to violation of debt covenants, may need to be reflected in the finan-
cial statements (either through adjustment to or disclosure in the financial
statements).

AU-C section 560, Subsequent Events and Subsequently Discovered Facts
(AICPA, Professional Standards), addresses the auditor's responsibilities re-
lating to subsequent events and subsequently discovered facts in an audit of
financial statements.

Going Concern. Certain events (some interrelated) could call into question
the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. For example:
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® The inability to withdraw funds can pose significant challenges to
the entity's liquidity.

® As discussed earlier, balance sheet reclassifications or other
events may trigger violations of debt covenants.

AU-C section 570, The Auditor's Consideration of an Entity's Ability to
Continue as a Going Concern (AICPA, Professional Standards), addresses the
auditor's responsibilities in an audit of financial statements with respect to
evaluating whether there is substantial doubt about the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern.

AU-C section 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With
Governance (AICPA, Professional Standards), addresses the auditor's respon-
sibility to communicate with those charged with governance.

Paragraph .06 of AU-C section 706, Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and
Other-Matter Paragraphs in the Independent Auditor's Report (AICPA, Profes-
sional Standards), requires that if the auditor considers it necessary to draw
users' attention to a matter appropriately presented or disclosed in the financial
statements that, in the auditor's professional judgment, is of such importance
that it is fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements,
the auditor should include an emphasis-of-matter paragraph in the auditor's
report, provided that the auditor has obtained sufficient appropriate audit ev-
idence that the matter is not materially misstated in the financial statements.
For example, the auditor may wish to refer, in the auditor's report, to financial
statement disclosures about restrictions on liquidity pertaining to such events.

[Issue Date: October 2008; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to
reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos.
122-126.]
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Q&A Section 1200

Income Statement

.01 Disclosure of Revenues of an Agent

Inquiry—Company A is in the business of arranging sales of used cars for
which service it receives a commission based on an established fee schedule.
Company A receives title to the cars sold but simultaneously transfers title to
the car buyer. Company A warrants main engine components for thirty days
after date of sale.

The following presentations of revenue in the income statement are being
considered:

Commission Earned $20,000

or

Sales $300,000
Cost of Sales (280,000)
Gross Profit (or Net Commisions) $20,000

What is the proper presentation of revenue?

Reply—Since Company A is operating as a broker, Company A should
report Commissions Earned rather than Sales. However, Company A could
disclose above the Commissions Earned figure, without showing a deduction,
the amount of sale, as follows:

Sales Arranged $300,000
Commissions Earned $20,000
Expenses, etc. XXX

Company A should also make proper provision for the cost of warranties.
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved

.04 Statement Title When There Is a Net Loss
Inquiry—What title is suggested for the "Statement of Income" when a
"net loss" exists in one or more years?

Reply—Companies included in the annual survey entitled Accounting
Trends & Techniques ("Trends") file with the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission. Accordingly, their annual reports include a three year statement of
income. If a current year net loss is shown in the income statement, the "Trends"
companies usually describe the statement of income as the "Statement of Oper-
ations." They occasionally use the title "Statement of Income (Loss)" and very
rarely use the title "Statement of Loss."

Some companies always use "Statement of Operations" since the heading
will be the same whether there is a "net loss" or "net income."
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.05 Presentation of Reimbursed Payroll Expense

Inquiry—One company of a controlled group, in addition to its own op-
erations, acts as a "paymaster" for the entire group. This company records
the entire payroll of all members in the group on its general ledger to facil-
itate reconciliation with state and federal payroll tax returns. Each member
of the group reimburses the "paymaster" for its share of payroll and payroll
taxes and records management fee expense while the paymaster records it as
management fee income.

Should the reimbursement be classified as other income in the separate
income statement of the "paymaster" company?

Reply—No. The reimbursement should be allocated as a reduction of pay-
roll and payroll tax expense because this approach would more accurately
present the "paymaster" company's expenses for its own operations.

.06 Note to Q&A Section 1200.07 to 1200.16—Accounting by Non-
insurance Enterprises for Property and Casualty Insurance Arrange-
ments That Limit Insurance Risk

Insurance enables a company (the insured) to transfer insurance risk to an
insurer for a specified premium. Insurance may be purchased for a number of
economic reasons generally with the underlying goal of transferring insurance
risk, including property damage, injury to others, and business interruption.

The following series of questions and answers (Sections 1200.07—.16) focus
on certain aspects of finite insurance products that are utilized by noninsurance
enterprises. Due to the diverse nature of contracts in the marketplace, the
guidance in these questions and answers is designed to assist practitioners in
identifying the relevant literature to consider in addressing their specific facts
and circumstances. The TPAs contain many excerpts of applicable guidance,
but readers should be familiar with all the guidance contained in that literature
not only the specific paragraphs listed.

GAAP guidance for an insurance enterprise's purchase of reinsurance is
more extensive than guidance on accounting by noninsurance enterprises for
insurance contracts. The accounting guidance for reinsurance addresses trans-
actions between an insurer (the contract holder) and a reinsurer (the issuer of
the contract). Q&A sections 1200.07—.16 address property and casualty insur-
ance contracts between a policyholder and an insurance enterprise, which is
similar to the relationship between an insurer and a reinsurer.

.07 Finite Insurance
Inquiry—What are "finite" insurance transactions?

Reply—Finite insurance contracts are contracts that transfer a clearly
defined and restricted amount of insurance risk from the policyholder to the
insurance company, and the policyholder retains a substantial portion of the
related risks under most scenarios. Nevertheless, under certain finite contracts
there may be a reasonable possibility that the insurance company will incur a
loss on the contract.

.08 Insurance Risk Limiting Features
Inquiry—What types of insurance risk limiting features do finite insurance
contracts normally contain?

Reply—Contractual features that serve to limit insurance risk transfer are
found in both traditional and finite insurance contracts; however, the degree
to which these features limit risk is relatively higher in finite insurance. All
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contractual provisions that limit risk transfer need to be considered when
reviewing insurance contracts. Common features that may limit the transfer
of insurance risk include:

©2015, AICPA

Sliding scale fees and profit sharing formulae. These features ad-
just cash flows between the policyholder and insurance company
based on loss experience (for example, increasing payments from
the insured enterprise as losses increase and decreasing payments
as losses decrease, subject to maximum and minimum limits).

Experience refunds. These arrangements allow the policyholder to
share in the favorable experience of the underlying contracts by
reference to an "experience account" that typically tracks premi-
ums paid, less fees, less losses incurred, plus interest. Experience
provisions also can require the policyholder to share in unfavor-
able experience by requiring additional payments to the insurer
in the event that the experience account is negative.

Caps. Caps are used to limit the insurer's aggregate exposure by
imposing a dollar limit, or a limit expressed as a percentage of
premiums paid, on the amount of claims to be paid by the insurer.
For example, the insurer will not be responsible for losses beyond
150 percent of the premiums paid. While commercial insurance
policies usually have limits on the amount of coverage provided,
there may be significant risk mitigation for the insurer if the pre-
mium paid is a substantial percentage of the maximum coverage
provided.

Loss Corridors. This feature, which may exist in various forms,
serves to eliminate or limit the risk of loss for a specified percent-
age or dollar amount of claims within the contract coverage. For
example, in a contract providing coverage for a policyholder's first
$3,000,000 of losses, the insurer will pay the first million and last
million of losses but will exclude the corridor from $1,000,000 to
$2,000,000.

Dual-triggers. This feature requires the occurrence of both an in-
surable event and changes in a separate pre-identified variable to
trigger payment of a benefit/claim. An example is a policy entered
into by a trucking company that insures costs associated with
rerouting trucks over a certain time period if snowfall exceeds a
specified level during that time period.

Retrospectively-Rated Premiums. Such premiums are determined
after the inception of the policy based on the loss experience under
the policy.

Reinstatement Premiums. To the extent the coverage provided by
a contract is absorbed by losses incurred, the contract provides
for the policyholder to reinstate coverage for the balance of the
contract period for a stated additional premium. To the extent re-
instatement is required rather than optional, the additional pre-
mium may mitigate risk to the insurer.

Termination Provisions. These provisions can be structured to
reduce the risk of the insurer, for example, by allowing for ter-
mination by the insurer at a discounted amount under certain
circumstances.
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® Payment Schedules. Features that delay timely reimbursement of
losses by the insurer prevent the transfer of insurance risk.

There may be other features and provisions, in addition to the list of
common insurance risk transfer limiting features above, that exist in a contract.
Determining the appropriate accounting requires a full understanding of all of
the features and provisions of the contract.

.09 Transfer of Insurance Risk
Inquiry—Why is transfer of insurance risk important under GAAP?

Reply—If a contract does not provide for the indemnification of the insured
by the insurer, it is accounted for as a deposit (financing) rather than as in-
surance as noted in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 720-20-25-1.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.10 Accounting Guidance for Transfer of Insurance Risk
Inquiry—What GAAP accounting literature provides guidance related to
transfer of insurance risk?

Reply—The assessment of transfer of insurance risk requires significant
judgment and a complete understanding of the insurance contract and other
related contracts between the parties. The greater the number and/or degree
of insurance risk limiting features that exist in a contract, the more difficult it
becomes to assess whether or not the insurance risk transferred is sufficient to
permit the contract to be accounted for as insurance rather than as a deposit.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Cod-
ification (ASC) 720-20-25-1 provides the following guidance on insurance con-
tracts that do not provide for indemnification of the insured by the insurer
against loss or liability:

To the extent that an insurance contract or reinsurance con-
tract does not, despite its form, provide for indemnification of
the insured or the ceding entity by the insurer or reinsurer
against loss or liability, the premium paid less the amount of
the premium to be retained by the insurer or reinsurer shall
be accounted for as a deposit by the insured or the ceding
entity. Those contracts may be structured in various ways,
but if, regardless of form, their substance is that all or part
of the premium paid by the insured or the ceding entity is a
deposit, it shall be accounted for as such.

FASB ASC 944, Financial Services—Insurance, establishes the conditions
required for a contract between an insurer and a reinsurer to be accounted for
as reinsurance and prescribes accounting and reporting standards for those
contracts. FASB ASC 944-20-15-41 notes:

Unless the condition in paragraph 944-20-15-53 is met, in-
demnification of the ceding entity against loss or liability re-
lating to insurance risk in reinsurance of short-duration con-
tracts exists under paragraph 944-20-15-37(a) only if both of
the following conditions are met:

a. Significant insurance risk. The reinsurer as-
sumes significant insurance risk under the
reinsured portions of the underlying insurance
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contracts. Implicit in this condition is the require-
ment that both the amount and timing of the
reinsurer's payments depend on and directly vary
with the amount and timing of claims settled un-
der the reinsured contracts.

b. Significant loss. It is reasonably possible that the
reinsurer may realize a significant loss from the
transaction.

FASB ASC 944 looks to the present value of all cash flows between the
parties, however characterized, under reasonably possible outcomes in deter-
mining whether it is reasonably possible that the reinsurer may realize a
significant loss from the contract.

FASB ASC 720-20-25-2 suggests that noninsurance entities look to the
risk transfer guidance in FASB ASC 944 and states, in part:

Entities may find the conditions in Section 944-20-15 useful
in assessing whether an insurance contract transfers risk.

FASB ASC 944-20-25-1 states that a multiple-year retrospectively rated
insurance contract must indemnify the insured as required by FASB ASC 944-
20-15-36 to be accounted for as insurance. FASB ASC 944-20 also indicates
that there may be certain situations in which the guarantee accounting in
accordance with FASB ASC 460, Guarantees, is applicable.

FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, addresses scenarios where there
are dual-triggers and includes a number of relevant examples.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.11 Differences Between Retroactive and Prospective Insurance
Inquiry—What are the differences between retroactive and prospective
insurance?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 944-605-05-7 states that for property and casualty
insurance: The distinction between prospective and retroactive reinsurance
contracts is based on whether the contract reinsures future or past insured
events covered by the underlying contracts.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.12 Accounting for Prospective Insurance
Inquiry—How does a noninsurance enterprise account for prospective in-
surance contracts that qualify for insurance accounting?

Reply—A noninsurance enterprise amortizes the premiums over the con-
tract period in proportion to the amount of insurance protection provided. If
an insured loss occurs, and if it is probable that the policy will provide reim-
bursement for the loss and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated,
the noninsurance enterprise records a receivable from the insurance enterprise
and a recovery of the incurred loss in the income statement. If it is not probable?
that the policy will provide reimbursement, then the receivable and recovery
are not recorded.

1 According to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codi-
fication (ASC) glossary, probable means that the future event or events are likely to occur.
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[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the

issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Accounting for Retroactive Insurance
Inquiry—How does a noninsurance enterprise account for retroactive in-
surance contracts that qualify for insurance accounting?

Reply—Paragraphs 3—4 of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 720-20-25 state:

Notwithstanding that Topic 944 applies only to insurance
entities, purchased retroactive insurance contracts that in-
demnify the insured shall be accounted for in a manner simi-
lar to the manner in which retroactive reinsurance contracts
are accounted for under Subtopic 944-605. The guidance in
that Subtopic shall be applied, as appropriate, based on the
facts and circumstances of the particular transaction. That is,
amounts paid for retroactive insurance shall be expensed im-
mediately. Simultaneously, a receivable shall be established
for the expected recoveries related to the underlying insured
event.

If the receivable established exceeds the amounts paid for
the insurance, the resulting gain is deferred. Immediate gain
recognition and liability derecognition are not appropriate
because the liability has not been extinguished (the entity
is not entirely relieved of its obligation). Additionally, the
liability incurred as a result of a past insurable event and
amounts receivable under the insurance contract do not meet
the criteria for offsetting under paragraph 210-20-45-1.

FASB ASC 720-20-35-2 further states:

If the amounts and timing of the insurance recoveries can be
reasonably estimated, the deferred gain shall be amortized
using the interest method over the estimated period over
which the entity expects to recover substantially all amounts
due under the terms of the insurance contract. If the amounts
and timing of the insurance recoveries cannot be reasonably
estimated, then the proportion of actual recoveries to total
estimated recoveries shall be used to determine the amount
of the amortization.

Paragraphs 22-23 of FASB ASC 944-605-25 state:

§1200.13

Amounts paid for retroactive reinsurance of short-duration
contracts that meets the conditions for reinsurance account-
ing shall be reported as reinsurance receivables to the extent
those amounts do not exceed the recorded liabilities relating
to the underlying reinsured contracts. If the recorded liabil-
ities exceed the amounts paid, reinsurance receivables shall
be increased to reflect the difference and the resulting gain
deferred.

If the amounts paid for retroactive reinsurance for short-
duration contracts exceed the re-corded liabilities relating to
the underlying reinsured short-duration contracts, the ced-
ing entity shall increase the related liabilities or reduce the
reinsurance receivable or both at the time the reinsurance
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contract is entered into, so that the excess is charged to earn-
ings.

FASB ASC 944-605-35-9 further states:

Any gain deferred under paragraph 944-605-25-22 shall be
amortized over the estimated remaining settlement period. If
the amounts and timing of the reinsurance recoveries can be
reasonably estimated, the deferred gain shall be amortized
using the effective interest rate inherent in the amount paid
to the reinsurer and the estimated timing and amounts of re-
coveries from the reinsurer (the interest method). Otherwise,
the proportion of actual recoveries (the recovery method) shall
determine the amount of amortization.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the

issuance of FASB ASC.]

.14 Accounting for Multiple-Year Retrospectively Rated

Insurance

Inquiry—How does a noninsurance enterprise account for a multiple-year
retrospectively rated insurance contract?

Reply—As noted in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Ac-
counting Standards Codification (ASC) 720-20-05-10, multiple-year retrospec-
tively rated contracts:

include a retrospective rating provision that provides for any
of the following based on contract experience:

a. Changes in the amount or timing of future con-
tractual cash flows, including premium adjust-
ments, settlement adjustments, or refunds to the
noninsurance entity

b. Changes in the contract's future coverage.

FASB ASC 720-20-05-9 also states, in part:

A critical feature of these contracts is that part or all of the
retrospective rating provision is obligatory such that the ret-
rospective rating provision creates for each party to the con-
tract future rights and obligations as a result of past events.

FASB ASC 944-20-25-2 also discusses the accounting for retrospective
adjustments and states:

For a multiple-year retrospectively rated insurance contract
accounted for as insurance, the insurer shall both:

a. Recognize an asset to the extent that the insured
has an obligation to pay cash (or other consideration)
to the insurer that would not have been required
absent experience under the contract.

b. Recognize a liability to the extent that any cash (or
other consideration) would be payable by the insurer
to the insured based on experience to date under the
contract.

Paragraphs 3—4 of FASB ASC 944-20-35 further state:

©2015, AICPA
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The amount recognized under paragraph 944-20-25-4 in the
current period shall be computed, using a with-and-without
method, as the difference between the ceding entity's total
contract costs before and after the experience under the con-
tract as of the reporting date, including costs such as premium
adjustments, settlement adjustments, and impairments of
coverage.

The amount of premium expense related to impairments of
coverage shall be measured in relation to the original contract
terms. Future experience under the contract (that is, future
losses and future premiums that would be paid regardless
of past experience) shall not be considered in measuring the
amount to be recognized.

FASB ASC 944-20-25-4 also further states:

For contracts that meet all of the conditions described in para-
graph 944-20-15-55:

a. The ceding entity shall recognize a liability and
the assuming entity shall recognize an asset to
the extent that the ceding entity has an obliga-
tion to pay cash (or other consideration) to the
reinsurer that would not have been required ab-
sent experience under the contract (for example,
payments that would not have been required if
losses had not been experienced).

b. The ceding entity shall recognize an asset and
the assuming entity shall recognize a liability to
the extent that any cash (or other consideration)
would be payable from the assuming entity to the
ceding entity based on experience to date under
the contract.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the

issuance of FASB ASC.]

.15 Deposit Accounting
Inquiry—What is deposit accounting?

Reply—Deposit accounting essentially treats the contract as a financing
transaction similar to a loan taking into account the time value of money.
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codifi-
cation (ASC) 340, Other Assets and Deferred Costs, provides guidance on how to
account for insurance and reinsurance contracts that do not transfer insurance

risk.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the

§1200.15

issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.16 Identifying Accounting Model for Insurance Transactions
The accompanying chart depicts the basic decision process in identifying
the appropriate accounting model for insurance transactions.

‘ Insurance Contract * |

| Adequate Risk Transfer | | Inadequate Risk Transfer
| Prospective | | Retroactive |
Not a multiple year Multiple year retrospectively
retrospectively rated contract rated contract
Premiums Premiums not
estimable estimable
Deposit Accounting

Accounting rated insurance Accounting

Prospective insurance Multiple year retrospectively
Accounting

’ Retroactive insurance

* The insurance model discussed in this series of technical practice aids is based on property and casualty and other short-duration contracts,
as defined in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) A4 i Codj; (ASC) 944, Financial Services—Insurance.
T FASB ASC 944-20 should also be considered in determining the accounting for multiple-year retrospectively rated contracts that do not transfer risk.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Statement of Cash Flows
Q&A Section 1300

Statement of Cash Flows

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Comparative Statements of Cash Flows

Inquiry—Is it necessary to provide a statement of cash flows for both the
current and prior periods if comparative income statements are presented, but
only the current balance sheet is presented?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 230-10-15-3 states:

A business entity or not-for-profit entity that provides a set
of financial statements that reports both financial position
and results of operations shall also provide a statement of
cash flows for each period for which results of operations are
provided.

Therefore, if a balance sheet is presented, a statement of cash flows should be
presented for both current and prior periods if income statements are presented
for such periods.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.04] Reserved

.05 Statement of Cash Flows for Annual Report With Balance Sheet
Only

Inquiry—When only a statement of financial position is presented, is it
necessary that the auditor's opinion be qualified relative to the omission of the
statement of cash flows?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 230-10-15-3 states:

A business entity or not-for-profit entity that provides a set
of financial statements that reports both financial position
and results of operations shall also provide a statement of
cash flows for each period for which results of operations are
provided.

Therefore, when a statement of financial position is not accompanied by a
statement of operations, there is no need for presentation of a statement of
cash flows, and no comment on the absence of such a statement is necessary.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved
[.09] Reserved

21
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.10 Special Purpose Frameworks
Inquiry—When an entity prepares its financial statements in accordance
with a special purpose framework, is a statement of cash flows required?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 230-10-15-3 states:

A business entity or not-for-profit entity that provides a set
of financial statements that reports both financial position
and results of operations shall also provide a statement of
cash flows for each period for which results of operations are
provided.

Paragraph .A17 of AU-C section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Fi-
nancial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks
(AICPA, Professional Standards), states, in part:

Terms such as balance sheet, statement of financial position,
statement of income, statement of operations, and statement of
cash flows, or similar unmodified titles, are generally under-
stood to be applicable only to financial statements that are
intended to present financial position, results of operations,
or cash flows in accordance with GAAP.

Paragraph .A34 of AU-C section 800 states, in part:

Special purpose financial statements may not include a state-
ment of cash flows. If a presentation of cash receipts and dis-
bursements is presented in a format similar to a statement of
cash flows or if the entity chooses to present such a statement,
the statement would either conform to the requirements for
a GAAP presentation or communicate their substance. As an
example, the statement of cash flows might disclose noncash
acquisitions through captions on its face.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122—-126.]

.11 The Effect of an Error Correction on the Statement of Cash
Flows When Single Period Statements Are Presented

Inquiry—How would an error correction be presented in the statement of
cash flows if single period statements are presented?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 250-10-45-24 states that "error corrections shall, in
single period statements, be reflected as adjustments of the opening balance
of retained earnings." A corresponding error correction will normally result in
a change in the beginning balance of an asset or liability account. FASB ASC
230-10-50-3 states, in part:

Information about all investing and financing activities of an
entity during a period that affect recognized assets or liabili-
ties but that do not result in cash receipts or cash payments
in the period shall be disclosed.

Therefore, the difference in an account between the current balance sheet
and that same account in the restated beginning balance sheet (even if not
presented) that resulted from the error correction, should be reflected in the
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related footnote disclosures and clearly referenced to the statement of cash
flows.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.12] Reserved

.13 Classification of Increase in Cash Value of Officers' Life Insur-
ance in Statement of Cash Flows

Inquiry—How should the increase in cash surrender value of officers' life
insurance be classified in the statement of cash flows?

Reply—An increase in the cash surrender value of officers' life insurance
would normally be presented as an investing outflow if the increase in cash
value is less than the related premium paid. If the increase in cash value
exceeds the premium paid, the premium paid is an investing outflow and the
remainder of the increase in cash value would be presented as a reconciling
item on the reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating
activities.

[.14] Reserved

.15 Presentation of Cash Overdraft on Statement of Cash Flows

Inquiry—A company has accounts at three separate banks. One of the bank
accounts is in an overdraft position at year end, thus it is shown as a liability
on the balance sheet. Does the company show as cash and cash equivalents on
the statement of cash flows only the two accounts with the positive balances or
does it show the net cash (the three accounts combined) at the end of the year
as its cash and cash equivalents?

Reply—The amount that will be shown on the statement of cash flows is the
two accounts with the positive balances. Per Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) ASC 230-10-45-4, "The
total amounts of cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of the
period shall be the same amounts as similarly titled line items or subtotals
shown in the statements of financial position . . ." The net change in overdrafts
during the period is a financing activity.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.16 Purchase of Inventory Through Direct Financing

Inquiry—An automobile dealer purchases its inventory from a manufac-
turer which finances purchases through a finance subsidiary. The finance sub-
sidiary pays the manufacturer directly on behalf of the dealer. Cash is not
disbursed by the dealer until the automobiles are sold.

Under the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 230, Statement of Cash Flows, how
should the purchases of inventory be reported by the automobile dealer in the
statement of cash flows?

Reply—A statement of cash flows reports an enterprise's cash receipts and
cash payments during the period. Transactions that do not involve cash re-
ceipts and cash payments should be excluded from the statement of cash flows.
Noncash investing and financing transactions should be reported in separate
disclosures.

©2015, AICPA §1300.
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The purchases of inventory described above do not involve a cash flow by
the automobile dealer until the automobiles are sold and the dealer pays the
finance subsidiary under the financing arrangement. Therefore, only the cash
outflows from payments to the finance subsidiary should be included in the
body of the statement of cash flows.

Payments made to the finance subsidiary of the manufacturer should be
classified as operating cash outflows in accordance with FASB ASC 230-10-
45-17, which defines operating cash outflows to include principal payments on
accounts and notes payable to suppliers for goods acquired for resale.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.17 Omission of Reconciliation of Net Income to Cash Flow From
Operations

Inquiry—When an accountant is requested to compile financial statements
that omit substantially all of the disclosures required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America in accordance with para-
graph .20 of AR section 80, Compilation of Financial Statements (AICPA, Pro-
fessional Standards), would the omission of the schedule, "reconciliation of net
income to net cash flow from operating activities" required by the direct method
of reporting cash flows under FASB ASC 230 be considered a departure from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America?

Reply—Yes. Under the direct method of reporting net cash flows from
operating activities, the separate schedule reconciling net income to net cash
flow from operating activities is a required part of the cash flow statement. If
the schedule is omitted, the accountant should modify his compilation report
to disclose a departure from accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America in accordance with paragraphs .27-.29 of AR section
80.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2010, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SSARS No. 19.]

.18 Presentation on the Statement of Cash Flows of Distributions
From Investees With Operating Losses

Inquiry—An entity carries an investment in a limited partnership interest
under the equity method of accounting. The partnership had operating losses
during the year, but a positive cash flow allowed the partnership to distribute
funds to its investors. Would receipt of that distribution by the entity be clas-
sified on the statement of cash flows as cash inflows from investing activities
or as cash inflows from operating activities?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 230, Statement of Cash Flows, requires dividends
received (returns on investments) to be classified as cash inflows from oper-
ating activities. Receipts from returns of investments are classified as cash
inflows from investing activities.

Distributions to investors from investees should be presumed to be returns
on investments and be classified by the investor as cash inflows from operating
activities, similar to the receipt of dividends. That presumption can be overcome
based on the specific facts and circumstances. For example, if the partnership
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sells assets, the distribution to investors of the proceeds of that sale would be
considered a return of investment and be classified by the investor as cash
inflows from investing activities.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.19 Classification of Payments on Equipment Finance Note

Inquiry—Under the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 230-10-50-3, noncash invest-
ing and financing transactions are to be disclosed in related narrative form or
summarized in a schedule. An example of a transaction of this type would be
an acquisition of equipment in a transaction in which an enterprise borrows
money from a financial institution for the purchase of equipment and the fi-
nancial institution remits the money directly to the vendor. In a transaction of
this nature, should the payments of principal be presented as an outflow in the
financing or investing section of the cash flow statement?

Reply—Payments on the aforementioned notes would be recorded as fi-
nancing outflows per FASB ASC 230-10-45-15(b).

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.20 Direct vs. Indirect Method for Statement of Cash Flows

Inquiry—A company has decided to present its statement of cash flows
using the direct method for the current year although the indirect method
was used in the prior year. Would this change require an emphasis-of-matter
paragraph noting a lack of consistency in the financial statements?

Reply—No. A change in the presentation for the statement of cash flows
from the indirect to direct method (or vice versa) is considered a change in
classification rather than a consistency problem. If the statement of cash flows
is presented for the prior period, it should be restated using the direct method
approach for comparative purposes. In addition, disclosure should be made
indicating the prior period restatement.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of recent authoritative literature; Revised, December 2012, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

.21 Presentation of Financing Transaction on Statement of Cash
Flows

Inquiry—A buyer contracts to purchase real estate. The lender gives the
buyer a check made payable to the buyer for a loan to purchase the prop-
erty. The buyer in turn endorses the check over to the seller. How should this
financing transaction be presented on the buyer's statement of cash flows?

Reply—This transaction should be treated as a cash receipt by the buyer
since the buyer was named as payee on the check. The amount of the check
should be reported on the statement of cash flows even though the buyer did
not convert the check to currency or deposit it in his or her bank account. The
cash receipt belongs to the payee named on the check. The buyer should present
the amount of the check as "Proceeds From Borrowings" as a cash inflow from
financing transactions and "Purchase of Real Estate" as a cash outflow from
investing activities.

25
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.22 Negative Amortization of Long-Term Debt in Cash Flows
Statement

Inquiry—The cash repayments on a long-term loan are less than the inter-
est expense for the period. The amount of the interest expense not paid becomes
part of the principal balance (negative amortization). How should the negative
amortization be shown on the cash flows statement?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 230-10-45-28(a) indicates:

Adjustments to [reconcile] net income to determine net cash
flow from operating activities shall reflect accruals for inter-
est earned but not received and interest incurred but not
paid.

The negative amortization should therefore be treated as an adjustment to net
income to remove the effect of this noncash expense. Disclosure should also be
considered.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

§1300.22 ©2015, AICPA



Consolidated Financial Statements

Q&A Section 1400

Consolidated Financial Statements

[.01] Reserved

.02 Consolidation of Corporation and Proprietorship
Inquiry—How should the financial statements of a corporation and a pro-
prietorship be consolidated?

Reply—This answer assumes that 100 percent of the corporation capital
stock is owned by the proprietorship.

As in any consolidation, the stockholders' equity of the subsidiary cor-
poration should be eliminated against the investment of the parent (the pro-
prietorship). Any net earnings of the subsidiary corporation subsequent to its
acquisition and not recorded on the books of the parent should be reflected
in the consolidated net equity, which, because the parent is a sole proprietor-
ship, will be a single figure. As income taxes are assessed against the owner
as an individual rather than against the proprietorship, no provision is made
for income taxes beyond those payable by the corporation. However, a footnote
should disclose such omission, and if it is anticipated that funds will have to
be withdrawn from the proprietorship to meet future taxes on income earned
to date, this too should be disclosed, with an estimate of the amount thereof
if practicable. Of course, provision should be made for elimination of profits to
the extent that they may be reflected in consolidated inventories or in other
consolidated assets.

[Revised, April 2010.]
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Combined and Separate Financial Statements

Inquiry—Company A and Company B are new car dealers with A selling
an American made car and B selling a foreign made car. One individual owns
100 percent of the outstanding stock of both companies.

Both companies A and B are at the same location with separate buildings
for sales staffs. Company A maintains the parts and service departments for
both companies with the parts inventory, warranty and service receivables of
Company B on Company A's books. In return, Company B pays Company A a
per car fee for services to be performed on each new car sold by B.

Company A maintains the only used car inventory on the lot adjacent to
Company B's building. Each time B receives a used car in trade, it is sold to
Company A at the wholesale fair market value.

Although there is a differentiation in sales staffs, management, accounting,
secretarial, and other related services are performed by the same staff out of
both buildings, and Company B pays a monthly fee for services performed.

Company A has income for the year, but Company B has a loss for the
period. Combined financial statements will be prepared, but is it also necessary
to provide combining statements for the individual companies?

©2015, AICPA §1400.
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Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 810-10-55-1B states, in part:

There are circumstances, however, in which combined finan-
cial statements (as distinguished from consolidated state-
ments) of commonly controlled entities are likely to be more
meaningful than their separate statements. For example,
combined financial statements would be useful if one indi-
vidual owns a controlling interest in several entities that are
related in their operations.

Combined financial statements of the companies would be appropriate, and
there is no necessity for presenting separate statements for the companies.

Unfortunately, FASB ASC 810, Consolidation, makes no statement as
to appropriate presentation of the stockholder's equity section of a combined
balance sheet. Appropriate disclosure, therefore, may depend upon the circum-
stances. Either on the statement of financial position, or in a note, there should
be disclosure for each company of their number of shares of stock that are au-
thorized and outstanding, and the par value. While under some circumstances
it might not be necessary to disclose the allocation of retained earnings between
the two companies, other circumstances may exist under which such disclosure
would be required—for example, if the losses of either company have been so
severe that an insolvent condition might be anticipated.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.07 Reporting on Company Where Option to Acquire Control
Exists

Inquiry—Corporation A acquired debentures from Corporation B convert-
ible into common voting stock within ten years at $1 per share. Corporation A
also has an option to purchase additional shares at $1 per share upon conver-
sion to bring A's holdings in B up to 51 percent of the total outstanding shares.
Corporation A also has the right to appoint a majority of Corporation B's Board
of Directors and has done so. Other intercompany transactions are negligible.

May each company issue separate financial statements, or are consolidated
statements required? What disclosures would be necessary?

Reply—At present there is no ownership of one company by the other, and
consolidation would not be proper. Further, since intercompany transactions
(other than interest on the debentures) are negligible, combined statements
would probably not be particularly useful.

Corporation A should disclose in its financial statements the terms under
which it may obtain controlling stock ownership of Corporation B, the amount
of interest received, that no other intercompany transactions are significant,
and that it presently has the right to and does appoint a majority to Corporation
B's Board of Directors. It should also present summarized information as to
the assets, liabilities, and operating results of Corporation B, or include B's
financial statements with its report.

Corporation B, in addition to disclosing the interest rate and maturity
of the convertible debentures, should disclose Corporation A's conversion and
option privileges and should disclose that Corporation A has the right to and
has appointed a majority to Corporation B's Board of Directors.

[.08] Reserved
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[.09] Reserved
[.10] Reserved
[.11] Reserved
[.12] Reserved
[.13] Reserved
[.14] Reserved
[.15] Reserved
[.16] Reserved
[.17] Reserved
[.18] Reserved
[.19] Reserved
[.20] Reserved
[.21] Reserved

.22 Intervening Intercompany Transactions Between Subsidiary's
and Parent's Year-End

Inquiry—A parent company has a December 31 year-end and its wholly
owned subsidiary has a November 30 year-end. The two companies generally
have substantial intercompany sales and purchases which are recorded by each
company as they occur. The parent uses the subsidiary's November 30 year-end
statement to prepare the consolidated financial statements.

The intervening intercompany transactions, which occur between Decem-
ber 1 and December 31, create intercompany account balances which do not
eliminate upon consolidation due to the difference in year-ends of the parent
and its subsidiary. How should these intervening transactions be accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements?

Reply—In discussing differences in fiscal periods, Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 810-10-45-
12 states, "if the difference is not more than about three months, it usually is
acceptable to use, for consolidation purposes, the subsidiary's financial state-
ments for its fiscal period,; if this is done, recognition should be given by disclo-
sure or otherwise to the effect of intervening events that materially affect the
financial position or results of operations."

When a subsidiary's fiscal year differs from that of the parent, intercom-
pany accounts may not agree. Transactions in the interval between the sub-
sidiary's year-end and the parent's year-end must be analyzed and appropriate
consolidation entries prepared.

A practical approach to preparing these consolidation entries would be to
reverse the intervening intercompany transactions in the parent company's
accounts but not in the subsidiary's accounts. A summary of these intervening
transactions could then be disclosed in a note to the consolidated financial
statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.23 Conforming Subsidiary's Inventory Pricing Method to Its Par-
ent Company's Method

Inquiry—A parent company uses the first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost assump-
tion to price its inventory, while its subsidiary uses the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
cost assumption to price its inventory. Must the subsidiary's inventory method
be changed to conform to the FIFO method used by its parent company in
consolidated financial statements?

Reply—There is no requirement under generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples for the subsidiary to conform its inventory pricing method with the parent
company's method. Consolidated statements may be presented with the sub-
sidiary using LIFO and the parent using FIFO. Also, separate subsidiary only
statements may be presented on the LIFO basis.

[.24] Reserved

.25 Issuance of Parent Company Only Financial Statements

Inquiry—Generally accepted accounting principles preclude preparation of
parent company financial statements for issuance to stockholders as the finan-
cial statements of the primary reporting entity. Are there any circumstances
under which parent company financial statements may still be prepared?

Reply—Yes. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 810-10-45-11 states: "In some cases parent en-
tity statements may be needed, in addition to consolidated statements, to in-
dicate adequately the position of bondholders and other creditors or preferred
stockholders of the parent. Consolidating statements, in which one column is
used for the parent entity and other columns for particular subsidiaries or
groups of subsidiaries often are an effective means of presenting the pertinent
information."

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.26 Consolidated Versus Combined Financial Statements

Inquiry—S Corporation has 2000 common shares and 1000 preferred
shares outstanding. The preferred shareholders have the same rights as the
common shareholders, except the right to vote. Of the 2000 common shares out-
standing, 1000 shares are owned by P Corporation and 1000 shares are owned
by I (an individual) who also owns all of the outstanding common shares of P
Corporation. The preferred shares of S Corporation are owned by an outside
party. Should P Corporation consolidate S Corporation for financial reporting
purposes?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 810-10-05-6 states that to "justify the preparation of
consolidated financial statements, the controlling financial interest shall rest
directly or indirectly in one of the entities included in the consolidation." In this
situation P does not control S directly or indirectly and therefore consolidation
is not appropriate. Combined financial statements could be presented if the
circumstances are such that combined financial statements of S Corporation
and P Corporation are more meaningful than separate financial statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.27 Subsidiary Financial Statements

Inquiry—Generally accepted accounting principles indicate that "consoli-
dated rather than parent-company financial statements are the appropriate
general-purpose financial statements." May subsidiary-only financial state-
ments be issued without consolidated financial statements?

Reply—Yes. Generally accepted accounting principles do not preclude is-
suance of subsidiary-only statements. Care should be taken to include all dis-
closures required by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) SC 740-10-50-17, FASB ASC 850, Related Party
Disclosures, and other relevant pronouncements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.28] Reserved

.29 Consolidated Versus Combined Financial Statements Under
FASB ASC 810, Consolidation

Inquiry—If a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary of a variable inter-
est entity (VIE) under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Account-
ing Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, would it be appropriate
to issue combined financial statements rather than consolidated financial state-
ments?

Reply—No. FASB ASC 810-10-05-6 permits combined financial statements
in certain situations in which consolidated financial statements are not re-
quired. However, FASB ASC 810-10-25-38 states that "an entity shall con-
solidate a variable interest entity if that entity has a variable interest (or
combination of variable interests) that will absorb a majority of the variable
interest entity's expected losses, receive a majority of the variable interest en-
tity's expected residual returns, or both." Furthermore, the starting point for
the preparation of combined financial statements is two or more sets of finan-
cial statements that are prepared in accordance with GAAP; in the case of a
primary beneficiary of a VIE, financial statements prepared in accordance with
GAAP would be consolidated financial statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.30 Stand-Alone Financial Statements of a Variable Interest
Entity

Inquiry—Regarding Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Ac-
counting Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, is it appropriate to
present stand-alone financial statements of a variable interest entity (VIE)?

Reply—FASB ASC 810 does not specifically address this issue. Subsidiary-
only financial statements are appropriate under generally accepted accounting
principles. By extension, it may be appropriate to present stand-alone financial
statements of a VIE.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.31 GAAP Departure for FASB ASC 810

Inquiry—If a reporting entity is the primary beneficiary of a variable in-
terest entity under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, what are the implications
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for the auditors' report if the reporting entity does not consolidate the variable
interest entity?

Reply—AU-C section 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent
Auditor's Report (AICPA, Professional Standards), addresses the auditor's re-
sponsibility to issue an appropriate report in circumstances when, in forming
an opinion in accordance with AU-C section 700, Forming an Opinion and
Reporting on Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), the au-
ditor concludes that a modification to the auditor's opinion on the financial
statements is necessary. Paragraph .07a of AU-C section 705 states that when
the auditor concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, the financial
statements as a whole are materially misstated, the auditor should modify the
opinion in the auditor's report.

As paragraph .02 of AU-C section 705 explains, the decision regarding
which type of modified opinion (a qualified opinion, an adverse opinion, and a
disclaimer of opinion) is appropriate depends upon the following:

a. The nature of the matter giving rise to the modification (that is,
whether the financial statements are materially misstated or, in
the case of an inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence, may be materially misstated)

b. The auditor's professional judgment about the pervasiveness of the
effects or possible effects of the matter on the financial statements

If an auditor concludes that a qualified opinion is appropriate, he or she
should disclose the GAAP departure in a separate paragraph headed "Basis
for Qualified Opinion" preceding the opinion paragraph of the report. Fur-
thermore, the opinion paragraph of the report should include the appropriate
qualifying language and a reference to the basis for qualified opinion para-
graph. The basis for modification paragraph should include a description and
quantification of the financial effects of the misstatement, unless impractica-
ble. If it is not practicable to quantify the financial effects, the auditor should
so state in the basis for modification paragraph. If such disclosures are made
in a note to the financial statements, the basis for modified opinion paragraph
may be shortened by referring to it.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122—-126.]

.32 Parent-Only Financial Statements and Relationship to GAAP

Inquiry-Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 810, Consolidation, addresses parent company finan-
cial statements. If consolidation is required under generally accepted account-
ing principles (GAAP), are there any circumstances in which an entity may
prepare parent company-only financial statements without preparing related
consolidated financial statements and say that the parent company-only finan-
cial statements are in accordance with GAAP?

Reply—-No. FASB ASC 810-10-10-1 notes the presumption in GAAP that
consolidated financial statements are more meaningful than parent entity-only
financial statements. FASB ASC 810-10-15-10 states that all majority-owned
subsidiaries shall be consolidated, with few exceptions. FASB ASC 810-10-45-
11 adds that parent company financial statements may be needed in addi-
tion to consolidated financial statements, but it does not suggest that parent
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company financial statements may be prepared in place of consolidated finan-
cial statements.

For example, if, as a condition of a legal or regulatory agreement, an
entity is required to submit "restricted" or "special use" parent-only financial
statements without related consolidated financial statements, the restricted or
special use parent-only financial statements are not in accordance with GAAP.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.33] Reserved
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Q&A Section 1500

Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With a Special
Purpose Framework

For nonauthoritative guidance regarding financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with the cash- or tax-basis of accounting, consult
the AICPA publication Accounting and Financial Reporting Guide-
lines for Cash- and Tax-Basis Financial Statements. That practice aid
alerts the reader to some of the most frequently-encountered issues
faced by accounting professionals in dealing with cash- and tax-basis
financial statements and provides suggestions and insight into how
these issues are resolved in practice. In addition, the AICPA has pub-
lished a separate practice aid, Applying OCBOA in State and Local
Government Financial Statements. To order these publications, call
the AICPA at 1.888.777.7077 or visit www.cpa2biz.com.

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved

.04 Terminology for Special Purpose Financial Statements

The Clarification and Convergence project of the AICPA Accounting
and Review Services Committee is currently underway. Upon the com-
pletion of this project, this Inquiry and Reply will be conformed to
include references to the pertinent clarified AICPA Statements on
Standards for Accounting and Review Services that are expected to be
issued as a result of the project.

Inquiry—(1) If an entity prepares financial statements in accordance with
a special purpose framework, may GAAP financial statement titles be used?

(2) What should be the caption for "net income" or "net loss," and may the
corporation use "retained earnings"?

Reply—(1) No. Paragraph .Al17 of AU-C section 800, Special
Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With
Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional Standards), explains that
unmodified GAAP financial statement titles are not acceptable for use in special
purpose financial statements. The paragraph contains a few examples of appro-
priate financial statement titles (for example, Statement of Assets and Liabili-
ties Arising from Cash Transactions and Statement of Income—Regulatory Ba-
sis). However, the examples presented in the authoritative literature were not
meant to be all-inclusive and are not the only acceptable titles. Equally accept-
able titles would be Balance Sheet—Cash Basis or Statement of Operations—
Income Tax Basis. The selection of specific financial statement titles is a matter
of judgment; any modified title would fulfill the requirements of AU-C section
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800 as long as it is clear that the financial statements are not prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

(2) The authoritative literature is silent regarding the captions to be used
within special purpose financial statements. Therefore, there is no requirement
to modify standard GAAP financial statement captions in special purpose finan-
cial statements. If modifications are desired, common examples for cash basis
financial statements are Excess of revenue collected over expenses paid, Excess
of expenses paid over revenue collected, and Accumulated excess of revenue over
expenses paid. For tax-basis financial statements, acceptable modifications in-
clude Retained earnings—income tax basis and Net income—tax basis.

[Amended, February 1995; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved

.07 Disclosure Concerning Subsequent Events in Special Purpose
Financial Statements

Inquiry—FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 855, Subsequent
Events, sets forth general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events
that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are
issued or are available to be issued. FASB ASC 855 also requires disclosure
of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the
basis for that date, that is, whether that date represents the date on which
the financial statements were issued or were available to be issued. Should full
disclosure financial statements prepared in accordance with a special purpose
framework contain the disclosures set forth in FASB ASC 855?

Reply—Paragraph .19 of AR section 80, Compilation of Financial State-
ments (AICPA, Professional Standards), and paragraph .32 of AR section 90,
Review of Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), state, in
part, "financial statements prepared in accordance with an OCBOA! are not
considered appropriate in form unless the financial statements include infor-
mative disclosures similar to those required by GAAP if the financial state-
ments contain items that are the same as, or are similar to, those in financial
statements prepared in accordance with GAAP." Paragraph .A20 of AU-C sec-
tion 800 states, in part, "when the special purpose financial statements contain
items that are the same as, or similar to, those in financial statements prepared
in accordance with GAAP, informative disclosures similar to those required by
GAAP are necessary to achieve fair presentation."

Therefore, the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent
events and the basis for that date should be disclosed. Furthermore, some non-
recognized subsequent events are of such a nature that disclosure is required
to keep the financial statements prepared from being misleading. Such events
should be disclosed following the guidance in FASB ASC 855.

[Issue Date: June 2009; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

1 The cash, tax, and regulatory bases of accounting are commonly referred to as other compre-
hensive bases of accounting (OCBOA). [Footnote added, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]
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Q&A Section 1600

Personal Financial Statements

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Social Security Benefits—Personal Financial Statements

Inquiry—Do social security benefits to be received based on the future
life expectancy of an individual qualify as an asset in personal financial state-
ments?

Reply—No. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 274, Personal Financial Statements, indicates
that nonforfeitable rights to receive future sums must meet certain criteria to
be accounted for as assets. One of these criteria is that the rights must not be
contingent on the individual's life expectancy or the occurrence of a particular
event, such as disability or death. In this example, because the social security
benefits are contingent on the individual's life expectancy, they do not qualify
as a recognizable asset for the personal financial statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.04 Presentation of Assets at Current Values and Liabilities at Cur-
rent Amounts in Personal Financial Statements

Inquiry—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 274, Personal Financial Statements, states that per-
sonal financial statements should present assets at their estimated current
values and liabilities at their estimated current amounts at the date of the fi-
nancial statements. FASB ASC 274 also defines estimated current values and
current amounts.

Are the definitions of current values (assets) and current amounts (liabil-
ities) for personal financial statements meant to be the same as fair value, as
defined in FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures?

Reply—No. FASB ASC 820 did not contemplate the reporting of personal
financial statements, and FASB did not amend the definitions of estimated
current values and current amounts for personal financial statements as part
of its codification process.

[Issue Date: June 2009.]
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Q&A Section 1700

Prospective Financial Statements

[.01] Reserved
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Q&A Section 1800
Notes to Financial Statements

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Disclosure of Change in Fiscal Year
Inquiry—What disclosure in the financial statements is necessary when a
company changes its fiscal year?

Reply—Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) do not specifically
require disclosure of a change in the fiscal year. However, disclosure of such
a change is generally considered necessary to make the financial statements
meaningful to users.

[.04] Reserved

.05 Applicability of Fair Value Disclosure Requirements and Mea-
surement Principles in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measure-
ments and Disclosures, to Certain Financial Instruments

Inquiry—Do the fair value measurement principles and disclosure require-
ments in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, apply to fi-
nancial instruments that are not recognized at fair value in the statement of
financial position, but for which fair value is required to be disclosed in the
notes to financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 10-19 of FASB
ASC 825-10-50?

Reply—The measurement principles of FASB ASC 820 apply when deter-
mining for disclosure purposes the fair value of financial instruments that are
not recognized at fair value in the statement of financial position. FASB ASC
820-10-15-1, which establishes the scope of FASB ASC 820, provides that "Ex-
cept as noted below, this Topic applies when another Topic requires or permits
fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and
measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or dis-
closures about those measurements)." The exceptions relate to (a) share-based
payment transactions, (b) FASB ASC sections, subtopics, or topics that require
or permit measurements that are similar to fair value but that are not intended
to measure fair value, and (¢) certain fair value measurements for purposes of
lease classification or measurement in accordance with FASB ASC 840.

In addition, certain disclosure requirements of FASB ASC 820 apply to
financial instruments for which fair value is only disclosed. Specifically, FASB
ASC 820-10-50-2E provides that for each class of assets and liabilities not
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position but for which the
fair value is disclosed,

areporting entity shall disclose the information required by paragraph
820-10-50-2(b), (bbb), and (h). However, a reporting entity is not re-
quired to provide the quantitative disclosures about significant unob-
servable inputs used in fair value measurements categorized within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy required by paragraph 820-10-50-2
(bbb). For such assets and liabilities, a reporting entity does not need
to provide the other disclosures required by this Topic.
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[Issue Date: May 2010; Revised, April 2014, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to revisions to FASB ASC.]

.06 Applicability of Fair Value Disclosure Requirements in FASB
ASC 820 to Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With a Spe-
cial Purpose Framework

Inquiry—If management prepares an entity's financial statements in ac-
cordance with a special purpose framework, and those financial statements
include accounts measured at fair value, what is the auditor's responsibility
with respect to fair value disclosure requirements in FASB ASC 820-10-50?

Reply—As indicated in paragraph .19 of AR section 80, Compilation of Fi-
nancial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards), and paragraph .32 of AR
section 90, Review of Financial Statements (AICPA, Professional Standards),
"financial statements prepared in accordance with an OCBOA! are not consid-
ered appropriate in form unless the financial statements include informative
disclosures similar to those required by GAAP if the financial statements con-
tain items that are the same as, or are similar to, those in financial statements
prepared in accordance with GAAP." Additionally, paragraph .A20 of AU-C
section 800, Special Considerations—Audits of Financial Statements Prepared
in Accordance With Special Purpose Frameworks (AICPA, Professional Stan-
dards), states "when the special purpose financial statements contain items
that are the same as, or similar to, those in financial statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP, informative disclosures similar to those required by
GAAP are necessary to achieve fair presentation."

Therefore, if special purpose financial statements reflect assets or liabili-
ties measured at fair value in accordance with FASB ASC 820, the accoun-
tant/auditor should consider whether the financial statements (including the
accompanying notes) include the fair value disclosure requirements of FASB
ASC 820 as appropriate for the basis of accounting used.

[Issue Date: June 2010; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

1 The cash, tax, and regulatory bases of accounting are commonly referred to as other compre-
hensive bases of accounting (OCBOA). [Footnote added, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]
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Q&A Section 1900

Interim Financial Information

.01 Condensed Interim Financial Reporting by Nonissuers

Inquiry—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 270, Interim Reporting, provides accounting and dis-
closure guidance relating to recognition and measurement in interim financial
information (including condensed interim financial statements). FASB ASC
270 does not provide a reporting framework for condensed interim financial
statements—that is, minimum requirements for the form and content of con-
densed interim financial statements. Article 10 of Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) Regulation S-X provides guidance on the form and content
of condensed interim financial statements of issuers. When preparing con-
densed interim financial statements, because specific guidance with respect to
form and content is absent, may nonissuers apply Article 10 of SEC Regulation
S-X in addition to complying with FASB ASC 270 with respect to recognition
and measurement?

Reply—Yes. In the absence of established accounting principles for form
and content in preparing condensed interim financial statements, nonissuers
may analogize to the guidance in Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X.

Preparers should keep in mind that the purpose of condensed interim
financial statements is to provide an update to users of the entity's annual fi-
nancial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Article 10 of SEC Regulation S-X also has this premise. Therefore,
to avoid being considered misleading,

® such condensed interim financial statements would include a note
that the financial information should be read in conjunction with
the entity's latest annual financial statements, and

® the entity's latest annual financial statements would either ac-
company such condensed interim financial statements or be made
readily available by the entity. The financial statements are
deemed to be readily available if a user can obtain the financial
statements without any further action by the entity (for example,
financial statements on an entity's Web site may be considered
readily available, but being available upon request is not consid-
ered readily available).

[Issue Date: January 2009; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 2110
Cash

[.01] Reserved

.02 Checks Held at Balance Sheet Date

Inquiry—It is the practice of a company to eliminate its recorded accounts
payable balance at the end of each month by writing checks to all of its trade
vendors prior to the end of the month. To prevent overdrafts that would result
from this practice, the company retains possession of the checks and only mails
them to the vendors after the end of the month, when sufficient funds are
available to satisfy them.

How should these held checks be accounted for by the company at month
end?

Reply—At month end the aggregate dollar amount of held checks should
be added back to cash and accounts payable. Checks which have not left the
custody of the company should not reduce the company's recorded cash or
accounts payable balances because they have not been tendered to the vendor
to satisfy the debt.

[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Disclosure of Cash Balances in Excess of Federally Insured
Amounts

Inquiry—Should the existence of cash on deposit with banks in excess of
FDIC-insured limits be disclosed in the financial statements?

Reply—The existence of uninsured cash balances should be disclosed if the
uninsured balances represent a significant concentration of credit risk. Credit
risk is defined in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) glossary as follows:

For purposes of a hedged item in a fair value hedge, credit
risk is the risk of changes in the hedged item's fair value
attributable to both of the following:

a. Changes in the obligor's creditworthiness

b. Changes in the spread over the benchmark inter-
est rate with respect to the hedged item's credit
sector at inception of the hedge.

For purposes of a hedged item in a cash flow hedge, credit
risk is the risk of changes in the hedged item's cash flows
attributable to all of the following:

a. Default
b. Changes in the obligor's creditworthiness

c¢. Changes in the spread over the benchmark inter-
est rate with respect to the hedged item's credit
sector at inception of the hedge.

As a result, bank statement balances in excess of FDIC-insured amounts
represent a credit risk.
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A concentration of credit risk exists if an entity has exposure with an
individual counterparty or groups of counterparties. For example, a material
uninsured cash balance with a single bank should generally be disclosed. In
contrast, numerous immaterial uninsured cash balances on deposit with sev-
eral banks may not require disclosure. The threshold for "significance" is a
matter of judgment and will vary with individual circumstances.

An example of disclosure for this circumstance might be:

The Company maintains its cash accounts primarily with
banks located in Alabama. The total cash balances are in-
sured by the FDIC up to $100,000 per bank. The Company
has cash balances on deposit with two Alabama banks at De-
cember 31, 1996 that exceeded the balance insured by the
FDIC in the amount of $1,100,000.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 2120

Temporary Investments

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Accounting for Preferred Dividends Received on Investments
in Common Stock

Inquiry—A company received dividends on its investment in common stock
of another company in the form of preferred stock. How should the dividend be
recorded?

Reply—The assets and related dividend income should be recorded at fair
value. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 845-10-30-1 states that in general, accounting for nonmon-
etary transactions should be based on the fair values of the assets (or ser-
vices) involved which is the same basis as that used in monetary transactions
and that a nonmonetary asset received in a nonreciprocal transfer should be
recorded at the fair value of the asset received. (FASB ASC 505, Equity, dis-
cusses accounting for stock dividends by the recipient; however, the scope of
that pronouncement specifically excludes distributions of a different class of
shares from that owned.)

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved
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Q&A Section 2130

Receivables

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved

.05 Out-of-Pocket Costs Incurred by a Law Firm

Inquiry—A law firm incurs certain out-of-pocket costs on behalf of its
clients. If the law firm's efforts on behalf of the client are successful, these
costs are recovered from the client in addition to the legal fees. If the case is
lost, the costs are absorbed by the law firm. How should these costs be treated
by the law firm?

Reply—These out-of-pocket costs should be reported as an asset in the
financial statements of the law firm (for example, in an account called "client
costs receivable"). At each balance sheet date, the law firm should apply the cri-
teria in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 450-20-25-1 to determine whether a loss contingency should
be accrued.

If an asset is recorded, an allowance for unrecoverable client disbursements
should be established representing the estimated amount of such costs that will
not be realized. If these out-of-pocket costs become uncollectible because a case
is lost, they should be written off against the allowance.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.06] Reserved

.07 Requirement for Doubtful Accounts Allowance

Inquiry—Do generally accepted accounting principles require an enterprise
to establish an allowance for doubtful accounts even though management,
based on analysis of the receivables and past charge-off experience, believes
that no accounts are uncollectible at the balance sheet date?

Reply—FASB ASC 310-10-35-7 states that "the conditions under which
receivables exist usually involve some degree of uncertainty about their col-
lectibility, in which case a contingency exists. . .." FASB ASC 450-20-25-2 would
require an accrual of a loss by a charge to income if both of the following con-
ditions exist:

a. '"Information available prior to issuance of the financial statements
indicates that it is probable that an asset had been impaired ... at
the date of the financial statements." and

b.  "The amount of loss can be reasonably estimated."

If both conditions are not met, an allowance for doubtful accounts would not
be required. Further, there is no requirement to disclose the absence of a loss
accrual. If the conditions are met, an accrual for the loss should be recognized
even though the specific receivables that are uncollectible may not be identifi-
able.

©2015, AICPA §2130.
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[.08] Reserved

.09 Scope Part I:
Securities

Assets

reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

Application of FASB ASC 310-30 to Debt

Inquiry—Does the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 include debt securities?
Reply—Yes. FASB ASC 310-30 applies to loans, as defined in the FASB

ASC glossary, as follows:

Loan: A contractual right to receive money on demand or on fixed
or determinable dates that is recognized as an asset in the creditor's
statement of financial position. Examples include but are not lim-
ited to accounts receivable (with terms exceeding one year) and notes
receivable. This definition encompasses loans accounted for as debt

securities.

Debt Security: Any security representing a creditor relation-

ship with

an entity. The term debt security also includes all

of the following:

a. Preferred stock that by its terms either must be

R o ® 20

e
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The term

a.
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redeemed by the issuing entity or is redeem-able
at the option of the investor

A collateralized mortgage obligation (or other in-
strument) that is issued in equity form but is
required to be accounted for as a nonequity in-
strument regardless of how that instrument is
classified (that is, whether equity or debt) in the
issuer's statement of financial position

U.S. Treasury securities

U.S. government agency securities
Municipal securities

Corporate bonds

Convertible debt

Commercial paper

All securitized debt instruments, such as collater-
alized mortgage obligations and real estate mort-
gage investment conduits

Interest-only and principal-only strips.
debt security excludes all of the following:

Option contracts

Financial futures contracts

Forward contracts

Lease contracts

Receivables that do not meet the definition of se-
curity and, so, are not debt securities (unless they
have been securitized, in which case they would
meet the definition of a security), for example:

1. Trade accounts receivable arising from sales
on credit by industrial or commercial entities
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2. Loans receivable arising from consumer,
commercial, and real estate lending activi-
ties of financial institutions.

Therefore, the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 includes acquired loans that are
accounted for as debt securities.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.10 Scope Part II: Instruments Accounted for as Debt Securities
Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—Some types of instruments are measured like debt securities. In
accordance with the guidance of FASB ASC 310-30 and considering expected
cash flows for instruments measured like debt securities, when does the in-
vestor follow the guidance of paragraphs 8-9 of FASB ASC 310-30-35 (loans
accounted for as debt securities) or paragraphs 10-11 of FASB ASC 310-30-35
(loans not accounted for as debt securities)?

Reply—FASB ASC 860-20-35-2 provides an example of instruments that
are measured like debt securities:

Financial assets, except for instruments that are within the
scope of Subtopic 815-10, that can contractually be prepaid
or otherwise settled in such a way that the holder would not
recover substantially all of its recorded investment shall be
subsequently measured like investments in debt securities
classified as available for sale or trading under Topic 320.
Examples of such financial assets include, but are not limited
to, interest-only strips, other beneficial interests, loans, or
other receivables.

For these types of instruments measured like debt securities, investors should
follow the impairment guidance in paragraphs 8-9 of FASB ASC 310-30-35
(loans accounted for as debt securities) unless the asset is otherwise excluded
according to FASB ASC 310-30-15.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, April 2014, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to revisions to FASB ASC.]

.11 Determining Evidence of Significant Delays and Shortfalls Rel-
ative to FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—FASB ASC 310-30-15-8 states that "investors shall consider the
significance of delays and shortfalls for a loan so FASB ASC 310-30 is not
applied in evaluating payment collectability when such delays and shortfalls
are insignificant with regard to the contractually required payments." How
might that assessment be determined?

Reply—That assessment will likely be based on individual facts and cir-
cumstances and should be guided by an accounting policy adopted and applied
consistently by the investor. For instance a percentage could be established to
indicate an "insignificant" shortfall and for those items that meet the percent-
age shortfall, the dollar shortfall itself would be evaluated as to whether it is
insignificant in the aggregate.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.12 Determining Evidence of Deterioration of Credit Quality and
Probability of Contractual Payment Deficiency in Accordance With
FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—In accordance with FASB ASC 310-30, how can an investor iden-
tify loans that have evidence of deterioration of credit quality and for which it
is probable that the investor will be unable to collect all contractually required
payments receivable so that they can identify whether the loans are in the
scope of FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—There are several things to consider when determining whether
certain loans are within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30. An investor may set
policies, including thresholds based on the type of loan product. Commercial
loans are generally classified or graded into risk categories as part of an ongoing
credit review process. An investor may identify commercial loans with evidence
of deterioration using the previous owner's record of changes in classification
and accrual status. Such records may also provide evidence concerning whether
it is probable that the investor will be unable to collect all contractually required
payments receivable. In contrast, consumer loans are generally not individually
reviewed or graded and non-accrual and charge-off policies vary by product. For
instance, some types of consumer loans are immediately charged-off when the
loan is a certain number of days past due and may never be classified as non-
accrual. As a result, indicators of credit quality deterioration for consumer
products may vary depending on the product and may include non-accrual
classification, past due status, or FICO score and changes therein. For debt
securities, investors may establish other criteria to determine when securities
should be considered for review for application under FASB ASC 310-30; for
example, downgrades in credit grade categories.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Non-Accrual Loans Part I: Acquired Non-Accrual Loans Under
FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—Does an acquired loan (purchased individually or as part of a busi-
ness combination) that was classified by the seller as non-accrual fall within
the scope of FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—Non-accrual status may be an indicator that a loan that meets the
criteria of FASB ASC 310-30. However, the investor should analyze whether the
loan meets all the scope criteria in FASB ASC 310-30-15, including evidence
of credit deterioration. Classification of a loan as non-accrual by the seller
and/or investor does not provide an exemption from FASB ASC 310-30. FASB
ASC 310-30 does not prohibit carrying acquired loans on non-accrual status,
when appropriate. However, certain disclosures are required for such loans in
accordance with FASB ASC 310-30-50-2(a)(4).

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.14 Non-Accrual Loans Part II: Consumer Loans on Non-Accrual
Status Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—Should FASB ASC 310-30 be applied to non-accrual (for example,
90 days past due) consumer loans that are reported as non-performing loans
when such loans may be charged off completely in relatively short order (that
is, after 120 days)?
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Reply—Yes. FASB ASC 310-30 is applicable to all loans within its scope,
including non-accrual loans. The accrual accounting specified in FASB ASC
310-30 should be applied if the investor is able to estimate expected cash flows,
including cash flows resulting from foreclosure and other collection efforts.
However, when the investor does not have the ability to reasonably estimate
cash flows, FASB ASC 310-30 does not prohibit carrying loans on non-accrual.
Also, investors should note there are additional disclosure requirements for
these circumstances.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.15 Loans Held for Sale in Accordance With FASB ASC 310-30
Inquiry—Why are only mortgage loans held for sale and not all loans held
for sale excluded from the scope of FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—Only mortgage loans held for sale that are accounted for under
FASB ASC 948, Financial Services—Mortgage Banking, are excluded from the
scope because FASB ASC 948 had to provide an exception.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.16 Treatment of Commercial Revolving Loans Under FASB ASC
310-30

Inquiry—FASB ASC 310-30-15-2(f) excludes revolving credit agreements
from its scope specifically noting as examples two types of consumer revolv-
ing agreements, credit cards and home equity loans. Revolving privilege is
defined in the FASB ASC glossary as "a feature in a loan that provides the bor-
rower with the option to make multiple borrowings up to a specified maximum
amount, to repay portions of previous borrowings, and then to reborrow under
the same loan." Are commercial revolving loans also excluded from the scope
of FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—Commercial revolving loans should be treated the same as con-
sumer revolving loans. Thus, commercial revolving loans are excluded as well,
if the borrower has revolving privileges at the acquisition date.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.17 Application of FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—The scope of FASB ASC 310-30 excludes loans that are retained
(transferor's beneficial) interests. How does the scope of FASB ASC 310-30
relate to the scope of FASB ASC 325-40?

Reply—Accounting for retained interests should follow FASB ASC 325-40
and for purchased interests should follow FASB ASC 310-30 if they meet the
scope criteria in FASB ASC 310-30-15.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.18 Loans Reacquired Under Recourse Under FASB ASC 310-30
Inquiry—If a loan that was transferred with recourse and qualified for
accounting as a sale under FASB ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing, is sub-

sequently repurchased under the recourse provision, is it within the scope of
FASB ASC 310-30?

59
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Reply—Yes, if it meets the criteria in FASB ASC 310-30-15 related to
credit quality. Except for purchases triggered by initial representations and
warranty deficiencies, it is likely that the repurchased loan would meet the
criteria to be included in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30. FASB ASC 310-30
includes guidance on the evidence of credit deterioration. (See Q&A section
2130.11, "Determining Evidence of Significant Delays and Shortfalls Relative
to FASB ASC 310-30.")

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.19 Acquired Loans Where Purchase Price Is Greater Than Fair
Value Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—If the fair value of a purchased loan is less than the purchase
price because a loan is repurchased under a recourse provision, does FASB
ASC 310-30 permit recording the loan at the purchase price?

Reply—If a loan meets the criteria of FASB ASC 310-30-15 such that it
is in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 and the seller repurchases the asset at a
price that is more than fair value, the seller should record the asset at its fair
value and record a loss for the difference between the price paid and the fair
value, if not already recognized. An allowance for loan losses to offset recording
the loan at the purchase price should not be recorded. In most cases, if the loan
had previously been transferred with recourse, the seller should already have
recognized an associated liability for the recourse obligation in accordance with
FASB ASC 450, Contingencies, and FASB ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing,
as well as FASB ASC 460, Guarantees.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.20 Acquired Loans Where Purchase Price Is Less Than Fair Value
Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—In accordance with FASB ASC 310-30, if the fair value of a pur-
chased loan is more than the purchase price because a loan is acquired (for
example, as part of a clean up call) should the seller record a gain?

Reply—No. There may be instances where the seller is required or has an
option to re-purchase an asset at a price that is less than fair value. In that
situation and if the loan is within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30, the investor
should record the asset at the purchase price and the excess of expected cash
flows over the initial investment should be recognized as the yield under FASB
ASC 310-30.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.21 Accounting for Loans With Cash Flow Shortfalls That Are In-
significant Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—Related to FASB ASC 310-30-15-8, an investor might establish
a policy that a shortfall in contractually required payments below a certain
amount or percentage is insignificant and thus, certain acquired loans would
not be in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30. For loans with shortfalls in payments
of less than the established threshold, how should those discounts be accreted
into income as a yield adjustment?
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Reply—If a loan is not in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30, then FASB ASC
310-20 applies, and FASB ASC 310-20-35-15 requires that the entire discount
be accreted to income over the life of the loan.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.22] Reserved

.23 Carrying Over the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses (ALLL)
Under FASB ASC 310-30 (Part II)

Inquiry—Are there any recommendations on calculating allowance ratios
relating to loans in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—Although the nonaccretable difference is akin to an ALLL because
it represents amounts that are not expected to be collected, it should not be
included in the ALLL or ALLL ratios. The only time there is any ALLL for the
loans within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 is when the expected cash flows
have decreased after acquisition and a loss is recognized by the investor. In
other words, at the purchase date, for loans within the scope of FASB ASC
310-30, the allowance-to-loans ratio is always zero. The investor may wish to
disclose in the notes to the financials the amount of the nonaccretable difference
so that the readers understand by how much the loans have already been
"written down."

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.24] Reserved

.25 Income Recognition for Non-Accrual Loans Acquired Under
FASB ASC 310-30 (Part I)

Inquiry—What is the accounting for a purchased loan that was classi-
fied by the previous owner as non-accrual and for which cash flows cannot be
reasonably estimated under FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—FASB ASC 310-30 does not prohibit placing (or keeping) loans on
non-accrual. At inception or thereafter the investor may place a loan on non-
accrual, if the conditions in FASB ASC 310-30-35-3 are met. FASB ASC 310-
30-50-2(a)(4) requires certain disclosures for purchases of non-accrual loans.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.26 Income Recognition for Non-Accrual Loans Acquired Under
FASB ASC 310-30 (Part II)

Inquiry—A loan is classified as non-accrual by a seller because the debtor
is not meeting its obligations under the loan's contractual terms. That loan is
sold to an investor who determines that the loan meets the requirements of
FASB ASC 310-30. If the investor can reasonably estimate cash flows, should
the investor classify the loan as an accruing loan?

Reply—Yes, if the investor can reasonably estimate cash flows, it should
recognize an accretable yield and the loan is an accruing loan as discussed in
FASB ASC 310-30-35-3.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.27 Income Recognition for Non-Accrual Loans Acquired Under
FASB ASC 310-30 (Part IIT)

Inquiry—Assuming the investor followed the cost recovery method on a
loan, and assuming the loan was brought current for a period of time, could
the investor return the loan to accrual status and account for the loan as a new
loan?

Reply—If the loan was within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 when it
was purchased, it is not accounted for as a new loan but is always under the
requirements of FASB ASC 310-30, even if the loan's performance improves.
However, as discussed in Q&A section 2130.26, the loan should be accruing
income whenever the investor is able to reasonably estimate cash flows. Also, if
the currently expected cash flows exceed the originally expected cash flows, the
guidance in paragraphs 8-11 of FASB ASC 310-30-35 should be applied, which
may result in recognizing income at a higher yield than originally expected.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.28 Estimating Cash Flows Under FASB ASC 310-30
Inquiry—In accordance with the guidance in FASB ASC 310-30, how often
should an investor reassess the cash flows expected to be collected?

Reply—Investors should reassess expected cash flows at the end of each
reporting period. Thus, for entities that prepare quarterly GAAP-basis financial
statements, it is expected that cash flows will be re-assessed at least quarterly.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.29 Implications of FASB ASC 310-20-35-11 With a Restructured or
Refinanced Loan Under FASB ASC 310-30 (Part I)

Inquiry—Can a loan that meets the requirements of FASB ASC 310-20-
35-11 be removed from the scope of FASB ASC 310-30? If a loan is within the
scope of FASB ASC 310-30 and there are modifications to that loan, should the
guidance in FASB ASC 310-20-35-11 apply?

Reply—No. FASB ASC 310-20-35-11 only applies to loans that are not
within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30. The point of FASB ASC 310-30-35-13 is
that a loan stays in the scope of FASB ASC 310-30, regardless of restructuring
or refinancing, except for a troubled debt restructuring.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.30 Implications of FASB ASC 310-20-35-11 With a Restructured or
Refinanced Loan Under FASB ASC 310-30 (Part II)

Inqguiry—Can a loan that has been extinguished in accordance with FASB
ASC 310-20-35-11 and given a new loan number, with new terms, but which
has not been paid off, be accounted for as a new loan under the guidance in
FASB ASC 310-30? What steps could the investor and borrower take to permit
the loan to be accounted for as a new loan?

Reply—A loan within the scope of FASB ASC 310-30 can never be accounted
for as a new loan, except through a troubled debt restructuring in accordance
with FASB ASC 310-40.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.31 Variable Rate Loans and Changes in Cash Flows and FASB ASC
310-30

Inquiry—In accordance with the guidance in FASB ASC 310-30, should an
investor in variable rate loans determine the cause of a decrease in expected
cash flows?

Reply—Yes. To the extent that the investor can directly attribute a decrease
in expected cash flows to a decrease in the contractual interest rate, the investor
should reduce the yield recognized in income on a prospective basis. However,
if the investor is not able to directly attribute the decrease in expected cash
flows to a decrease in the contractual interest rate (for example, because the
change in the index or rate has no direct effect on the cash flows available to
the borrower to service the loan or because the change in the index or rate had
no direct effect on expected cash flows that relate to the value of the collateral)
the investor should immediately recognize any decrease in expected cash flows
as an impairment, not over time as reduced yield.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.32 Pool Accounting Under FASB ASC 310-30 (Part I)
Inquiry—In accordance with the guidance in FASB ASC 310-30, if a loan is
removed from a pool, how is the specific carrying amount of a loan determined?

Reply—As discussed in FASB ASC 310-30-40-1, once a pool has been as-
sembled the integrity of the pool should be maintained. If the loan is removed
under the specific criteria in FASB ASC 310-30-40-1, it should be removed at
its carrying amount. In some cases the cash flows of the pool will have been
estimated for the pool as a whole such that there is no specific information on
the carrying amount and cash flows related to any particular loan. In that case,
an allocation of carrying amount to the loan on a pro rata basis is an appropri-
ate way to achieve the goal of not impacting the accounting for the remaining
pool. In other cases, the cash flows of the pool may have been built up as the
sum of cash flows of individual loans and there is specific information related
to the loan being removed. In that case, the carrying amount is allocated on
the basis of the specific information for the loan removed. In either case, the
goal remains the same—that is, to not have a removal event result in either
impairment or an increase in yield for the remaining pool.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.33 Pool Accounting Under FASB ASC 310-30 (Part II)

Inquiry—Alternatively, and related to Q&A section 2130.32, should the
loan be removed at its initial fair value in accordance with the guidance in
FASB ASC 310-30?

Reply—Generally, no. Removing a loan at its initial fair value, unless done
very shortly after acquisition of the loan and creation of the pool, would likely
result in a change in the effective yield of the remaining pool and the stated
intent of FASB ASC 310-30 is that removing a loan from a pool should not
result in such a change.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.34 Application to Fees Expected to Be Collected Under FASB ASC
310-30

Inquiry—In accordance with the guidance in FASB ASC 310-30, should
fees be included in "expected cash flows?" The FASB ASC glossary definition
for cash flows expected at acquisition includes "principal, interest and other
cash flows expected to be collected." Does FASB ASC 310-30 address late fees
and other fees?

Reply—"0Other cash flows expected to be collected" includes all fees. If late
fees are expected to be collected and are contractual, the investor should include
them in total contractual cash flows and expected cash flows for purposes of
calculating yield and making disclosures. If late fees are contractual but not
expected to be collected, the investor should exclude late fees from contractual
cash flows and disclose that accounting policy (if it is considered material).

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.35 Application to Cash Flows From Collateral and Other Sources
Under FASB ASC 310-30

Inquiry—In accordance with the guidance in FASB ASC 310-30, should
cash expected to be received from the ownership and sale of assets taken in
settlement of loans be included in "other cash flows expected to be collected?"

Reply—Cash flows expected at acquisition includes all cash flows directly
related to the acquired loan, including those expected from collateral. Although
yield is measured on this basis under FASB ASC 310-30 for the loan prior to
foreclosure, an asset received by the investor in full or partial settlement of a
loan should be accounted for in accordance with paragraphs 2—4 of FASB ASC
310-40-40.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.36 Impact on Cash Flows on a Group of Loans Accounted for as
a Pool in Accordance With FASB ASC 310-30 if There Is a Confirming
Event, and One Loan Is Removed as Expected

Inquiry—FASB ASC 310-30-15-6 states that investors may aggregate loans
acquired in the same fiscal quarter that have common risk characteristics and
thereby use a composite interest rate and expectation of cash flows expected
to be collected for the pool. FASB ASC 310-30-40-1 states that once the pool is
assembled, the integrity of the pool should be maintained. What is the impact
on the accounting for a group of loans accounted for as a pool, if there is a
confirming event, and one loan is removed from the pool as expected?

Reply—The following is an example of the impact on the accounting for a
pool of loans, if there is a confirming event, and one loan is removed as expected.

FASB ASC 310-30 Example

Group of Loans

Example 1—Confirming Event, One Loan Is Removed From Pool,

as Expected

Facts: The investor purchases 10 loans that individually meet the
scope of FASB ASC 310-30 for $800. Based on the aggregation crite-
ria, the investor assembles the loans into a pool. The investor initially
expects to collect $929.29 in cash flows (which generates a yield of ap-
proximately 5.387 percent over 3 years). The investor recognizes one
month of yield income. The investor then receives notification that
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one obligor has become bankrupt and that it will make no further
payments on its loan. The investor concludes that event is in accor-
dance with the original expectation of cash flows. That is, the investor
continues to expect that it will collect $929.29 from the pool of loans.
The investor removes the contractual cash flows from that loan and an
equal amount of nonaccretable difference, in the amount of $117.42,
from the pool such that the yield is unaffected. This TPA does not
address charge-offs.

Original  Accrue  Receive Removal
Purchase Income Payment Balance of Loan Balance

Contractual Cash

Flows 1,200.00 (25.81) 1,174.19 (117.42) 1,056.77
Nonaccretable

Difference (270.71) (270.71) 11742  (153.29)
Expected Cash Flows 929.29 (25.81) 903.48 0.00 903.48
Accretable Yield (129.29) 6.67 (122.62) 0.00 (122.62)
Recorded Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81) 780.86 0.00 780.86
Bad Debt

Expense/ALLL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Carrying Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81) 780.86 0.00 780.86
Yield
(computed on

carrying amount)* 5.387% 5.384% 5.384%
Principal Balance 1,000.00 (19.14) 980.86  (98.09) 882.77
Delinquent Accrued

Interest Rec. 50.00 50.00 (5.00) 45.00
Balance 1,050.00 (19.14) 1,030.86 (103.09) 927.77
Remaining Interest

Due Under

Contract 150.00 (6.67) 143.33 (14.33) 129.00
Nonaccretable

Difference (270.71) (270.71) 117.42  (153.29)
Expected Cash Flows 929.29 (25.81) 903.48 0.00 903.48
Accretable Yield (129.29) 6.67 (122.62) 0.00 (122.62)
Recorded Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81) 780.86 0.00 780.86
Bad Debt

Expense/ALLL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Carrying Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81) 780.86 0.00 780.86

* Yield = Accretable yield divided by the carrying amount divided by 36 times 12

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.37 Impact on Cash Flows on a Group of Loans Accounted for as
a Pool in Accordance With FASB ASC 310-30 if There Is a Confirm-
ing Event, One Loan Is Removed From the Pool, and the Investor De-
creases Its Estimate of Expected Cash Flows

Inquiry—FASB ASC 310-30-15-6 states that investors may aggregate loans
acquired in the same fiscal quarter that have common risk characteristics and
thereby use a composite interest rate and expectation of cash flows expected
to be collected for the pool. FASB ASC 310-30-40-1 states that once the pool is
assembled, the integrity of the pool should be maintained. What is the impact
on the on the accounting for a group of loans accounted for as a pool, if there is a
confirming event, one loan is removed from the pool, and the investor decreases
its estimate of expected cash flows?

Reply—The following is an example of the impact on the accounting for a
group of loans accounted for as a pool, if there is a confirming event, one loan
is removed from the pool, and the investor decreases its estimate of expected
cash flows:

FASB ASC 310-30 Example

Group of Loans

Example 2—Confirming Event, One Loan Is Removed From Pool,
and Investor Decreases Estimate of Expected Cash Flows From Pool

Facts: The investor purchases 10 loans that individually meet the
scope of FASB ASC 310-30 for $800. Based on the aggregation criteria,
the investor assembles the loans into a pool. The investor initially
expects to collect $929.29 in cash flows (which generates a yield of
approximately 5.387 percent over 3 years). The investor recognizes
one month of yield income. The investor then receives notification that
one that one obligor has become bankrupt and that it will make no
further payments on its loan. The investor concludes that the expected
cash flows from the pool are decreased by $90.35, which has a present
value at 5.387 percent of $78.09. The investor records a provision of
$78.09, increasing the loan loss allowance by $78.09. In addition, the
investor removes the contractual cash flows from that loan and an
equal amount of nonaccretable discount, in the amount of $117.42,
from the pool such that the yield is unaffected. This TPA does not
address charge-offs.
Decrease in

Original Accrue  Receive Expected Removal
Purchase Income Payment Balance Cash Flows Balance of Loan Balance

Contractual Cash

Flows 1,200.00 (25.81) 1,174.19 1,174.19 (117.42) 1,056.77
Nonaccretable

Difference (270.71) (270.71) (12.26) (282.97) 11742 (165.55)
Expected Cash

Flows 929.29 (25.81) 903.48 (12.26) 891.22 0.00 891.22
Accretable Yield (129.29) 6.67 (122.62) 12.26 (110.36) 0.00 (110.36)
Recorded Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81) 780.86 0.00 780.86 0.00 780.86
Bad Debt

Expense/ALLL 0.00 0.00 (78.09) (78.09) (78.09)
Carrying Amount 800.00 6.67  (25.81)  780.86 (78.09)  702.77 0.00 702.77
Yield
(computed on

carrying

amount)* 5.387% 5.384% 5.384% 5.384%
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Decrease in
Original  Accrue  Receive Expected Removal
Purchase Income Payment Balance Cash Flows Balance of Loan Balance

Principal Balance  1,000.00 (19.14)  980.86 0.00 980.86 (98.09) 882.77
Delinquent

Accrued

Interest Rec. 50.00 50.00 0.00 50.00 (5.00) 45.00
Balance 1,050.00 (19.14) 1,030.86 0.00 1,030.86 (103.09) 927.77
Remaining

Interest Due

Under Contract 150.00 (6.67) 143.33 0.00 143.33  (14.33) 129.00
Nonaccretable

Difference (270.71) (270.71) (12.26) (282.97) 117.42  (165.55)
Expected Cash

Flows 929.29 (25.81)  903.48 (12.26)  891.22 0.00 891.22
Accretable Yield (129.29) 6.67 (122.62) 12.26 (110.36) 0.00 (110.36)
Recorded Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81)  780.86 0.00  780.86 0.00 780.86
Bad Debt

Expense/ALLL 0.00 0.00 (78.09)  (78.09) 0.00 (78.09)
Carrying Amount 800.00 6.67 (25.81)  1780.86 (78.09)  702.77 0.00 702.77

* Yield =Accretable yield divided by the carrying amount divided by 36 times 12

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.38 Certificates of Deposit and FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measure-
ments and Disclosures

Inquiry—Are certificates of deposit within the scope of the disclosure re-
quirements of FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures?

Reply—Generally not. Certificates of deposit that meet the definition of
a security in FASB ASC 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities, are
subject to the disclosure requirements of FASB ASC 820-10-50; those that do
not meet the definition are not subject to those disclosure requirements. FASB
ASC 320-10-20 defines a security as:

A share, participation, or other interest in property or in an entity of
the issuer or an obligation of the issuer that has all of the following
characteristics:

a. Itis either represented by an instrument issued in bearer
or registered form or, if not represented by an instrument,
is registered in books maintained to record transfers by or
on behalf of the issuer.

b. Itisofatype commonly dealt in on securities exchanges or
markets or, when represented by an instrument, is com-
monly recognized in any area in which it is issued or dealt
in as a medium for investment.

c. Iteitherisone of a class or series or by its terms is divisible
into a class or series of shares, participations, interests, or
obligations.

Most certificates of deposit would not meet that definition. However, some
negotiable certificates of deposit may meet the definition of a security and,
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therefore, may be subject to the disclosure requirements of FASB ASC 820-10-
50 if they are not classified as held to maturity.

[Issue Date: May 2010.]

.39 Balance Sheet Classification of Certificates of Deposit
Inquiry—Where should a certificate of deposit be classified on the balance
sheet?

Reply—Certificates of deposit with original maturities of 90 days or less
are commonly considered "cash and cash equivalents" under FASB ASC 305.
A certificate of deposit with an original maturity greater than 90 days would
not be included in cash and cash equivalents. If the certificate of deposit is not
a security, as defined in FASB ASC 320, it could be included in "investments—
other."

The following is an example of a policies and procedures note disclosure:

Investments—Other

Certificates of deposit held for investment that are not debt
securities are included in "investments—other." Certificates
of deposit with original maturities greater than three months
and remaining maturities less than one year are classified as
"short-term investments—other." Certificates of deposit with
remaining maturities greater than one year are classified as
"long-term investments—other."

[Issue Date: May 2010.]

.40 Certificates of Deposit and FASB ASC 320
Inquiry—Are certificates of deposit within the scope of FASB ASC 320?

Reply—Generally not. FASB ASC 320-10-20 defines a security as:

A share, participation, or other interest in property or in an entity of
the issuer or an obligation of the issuer that has all of the following
characteristics:

a. Itis either represented by an instrument issued in bearer
or registered form or, if not represented by an instrument,
is registered in books maintained to record transfers by or
on behalf of the issuer.

b. Itisofatype commonly dealtin on securities exchanges or
markets or, when represented by an instrument, is com-
monly recognized in any area in which it is issued or dealt
in as a medium for investment.

c. Iteitherisone of a class or series or by its terms is divisible
into a class or series of shares, participations, interests, or
obligations.

Most certificates of deposit would not meet that definition. Certain nego-

tiable certificates of deposit, however, may meet the definition of a security
and, therefore, may be subject to FASB ASC 320.

[Issue Date: May 2010.]
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Q&A Section 2140

Inventories

.01 Warehousing Included in Cost of Inventory

Inquiry—A client deals in wholesaling and retailing automotive tires for
foreign cars. Most of the inventory is imported, and it is valued on the com-
pany's records at the actual inventory cost plus freight-in. At year-end, the
warehousing costs are prorated over cost of goods sold and ending inventory.
The company's auditor believes the warehousing costs should not be capitalized
to inventory, but the entire amount should be expensed in the year the costs
are incurred. Are warehousing costs considered to be product costs or period
costs?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 330-10-30-1 states, in part:

As applied to inventories, cost means in principle the sum of
the applicable expenditures and charges directly or indirectly
incurred in bringing an article to its existing condition and
location.

Kieso and Weygandt, Intermediate Accounting, 9th Edition states:

Product costs are those costs that "attach" to the inventory
and are recorded in the inventory accounts. These costs are
directly connected with the bringing of goods to the place of
business of the buyer and converting such goods to a saleable
condition. Such charges would include freight charges on
goods purchased, other direct costs of acquisition and labor,
and other production costs incurred in processing the goods
up to the time of sale. It would seem proper also, to allocate to
inventories a share of any buying costs or expenses of a pur-
chasing department, storage costs, and other costs incurred
in storing or handling goods before they are sold (i.e., ware-
housing costs). Because of the practical difficulties involved
in allocating such costs and expenses, however these items
are not ordinarily included in valuing inventories.

Costs of delivering the goods from the warehouse would be considered a
selling expense and should not be allocated to the goods that are still in the
warehouse.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.02 Obsolete Items in Inventory—I

Inquiry—A client purchased in bulk various inventories of stock material.
This material is used to produce various specialized parts used in electronic
equipment. The bulk purchase took place some eighteen months ago, and less
than ten percent of these inventories have been used. The client claims that
there may be some obsolete stock on hand from this bulk purchase, but an
eighteen month period is not enough time to effectively determine the complete
degree of obsolescence because the highly specialized nature of the product line
may not lead to renewed orders until periods beyond one or more operating
cycles. Based on the information available to the client, about one-third of
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the original bulk purchase will be written off because of obsolescence. For the
remaining inventories, the client will present a representation letter indicating
that he or she believes the remaining inventory not to be obsolete.

There may be more obsolete inventory than the client is willing to admit.
The poor turnover of such items is the chief reason for concern. Pricing the
inventory at the lower of cost or market will be difficult. The nature of the
inventory (many small items at low unit cost) and its poor turnover make
obtaining market prices difficult.

What is the responsibility of auditors, not being inventory experts, in
determining the extent of obsolescence?

Reply—Paragraphs .11 and .A25 of AU-C section 501, Audit Evidence—
Specific Considerations for Selected Items (AICPA, Professional Standards),
address the auditor's responsibility to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence regarding the condition of inventory, which includes identifying obsolete,
damaged or aging inventory. This audit evidence might include the opinion of
other experts, for example an electronics engineer, with respect to the quality
of the inventories in this case.

Over the eighteen-month period since the inventories were purchased, less
than ten percent have been utilized. Such a usage rate indicates that the client
has close to an estimated fifteen year supply of these inventories. This would
indicate that little or no value should be assigned to these inventories.

[Revised, May 2007; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

[.03] Reserved

.04 Airplanes Chartered While Held for Sale

Inquiry—A company purchases airplanes for sale to others. However, until
they are sold, the company charters and services the planes. What would be the
proper way to report these airplanes in the company's financial statements?

Reply—The primary use of the airplanes should determine their treatment
on the balance sheet. Since the airplanes are held primarily for sale, and char-
tering is only a temporary use, the airplanes should be classified as current
assets. However, depreciation would not be appropriate if the planes are con-
sidered inventory. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) glossary states, in part, that the term inventory
"excludes long-term assets subject to depreciation accounting, or goods which,
when put into use, will be so classified."

If the use period were to exceed one year, reclassification to fixed assets
and recognition of depreciation expense would be appropriate under generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.05] Reserved

.06 Inventory of Meat Packer

Inquiry—A client engaged in the meat packing business uses the "Na-
tional Provisioner Daily Market Service" quotations in valuing its inventories.
The client contends that these quotations, adjusted for freight differentials,
reflect an accurate approximation of actual costs and, in lieu of a complete cost
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accounting system, should be considered as cost for inventory valuation. Is this
method of inventory valuation acceptable for meat packers?

Reply—Meat packing companies generally value their work in process
and finished goods inventories at market price less cost to bring to market
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 330, Inventory. Live animals and whole carcasses
are carried at lower of cost or market. Many companies use quoted costs such
as the National Provisioner quotations which are estimated costs of producing
a particular cut of meat adjusted for the fluctuating daily livestock prices and
other factors. These quoted prices must be further adjusted by the individual
meat packers to take into account individual factors such as freight and storage.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.07] Reserved

.08 Valuing Precious Metals Inventory Used in Manufacturing
Applications

Inquiry—Should inventories of precious metals used in manufacturing
applications (for example, diamonds used in drill bits, plutonium or uranium
used in steel fabrication, or titanium used in paint manufacturing) be valued
at market or at the lower of cost or market?

Reply—These inventories should be valued at the lower of cost or market
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 330-10-35-2. The excess of market value over
cost may be disclosed.

The exception to "lower of cost or market" that allows precious metals to
be recorded at market on the balance sheet does not apply to these industrial
applications because the metals will be used in the manufacturing process
rather than held for immediate sale and do not meet the other conditions
specified in FASB ASC 330-10-35-15, which states:

Only in exceptional cases may inventories properly be stated
above cost. For example, precious metals having a fixed mon-
etary value with no substantial cost of marketing may be
stated at such monetary value; any other exceptions must be
justifiable by inability to determine appropriate approximate
costs, immediate marketability at quoted market price, and
the characteristic of unit interchangeability.

FASB ASC 330-10-50-3 further states:

Where goods are stated above cost, this fact shall be fully
disclosed.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

.09 Standard Cost for Inventory Valuation
Inquiry—A client uses standard costs for valuing inventory. What disclo-
sure is necessary in the financial statements regarding inventory valuation?

Reply—Ordinarily, standard costs should be adjusted to a figure which
approximates the lower of cost or market. If this is done, then it is appropriate
to use standard costs for financial reporting purposes. This is usually the case
where standards are currently and frequently adjusted.
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Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Cod-
ification (ASC) 330-10-30-13 states:

Standard costs are acceptable if adjusted at reasonable inter-
vals to reflect current conditions so that at the balance sheet
date standard costs reasonably approximate costs computed
under one of the recognized bases. In such cases descriptive
language shall be used which will express this relationship,
as, for instance, "approximate costs determined on the first-in
first-out basis," or, if it is desired to mention standard costs,
"at standard costs, approximating average costs."

Accordingly, if in this particular case standard costs do in fact approximate
the lower of cost or market, then disclosure along the lines indicated in the
above reference is adequate.

On the other hand, if the difference between standard costs and the lower
of cost or market is material, then mere footnote disclosure will not cure the
known statement imperfection.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.10] Reserved

.11 Average Cost Method for Subsidiary

Inquiry—Company A and all of its subsidiaries, except one, determine the
cost of inventories by the last-in, first-out method (LIFO). The one subsidiary
uses an average cost method. Is the average cost method acceptable for de-
termining the cost of inventory? Is it acceptable for one subsidiary to use the
average cost method and Company A and the other subsidiaries to use the
LIFO method?

Reply—The average cost method is an acceptable method for determining
the cost of inventory. An entity may use more than one method to determine
the cost of inventory provided the methods are disclosed.

.12 Classification of Replacement Parts Under a Maintenance
Agreement

Inquiry—Company A has entered into a maintenance agreement with Com-
pany B, an unrelated party, to provide maintenance and service for specialized
computer equipment leased by Company B to third parties. The maintenance
contract between A and B requires that A maintain a spare/replacement parts
inventory for the equipment. Company A has no use for these parts other than
to fulfill the obligation under its contract with Company B. The term of the
contract between Company A and Company B is for several years.

Most of the spare parts (i.e., circuit boards) are of a repairable nature,
and it is expected that as A replaces a part, A will have the removed part
refurbished, at its own cost. The refurbished parts will be available for future
use as necessary.

Should Company A classify the refurbished replacement parts as inven-
tory? Should Company A's investment in the parts be amortized?

Reply—Company A should classify the refurbished replacement parts as
inventory. Inventory costs should not be amortized; a loss in their utility should
be reflected as a charge against revenues of the period in which it occurs, as
discussed in Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 330-10-35-2.
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[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Classification of Slow-Moving Inventory

Inquiry—A client, engaged in an oil field related industry, has slow-moving
products that are not considered obsolete. The inventory is properly stated at
the lower of cost or market. The client plans to continue selling the inventory on
hand but will cease manufacturing the specialized product. Based on current
sales estimates and demand for the product, it appears likely that the client
will be able to sell all of the items in the inventory over a period of about
four years. Is it correct to classify a portion of the slow-moving inventory as a
long-term asset in the client's classified balance sheet?

Reply—The portion of the slow-moving inventory not reasonably expected
to be realized in cash during the client's normal operating cycle should be clas-
sified as a long-term asset in the company's classified balance sheet. Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
310-10-45-9 states that the term current assets is used to designate cash and
other assets or resources commonly identified as those that are reasonably ex-
pected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed during the normal operating
cycle of the business.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.14 Disclosure of LIFO Reserve

Inquiry—Should a company using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method of
inventory valuation be required to disclose the LIFO reserve in its financial
statements or in the accompanying footnotes?

Reply—Yes. The Accounting Standards Division Issues Paper, Identifi-
cation and Discussion of Certain Financial Accounting and Reporting Issues
Concerning LIFO Inventories, addresses this matter in section 2, paragraphs
24 through 28. Paragraph 28 indicates that the task force voted (9 yes, 0 no)
that either the LIFO reserve or replacement cost and its basis for determina-
tion should be disclosed. Paragraph 26 states that the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) requires companies whose securities trade publicly to dis-
close this information [Regulation S-X, section 210.5-02.6(c)] and that many
nonpublic companies also disclose this information.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of recent authoritative literature.]

[.15] Reserved
[.16] Reserved
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Q&A Section 2210
Fixed Assets

.01 Settlement of Mortgage Installment on Real Estate Between
Buyer and Seller

Inquiry—A company purchased an office building subject to the seller's
assumable mortgage. The closing of the transaction occurred in the middle
of a month which was between payment dates on the mortgage. The closing
statement reflected a credit from the seller to the buyer for the interest that
accrued on the mortgage from the last payment date until the date of the
closing. How should this credit be accounted for by the buyer?

Reply—The buyer would treat the accrued interest credit as a reduction of
interest expense for the first month of ownership. When the buyer makes the
first interest payment after the closing, the credit will offset the full month's
interest paid and thus reduce the buyer's net interest expense to the amount
attributable to the period that the property was owned by the buyer.

[Amended, June 1995.]

.02 Broker's Commission Received by Purchaser of Property as
Purchase Price Concession

Inquiry—A corporation ("purchaser") is engaged in negotiations to pur-
chase real property. During the negotiations, the purchaser was unwilling to
accept the seller's best offer. To induce the purchaser to agree to the sale, the
broker agreed to rebate a portion of the seller-paid commission to the purchaser.

Would this rebate be considered income to the purchaser or a reduction of
the cost of the property acquired?

Reply—The "rebate" received from the broker should be accounted for as
a reduction of the cost of the property rather than as income. Income should
not be recognized on a purchase. The receipt of the rebate was part of the
acquisition of the real estate and, when netted against the purchase price,
reflects the amount the purchaser was willing to pay for the property.

[Amended, June 1995.]
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Valuation of Cattle Herd

Inquiry—A client, in the business of raising and selling cattle, has not been
in business long enough to develop enough cost information to reliably value
the cattle raised by them. Each cow costs $2,000 or more and has an estimated
salvage value of about $300 at the end of its productive breeding life. The client
has adopted a life of seven years for its breeding herd based on the various ages
of the cows.

The client proposes to price the cattle raised as follows:
Purchased calves

When a cow is purchased with a "calf at side," twenty percent of the
purchase price is allocated to the calf. An additional $50 is allocated to the calf
every six months for the first eighteen months. At eighteen months of age, the
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cows are considered mature enough for breeding and are then either sold or
placed in the breeding herd and depreciated.

Raised calves

Since the mother is maintained principally for breeding and is expected to
produce one calf each year, the calf birthed and raised is allocated one year's
depreciation of the mother, plus $50 at birth. An additional $50 is allocated
every six months for the first eighteen months.

The problem of valuing the cattle is compounded by the fact that cattle
purchased for breeding and those purchased for sale are not separated, and
any cow may be sold at any time. What improvements could be made in the
pricing scheme, and how should the breeding herd and the herd held for sale
be shown on the balance sheet?

Reply—Rather than setting an average breeding life of seven years for the
breeding herd, it would appear more reasonable to set an estimated age at
which a cow should be fully depreciated and to depreciate the cost of each cow
over the remaining estimated years of life. Also, instead of allocating twenty
percent of the purchase price of the cow to the calf "at side," it would be better
to determine the percent applicable to the calf on the basis of the number of
expected additional calves for that cow.

In valuing the calves, if the $50 figure is a reasonable estimate of six months
of costs, the method seems reasonable. However, instead of allocating one year's
depreciation of the mother plus $50 at birth, it might be better to allocate only
the depreciation plus the direct expenses of birth such as veterinarian's fees,
etc.

Since it is difficult to determine which of the cattle are "inventory" and
which are "fixed assets," it might not be appropriate in this case to classify the
assets and liabilities as current or long-term in the balance sheet.

.07 Costs of Ski Slopes and Lifts

Inquiry—A company has developed a piece of land into a skiing resort.
The company has cut the trees, cleared and graded the land and hills, and
constructed ski lifts and platter pulls.

Should the tree cutting, land clearing, and grading costs of constructing
the ski slopes be capitalized to land? If so, are these costs amortizable?

Should the clearing and grading costs connected with the construction of
the ski lifts and platter pulls be capitalized to this equipment and depreciated?

Reply—All expenditures incurred which are made for the purpose of mak-
ing the land suitable for its intended use or purpose (whether that use be for
the construction of a ski lodge, lifts, slopes, platter pulls, or other facilities)
are properly capitalizable as land costs, and land is not subject to deprecia-
tion. During the course of clearing the land to make it useful for the purpose
acquired, salable timber may be recovered, and since the clearing costs are
capital items, amounts realized from the sale of the timber may properly be
credited to the land account. Recurring maintenance of right-of-way (i.e., the
slope and ski-lift areas) would be properly treated as a period cost.

.08 Restaurant Dishes and Silverware

Inquiry—Should a base stock inventory of silverware and dishes be shown
on the balance sheet of a restaurant as a fixed asset? In the base stock method,
the base stock is recorded at an unchanging amount and additions to the stock
are charged to expenses for the period. Inasmuch as fixed assets are specific
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items which are subject to depreciation (except land), and the base stock is an
approximate figure for many items and is not depreciated, it would seem that
the base stock should not be classified as a fixed asset.

Reply—Various publications recommending treatment for large stocks of
short-lived, replaceable assets such as silverware and dishes indicate that the
assets should be valued on the basis of physical inventories at year-end, with
used equipment being valued at 50 percent of current cost, and unused equip-
ment valued at full cost. This, in effect, assigns an average useful life of two
years for the equipment. It is recommended that such assets be included in
fixed assets.

The classification in the balance sheet should not depend upon the method
of valuing the assets. Therefore, regardless of the method of valuation, the
assets should be included in fixed assets. If the valuation differs materially from
the depreciated cost of individual goods on hand at year-end, the presentation
is not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

[.09] Reserved
[.10] Reserved
[.11] Reserved
[.12] Reserved
[.13] Reserved
[.14] Reserved

.15 Capitalization of Cost of Dredging Log Pond

Inquiry—Corporation A operates a log pond and dredged the pond during
the year at a cost of $350,000. Thus, the useful life of the log pond was extended
several years. Should the dredging cost be expensed or capitalized?

Reply—FASB Concept No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements—a replace-
ment of FASB Concepts Statement No. 3 (incorporating an amendment of FASB
Concepts Statement No. 2), paragraph 149 states, in part, ".. . many assets yield
their benefits to an entity over several periods. . . . Expenses resulting from their
use are normally allocated to the periods of their estimated useful lives (the
periods over which they are expected to provide benefits) by a 'systematic and
rational' allocation procedure, for example, by recognizing depreciation or other
amortization."

Since the dredging cost will benefit future periods, Corporation A should
capitalize the cost and amortize it in a systematic and rational manner over
the estimated period of benefit.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.16] Reserved
[.17] Reserved

.18 Revaluation of Assets

Inquiry—Company A acquired a material amount of treasury stock re-
sulting in a stockholders' equity deficit. Since state law (where Company A is
incorporated) prohibits the impairment of legal capital, Company A revalued
certain of its assets at fair market value. Should Company A record deprecia-
tion for the revalued assets based on historical cost or fair market value?
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Reply—An opinion expressed on the financial statements of Company A
should be qualified or adverse because the write-up of assets is a departure
from generally accepted accounting principles.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.19] Reserved

.20 Compounding Capitalized Interest

Inquiry—Company A is constructing a building for its own use. The com-
pany capitalized interest cost on the average amount of accumulated expendi-
tures for the asset during the current year end. The building was completed in
the next year. Should the company capitalize interest on the average amount
of expenditures for the assets that were made during the current period only
or the average amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the
period including the expenditures made in the prior period, which already
includes capitalized interest cost?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 835-20-30-3 states, in part:

The amount capitalized in an accounting period shall be de-
termined by applying the capitalization rate to the average
amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the
period.

FASB ASC 835-20-35-3 further states:

The compounding of capitalized interest is conceptually con-
sistent with the conclusion that interest on expenditures for
the asset is a cost of acquiring the asset.

Accordingly, the rate should be applied to the average of all the accumu-
lated expenditures.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
[.21] Reserved
[.22] Reserved
[.23] Reserved
[.24] Reserved

.25 Capitalization of Interest Costs Incurred by Subsidiary

Inquiry—A subsidiary with an asset qualifying for interest capitalization
under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 835, Interest, incurs its entire interest cost from a loan from
its parent.

What is the extent of interest that may be appropriately capitalized?

Reply—FASB ASC 835-20-30-3 states, in part: "the amount capitalized in
an accounting period shall be determined by applying the capitalization rate
to the average amount of accumulated expenditures for the asset during the
period." FASB ASC 835-20-30-6 further states

The total amount of interest cost capitalized in an account-
ing period shall not exceed the total amount of interest cost
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incurred by the entity in that period. In consolidated finan-
cial statements, that limitation shall be applied by reference
to the total amount of interest cost incurred by the parent
entity and consolidated subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
In any separately issued financial statements of a parent en-
tity or a consolidated subsidiary and in the financial state-
ments (whether separately issued or not) of unconsolidated
subsidiaries and other investees accounted for by the equity
method, the limitation shall be applied by reference to the to-
tal amount of interest cost (including interest on intra-entity
borrowings) incurred by the separate entity.

Such financial statements should disclose related party transactions as
required by FASB ASC 850, Related Party Disclosures.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.26] Reserved

.27 Construction of Asset—Foreign Currency Transaction Gains/
Losses

Inquiry—A company is constructing a building in the United States for its
own use. In order to finance the cost of the building, a loan denominated in a
foreign currency is obtained from a bank in a foreign country. The company is
appropriately capitalizing interest incurred as part of the cost of the building
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 835, Interest. However, the company wants to
also capitalize as part of the cost of the building any foreign currency transac-
tion gains or losses it incurs as a result of the loan with the bank in the foreign
country. The company's rationale is that the transaction gains or losses relate
specifically to the building and therefore should be considered part of the cost
of the building. Is this appropriate?

Reply—No. According to FASB ASC glossary, foreign currency transac-
tions are transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency other than
the entity's functional currency. Foreign currency transactions arise when a
reporting entity does any of the following:

a. Buys or sells on credit goods or services whose prices are
denominated in foreign currency

b. Borrows or lends funds and the amounts payable or re-
ceivable are denominated in foreign cur-rency

c. Is a party to an unperformed forward exchange contract
For other reasons, acquires or disposes of assets, or incurs
or settles liabilities denominated in foreign currency.

FASB ASC 830-20-05-2 states:

Foreign currency transactions may produce receivables or
payables that are fixed in terms of the amount of foreign
currency that will be received or paid.

FASB ASC 830-20-35-1 further states:

A change in exchange rates between the functional currency
and the currency in which a transaction is denominated in-
creases or decreases the expected amount of functional cur-
rency cash flows upon settlement of the transaction. That
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increase or decrease in expected functional currency cash
flows is a foreign currency transaction gain or loss that gen-
erally shall be included in determining net income for the
period in which the exchange rate changes.

Thus, even though the loan was obtained to construct the building, the trans-
action gains and losses are not part of the cost of the building, but are a result
of the change in the exchange rate and are included in income each period in
which the exchange rate fluctuates.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.28 Accounting for Certain Liquidated Damages

Inquiry—"Liquidated damages" represent contractual payments to a buyer
of property, plant, and equipment (PP&E) for the nondelivery or noncompletion
of construction of PP&E by a stated completion date. The amount is specified
in advance by contract—for example, a stated amount per day of delay—rather
than a computation of actual losses of the buyer caused by the delay. Liquidated
damages are negotiated to represent compensation for a reasonable estimate
of the buyer's costs associated with a delay. Liquidated damages are specified
in advance in order to eliminate the need for possibly contentious after-the-fact
negotiations about actual costs incurred. How should a buyer of PP&E account
for liquidated damages, as defined above?

Reply—Because the buyer does not provide the payer of the damages with
an identifiable benefit in exchange for the payment, a buyer typically records
liquidated damages as a reduction of the payments it has made to the vendor for
the PP&E (that is, a reduction of the cost of the PP&E). Amounts of liquidated
damages in excess of the total cost of PP&E would be recognized by the buyer
as income.

The basis for this reply is Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 605-50. The underlying principle in
FASB ASC 605-50 is that unless the customer provides the vendor with an
identifiable benefit, the payment received from the vendor is a reduction of the
purchase price of the goods purchased from the vendor—that is, a return of
amounts paid.

Contracts between a buyer and provider of PP&E could be drafted in
two ways—with a realistic completion date and contract price with liquidated
damages for late delivery, or with a pessimistic completion date and a bargain
contract price with a bonus for early delivery. The accounting for liquidated
damages, as noted in this reply, results in the same accounting for the buyer
regardless of how the contract is drafted.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Long-Term Investments

.01 Equity Method When Current Direct Ownership Less Than
Twenty Percent

Inquiry—Company A purchased a 19 percent stock ownership interest in
B. The company also made a loan to B that is convertible into stock of B and is
secured by shares of C (B's subsidiary). For as long as the loan is outstanding,
Company A will have several seats on B's board. The company also has options
to purchase shares of C.

Is the company required to report its investment in B under the equity
method?

Reply—Paragraphs 6 and 8 of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 323-10-15 state that the
ability to exercise the type of influence contemplated in FASB ASC 323,
Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures, may be indicated in several
ways such as representation on the board of directors and investment (direct
or indirect) of 20 percent or more in the voting stock of an investee.

The company would own only 19 percent of the outstanding voting stock.
Although it is not indicated whether the conversion feature of the loan may re-
sult in ownership of 20 percent or more, or whether the board seats would allow
A to significantly influence the voting at meetings of B's board of directors, the
overall impact of the proposed transaction could demonstrate that the company
has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee. Therefore, the
equity method should be followed in accounting for the investment.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.02] Reserved

.03 Equity Method for Investee Following Completed Contract
Method

Inquiry—A client, a contractor who follows the percentage of completion
method for income recognition, has entered into a joint venture. The joint
venture follows the completed contract method in its financial statements. The
client accounts for his investment in the joint venture on the equity basis.
May the client recognize his share of the venture's income (determined on the
percentage of completion method) even though the venture will not recognize
income until the contract is completed?

Reply—The FASB ASC glossary defines the terms earnings or losses of
an investee and financial position of an investee as "net income (or net loss) of
an investee determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles" and "financial position of an investee determined in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles," respectively.

Both the completed contract method and the percentage of completion
method are generally accepted, and the investor should not change the in-
vestee's method of accounting from completed contract to percentage of com-
pletion in applying the equity method. If the investee's financial statements
are prepared on a comprehensive basis of accounting other than generally ac-
cepted accounting principles (GAAP), the investor should eliminate material
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variances from GAAP in applying the equity method, in accordance with FASB
ASC 970-323-35-20.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.04] Reserved

.05 Assuming Pro Rata Share of Venture's Revenues and
Expenses

Inquiry—A company has entered into a joint venture with another ven-
turer. Would it be permissible for the company to include in its income its pro
rata share of each of the revenue and expense accounts of the venture?

Reply—FASB ASC 323-10-45-1 states:

Under the equity method, an investment in common stock
shall be shown in the balance sheet of an investor as a single
amount. Likewise, an investor's share of earnings or losses
from its investment shall be shown in its income statement
as a single amount except for the extraordinary items as spec-
ified in the following paragraph.

However, FASB ASC 810-10-45-14, relating to accounting for investments
in unincorporated joint ventures states, in part:

If the investor-venturer owns an undivided interest in each
asset and is proportionately liable for its share of each liabil-
ity, the provisions of paragraph 323-10-45-1 may not apply
in some industries. For example, in certain industries the
investor-venturer may account in its financial statements for
its pro rata share of the assets, liabilities, revenues, and ex-
penses of the venture.

Guidance for transactions of this type relating to real estate can be found
in FASB ASC 970-323-25-12 and FASB ASC 970-810-45-1.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved

.08 Acquisition of Subsidiaries by Exchange of Assets With No Book
Value

Inquiry—A client, a computer services company, acquired 50 percent of the
capital stock of a corporation in exchange for rights to computer programs. The
cost of these programs had been expensed by the client. Another party acquired
the remaining 50 percent of the stock for $150,000. The client recorded this
transaction as a debit to investments in subsidiaries and a credit to earnings
of $150,000.

A similar transaction, an exchange of rights to computer programs for
capital stock with a stated value of $200,000, occurred later. Investments in
subsidiaries was debited and earnings was credited for $200,000.

The subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method.

Can the earnings recorded on the exchange of expensed computer programs
for common stock be reflected in parent company financial statements, or do
generally accepted accounting principles require elimination?
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Reply—Intra-entity profit eliminations under the equity method is dis-
cussed in FASB ASC 323-10-35-8 and states, in part, "All intra-entity transac-
tions are eliminated in consolidation under that Subtopic, but under the equity
method intra-entity profits or losses are normally eliminated only on assets
still remaining on the books of an investor or an investee."

FASB ASC 323 indicates that the intercompany gain ($150,000 and
$200,000) recorded by the investor company would be eliminated under the
equity method.

In the second case, measuring the value of the computer programs by the
$200,000 stated value of the stock may not be appropriate, and the auditor
should try to satisfy himself concerning the estimated values assigned to the
tangible and intangible assets contributed by the other stockholders. (See FASB
ASC 323, FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, and FASB ASC
805, Business Combinations.)

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.09] Reserved
[.10] Reserved
[.11] Reserved

.12 Investor's Share of Losses in Excess of Its Investment

Inquiry—Company A's share of the losses of a real estate venture exceeds
its investment in the venture. How should Company A account for its invest-
ment?

Reply—FASB ASC 970-323 recommends that the equity method be used
to account for investments in corporate or noncorporate real estate ventures.
Paragraphs 19-22 of FASB ASC 323-10-35 state, in part:

An investor's share of losses of an investee may equal or ex-
ceed the carrying amount of an investment accounted for
by the equity method plus advances made by the investor.
The investor ordinarily shall discontinue applying the equity
method if the investment (and net advances) is reduced to
zero and shall not provide for additional losses unless the
investor has guaranteed obligations of the investee or is oth-
erwise committed to provide further financial support for the
investee. An investor shall, however, provide for additional
losses if the imminent return to profitable operations by an
investee appears to be assured. For example, a material, non-
recurring loss of an isolated nature may reduce an investment
below zero even though the underlying profitable operating
pattern of an investee is unimpaired. If the investee subse-
quently reports net income, the investor shall resume apply-
ing the equity method only after its share of that net income
equals the share of net losses not recognized during the period
the equity method was suspended.

Accordingly, the investor should reflect its investment at a zero amount
and disclose in a note to the financial statements the amount of its share of
investee losses in excess of the zero amount.
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If the investor is committed to provide further financial support to the
investee, the investor should show the excess of its share of investee losses over
its investment and advances as a liability up to the amount of its commitment.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 A Change in Circumstances Using the Equity Method of Ac-
counting for an Investment

Inquiry—An investor had guaranteed obligations of an investee and the
investor's share of losses of this investee have exceeded the carrying amount
of the investment on the investor's book in a prior year. This procedure is in
accordance with paragraphs 19-22 of FASB ASC 323-10-35. In the current year,
the investee fully paid the obligation which was guaranteed by the investor;
accordingly, the investor will no longer guarantee the obligations of the investee
and, therefore, will not record its share of the investee's losses.

(1) Does this constitute a change of accounting principle?

(2) How should the liability recorded on the investor's books be ac-
counted for?

Reply—(1) This is not a change in accounting principle. According to
FASB ASC 250-10-45-1, an "adoption or modification of an accounting principle
necessitated by transactions or events that are clearly different in substance
from those previously occurring” is not a change in accounting principle. The
situation described is a change in circumstances and not a change in accounting
principle.

(2) The liability recorded on the investor's books should be reversed

in the current year and reported in the income statement with appropriate
footnote disclosure.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.14] Reserved

.15 Accounting for Distribution From Joint Venture

Inquiry—A corporation invests in a joint venture which is involved in real
estate. The joint venture is a corporation and it is not controlled by the corporate
investor. It accounts for this investment in accordance with FASB ASC 323.
The joint venture incurred losses over the next few years. That resulted in
the investment account on the corporation's books to decline to zero. At this
point, the joint venture paid the corporation a cash distribution. How should
the corporation account for this distribution?

Reply—FASB ASC 323 states that the investor ordinarily shall discontinue
applying the equity method when the investment (and net advances) is reduced
to zero and shall not provide for additional losses unless the investor has
guaranteed obligations of the investee or is otherwise committed to provide
financial support for the investee.

In this situation, the corporate investor in the joint venture should account
for the cash distributions received as income if the distribution is not refundable
by agreement or by law and the investor is not liable for the obligations of the
joint venture and is not otherwise committed to provide financial support to
the joint venture.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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[.16] Reserved

.17 Tax Basis Accounting—Use of Equity Method

Inquiry—Can an investor who prepares its financial statements in accor-
dance with U.S. GAAP use the equity method of accounting for an investment
in the common stock of an investee that presents its financial statements on
the income tax basis of accounting if the investment would otherwise qualify
for the equity method?

Reply—FASB ASC 323-10-35-4 states, in part:

Under the equity method, an investor shall recognize its share
of the earnings or losses of an investee in the periods for which
they are reported by the investee in its financial statements.

The FASB ASC glossary defines the term earnings or losses of an investee
as the "net income (or net loss) of an investee determined in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles."

If the investment qualifies for equity method accounting, the investor must
adjust the investee's tax basis financial statements to GAAP basis to determine
its share of earnings or losses. If the adjustment cannot be determined, and
the amounts are material, it would be considered a GAAP exception.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

Sections 2220.18-.27 are intended to assist reporting entities when
implementing the provisions of FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measure-
ments and Disclosures, to estimate the fair value of their investments
in certain entities that calculate net asset value. Sections 2220.18-.27
apply to investments that are required to be measured and reported
at fair value and are within the scope of paragraphs 4-5 of FASB ASC
820-10-15.

.18 Applicability of Practical Expedient
Inquiry—Which investments are permitted, as a practical expedient, to be
measured at fair value on the basis of the net asset value (NAV)?

Reply—FASB ASC 820-10-35-59 permits reporting entities, as a practical
expedient, to estimate the fair value of their investments in certain entities
that calculate NAV per share (or its equivalent) by using NAV. Such invest-
ments, which are often referred to as alternative investments, include inter-
ests in hedge funds, private equity funds, real estate funds, venture capital
funds, commodity funds, offshore fund vehicles, and funds of funds, as well as
some bank common/collective trust funds and other similar funds. Companies
in various industries, including investment companies, broker-dealers, banks,
insurance companies, employee benefit plans, healthcare organizations, and
not-for-profit organizations, often invest in alternative investments.

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.19 Unit of Account
Inquiry—According to the FASB ASC glossary, the unit of account is "[t]hat
which is being measured by reference to the level at which an asset or liability
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is aggregated (or disaggregated)." How should the unit of account be identified
for an interest in an alternative investment?

Reply—For interests in alternative investments, the appropriate unit of
account is the interest in the investee fund itself, not the underlying invest-
ments within the investee fund; this is because the reporting entity owns an
undivided interest in the whole of the investee fund portfolio and typically lacks
the ability to dispose of individual assets and liabilities in the investee fund
portfolio. However, as discussed in FASB ASC 820-10-35-61, if it is probable at
the measurement date that a reporting entity will sell a portion of an invest-
ment at an amount different from NAV, and the criteria described in FASB
ASC 820-10-35-62 are met, the portion that the reporting entity intends to sell
is valued in accordance with other provisions of FASB ASC 820. The remaining
portion of the interest that is not probable of being sold may be valued by using
NAV as a practical expedient in accordance with FASB ASC 820-10-35-59.

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.20 Determining Whether NAV Is Calculated Consistent With FASB
ASC 946, Financial Services—Investment Companies
Inquiry—FASB ASC 820-10-35-59 states:

A reporting entity is permitted, as a practical expedient, to estimate
the fair value of an investment within the scope of paragraphs 820-
10-15-4 through 15-5 using the net asset value per share (or its equiv-
alent, such as member units or an ownership interest in partners'
capital to which a proportionate share of net assets is attributed) of
the investment, if the net asset value per share of the investment (or
its equivalent) is calculated in a manner consistent with the measure-
ment principles of Topic 946 as of the reporting entity's measurement
date.

How does a reporting entity conclude that the NAV, as most recently reported
by the manager of the alternative investment (reported NAV), has been calcu-
lated in a manner consistent with the measurement principles of FASB ASC
946, Financial Services—Investment Companies?

Reply—A reporting entity's management is responsible for the valuation
assertions in its financial statements. Determining that reported NAV is cal-
culated consistently with FASB ASC 946, including measurement of all or sub-
stantially all of the underlying investments of the investee in accordance with
FASB ASC 820, requires a reporting entity to independently evaluate the fair
value measurement process utilized by the investee fund manager to calculate
the NAV. Such an evaluation is a matter of professional judgment and includes
determining that the investee fund manager has an effective process and re-
lated internal controls in place to estimate the fair value of its investments that
are included in the calculation of NAV. The reporting entity's controls used to
evaluate the process of the investee fund manager may include the following:

® Initial due diligence (procedures performed before the initial in-
vestment)

® Ongoing monitoring (procedures performed after the initial in-
vestment)

® Financial reporting controls (procedures related to the ac-
counting for, and reporting of, the investment) (Refer to the
AICPA Audit Guide Special Considerations in Auditing Finan-
cial Instruments and the AICPA nonauthoritative practice aid
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Alternative Investments—Audit Considerations for examples of
these controls.!)

Before concluding that the reported NAV is calculated in a manner consistent
with the measurement principles of FASB ASC 946, the reporting entity might
evaluate the evidence that is gathered via the initial due diligence and ongoing
monitoring of the investee fund. Only after considering all relevant factors can
the reporting entity reach a conclusion about whether the reported NAV is
calculated in a manner consistent with the measurement principles of FASB
ASC 946. For example, the reporting entity might consider the following key
factors relating to the valuation received from the investee fund manager:

® The investee fund's fair value estimation processes and control
environment, and any changes to those processes or the control
environment?

® The investee fund's policies and procedures for estimating fair
value of underlying investments, and any changes to those policies
or procedures®

® The use of independent third party valuation experts to augment
and validate the investee fund's procedures for estimating fair
value

® The portion of the underlying securities held by the investee fund
that are traded on active markets

® The professional reputation and standing of the investee fund's
auditor (this is not intended to suggest that the auditor is an
element of the investee fund's internal control system, but as a
general risk factor in evaluating the integrity of the data obtained
from the investee fund manager)

® (Qualifications, if any, of the auditor's report on the investee fund's
financial statements

® Whether there is a history of significant adjustments to the NAV
reported by the investee fund manager as a result of the annual
financial statement audit or otherwise

® Findings in the investee fund's advisor or administrator's State-
ments on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 16, Report-
ing on Controls at a Service Organization (AICPA, Professional
Standards, AT sec. 801),* report on management's description of

! The AICPA nonauthoritative practice aid Alternative Investments—Audit Considerations
is available on the AICPA website at www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/FRC/AuditAttest/Fieldwork/
DownloadableDocuments/Alternative Investments Practice Aid.pdf.

2 For further guidance, see AU-C section 501, Audit Evidence—Specific Considerations for Se-
lected Items (AICPA, Professional Standards), and the AICPA nonauthoritative practice aid Alter-
native Investments—Audit Considerations. [Footnote revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

3 See footnote 2.

4 Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements (SSAE) No. 16, Reporting on Controls at
a Service Organization (AICPA, Professional Standards, AT sec. 801), establishes the requirements
and application guidance for a service auditor reporting on controls at a service organization relevant
to user entities' internal control over financial reporting. AU-C section 402, Audit Considerations
Relating to an Entity Using a Service Organization (AICPA, Professional Standards), contains the
requirements and application guidance related to an auditor's use of a service auditor's report in
an audit of the financial statements of an entity that uses a service organization. [Footnote revised,
August 2011, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSAE No. 16. Footnote
revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos.
122-126.]
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a service organization's system and the suitability of the design
of controls (a type 1 report) or on management's description of a
service organization's system and the suitability of the design and
operating effectiveness of controls (a type 2 report), if any

® Whether NAV has been appropriately adjusted for items such
as carried interest and clawbacks (more fully described in sec-
tion 6910.29, "Allocation of Unrealized Gain (Loss), Recognition
of Carried Interest, and Clawback Obligations" )

® Comparison of historical realizations to last reported fair value

If the last reported NAV is not as of the reporting entity's measurement date,
refer to section 2220.22 for further considerations.

In cases when the reporting entity invests in a fund of funds (the investee
fund invests in other funds that do not have readily determinable fair values),
the reporting entity might conclude that the NAV reported by the fund of funds
manager is calculated in a manner consistent with FASB ASC 946 by assessing
whether the fund of funds manager has a process that considers the previously
listed items in the calculation of the NAV reported by the fund of funds, and
that the fund of funds manager has obtained or estimated NAV from underlying
fund managers in a manner consistent with paragraphs 59-62 of FASB ASC
820-10-35 as of the measurement date. The reporting entity is not required to
look through the fund of funds interest to underlying fund investments if the
reporting entity has concluded that the fund of funds manager reports NAV
consistent with FASB ASC 946 for the fund of funds interest.

[Issue Date: December 2009; Revised, June and August 2011, to reflect
conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SSAE No. 16; Revised,

December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance
of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

.21 Determining Whether an Adjustment to NAV Is Necessary

Inquiry—FASB ASC 820-10-35-60 allows the reporting entity, as a prac-
tical expedient, to estimate the fair value of an investment within the scope
of paragraphs 4 and 5 of FASB ASC 820-10-15 using the NAV as reported by
the investee when the reporting entity has satisfied itself that (a) the investee
has calculated NAV consistent with FASB ASC 946 (see section 2220.20), and
(b) the NAV has been calculated as of the reporting entity's financial reporting
(measurement) date.

FASB ASC 820-10-35-60 further states:

If the net asset value per share of the investment obtained from the
investee is not as of the reporting entity's measurement date or is not
calculated in a manner consistent with the measurement principles
of Topic 946, the reporting entity shall consider whether an adjust-
ment to the most recent net asset value per share is necessary. The
objective of any adjustment is to estimate a net asset value per share
for the investment that is calculated in a manner consistent with the
measurement principles of Topic 946 as of the reporting entity's mea-
surement date.

How does a reporting entity determine whether an adjustment to the last
reported NAV is necessary?

Reply—Examples of when an adjustment to the last reported NAV may be
necessary include, but are not limited to the following:
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® NAV s not as of the reporting entity's measurement date

® NAV is not calculated in a manner consistent with the measure-
ment principles of FASB ASC 946 (which requires, among other
things, measurement of all or substantially all of the underlying
investments of the investee in accordance with FASB ASC 820)

® Both

The existence of either of these factors may lead the reporting entity to conclude
that an adjustment to the last reported NAV may be necessary. Practically, it
is difficult to assess whether an adjustment is necessary unless an estimate of
the adjustment is calculated.

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.22 Adjusting NAV When It Is Not as of the Reporting Entity's Mea-
surement Date

Inquiry—If the reporting entity concludes that the reported NAV is cal-
culated consistently with FASB ASC 946, but an adjustment is necessary be-
cause the NAV is not as of the reporting entity's measurement date, how should
the reporting entity estimate the adjustment? (Refer to the inquiry in section
2220.21 for applicable FASB literature.)

Reply—FASB ASC 820-10-35-60 states that "The objective of any adjust-
ment is to estimate a net asset value per share for the investment that is
calculated in a manner consistent with the measurement principles of Topic
946 as of the reporting entity's measurement date." If the last reported NAV is
calculated consistently with FASB ASC 946 but is not as of the reporting en-
tity's measurement date, the reporting entity may either request the investee
fund manager to provide a supplemental NAV calculation consistent with the
measurement principles of FASB ASC 946 as of the reporting entity's mea-
surement date, or it may be necessary to adjust or roll forward (or roll back)®
the reported NAV for factors that might cause it to differ from the NAV at the
measurement date. For example, the following factors might necessitate an
adjustment to the reported NAV when it is not calculated as of the reporting
entity's measurement date:

® The reporting entity has made an additional investment(s) (capi-
tal contributions) since the calculation date of the reported NAV
and prior to the reporting entity's measurement date

® The reporting entity has received a distribution(s) or partial re-
demption since the calculation date of the reported NAV

® The reporting entity has become aware (through inquiry of the
investment manager or communication by the investment man-
ager to the reporting entity) of changes in the value of underlying
investments since the calculation date of the reported NAV

® Market changes or other economic conditions have changed to af-
fect (favorably or unfavorably) the value of the investee's portfolio
after the calculation date of the reported NAV

® Changes have occurred in the composition of the underlying in-

vestment portfolio of the investee fund after the NAV calculation
date

5 When the reporting entity's measurement date is prior to the net asset value (NAV) calculation
date, it may be more appropriate to use that NAV and perform a roll back rather than using a reported
NAV calculated prior to the entity's measurement date.

©2015, AICPA §2220.22



90

§2220.23

Assets
The roll forward NAV might be calculated as follows:

i. Last Reported NAV (calculated consistently with
FASB ASC 946)

ii. Add capital contributions/subscriptions
iii. Subtract distributions/redemptions/withdrawals
iv. Adjust for changes in valuations®

Roll forward NAYV (as of the reporting entity's measurement date)

(a)

$ X, XXX
C,cCC
(D,DDD)
V,VVV
$ R,RRR

Market changes refer to market fluctuations between the date of the

reported NAV and the reporting entity's measurement date. Examples
of other economic conditions for which it may be necessary to adjust a
reported NAV include, but are not limited to, a portfolio company being
acquired, going public, or declaring bankruptcy between the date of the
reported NAV and the reporting entity's measurement date, or changes
in the value of underlying investments caused by company performance

or market conditions, or both.

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.23 Adjusting NAV When It Is Not Calculated Consistent With FASB

ASC 946

Inquiry—If the reporting entity concludes that an adjustment is necessary
because a reported NAV is not calculated consistently with the measurement
principles of FASB ASC 946, how does a reporting entity estimate the adjust-
ment? (Refer to the inquiry in section 2220.21 for applicable FASB literature.)

Reply—Although it is not possible to state all the reasons why a reported
NAYV may not be consistent with the measurement principles of FASB ASC 946
(that is, it is not fair value based), the reporting entity would need to consider

and understand the following:

® The reasons why NAV has not been based upon fair value. In
some cases investees may appear to function similarly to invest-
ment companies, but do not meet the definition of an investment
company provided in FASB ASC 946-10-15-2 and it is not industry
practice for the investee to issue financial statements using the
measurement principles in FASB ASC 946. (In those cases, the
practical expedient is unavailable and the entity should be valued
using the general measurement principles of FASB ASC 820.)

® Whether a fair value based NAV can be obtained from the investee

manager.

® Whether the specific data needed to adjust the reported NAV can
be obtained and properly utilized to estimate a fair value based

NAV.

Examples of circumstances in which the reporting entity may be able to obtain
data to estimate an adjustment include, but are not be limited to the following:

® Reported NAV is on a cash basis. The reporting entity could es-
timate the fair value of each underlying investment as of the
measurement date by obtaining additional information from the

investee manager.
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® Reported NAV utilizes blockage discounts taken on securities val-
ued using level 1 inputs, which is not consistent with FASB ASC
820. The reporting entity could estimate the adjustment to re-
ported NAV required to remove the blockage discount based on
additional information from the financial statements or from the
investee manager.

® Reported NAV has not been adjusted for the impact of unrealized
carried interest or incentive fees. The reporting entity could esti-
mate the impact of carried interest or incentive fees and adjust
reported NAV.

If the reporting entity finds that it is not practicable to calculate an adjusted
NAYV (for example, because sufficient information is not available or it is not in
a position to reasonably evaluate the information available and estimate values
consistent with FASB ASC 946), then the practical expedient is not available.
The reporting entity may also elect not to utilize the practical expedient. In
those instances, the reporting entity should apply the general measurement
principles of FASB ASC 820 instead (see section 2220.27).

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.24 Disclosures—Ability to Redeem Versus Actual Redemption
Request
Inquiry—FASB ASC 820-10-35-54B(c) states the following:

If a reporting entity cannot redeem its investment with the investee
at net asset value per share (or its equivalent) at the measurement
date but the investment may be redeemable with the investee at a
future date (for example, investments subject to a lockup or gate or
investments whose redemption period does not coincide with the mea-
surement date), the reporting entity shall take into account the length
of time until the investment will become redeemable in determining
whether the fair value measurement of the investment shall be cat-
egorized within Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. For
example, if the reporting entity does not know when it will have the
ability to redeem the investment or it does not have the ability to re-
deem the investment in the near term at net asset value per share (or
its equivalent), the fair value measurement of the investment shall be
categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

In most cases, redemptions from alternative investment funds that redeem at
NAYV are only permitted with advance notice, ranging from 30 to 120 days. In
order to classify the investment within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, must
the investor have submitted a previous redemption request effective as of the
measurement date or is it sufficient for an investor to have had the ability to
redeem on the measurement date, even though it may not have exercised this
ability?

Reply—Determining the appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy
is a matter of professional judgment. Even though a redemption notice may
not have been submitted effective on the measurement date, so long as the
reporting entity has the ability to redeem at NAV in the near term (for example,
it has the contractual and practical ability to redeem) at the measurement
date, then consistent with FASB ASC 820-10-35-54B(a), the investment may
be classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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[Issue Date: December 2009; Revised, September 2013, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASU No. 2011-04.]

.25 Impact of "Near Term" on Classification Within Fair Value
Hierarchy

Inquiry—What is considered "near term" for purposes of determining
whether the investment would be classified as level 2 or level 3? (Refer to
the inquiry in section 2220.24 for applicable FASB literature.)

Reply—What is viewed as near term is a matter of professional judgment
and depends on the specific facts and circumstances. A redemption period of
90 days or less generally would be considered near term, because any potential
discount relative to the time value of money to the next redemption date would
be unlikely to be considered a significant unobservable input in accordance
with FASB ASC 820. However, other factors (for example, likelihood or actual
imposition of gates) may influence the determination of whether the investment
will be redeemable in the near term.

[Issue Date: December 2009]

.26 Categorization of Investments for Disclosure Purposes

Inquiry—The sample disclosure provided in FASB ASC 820-10-55-107 ap-
pears to apply to an institutional investor with a diversified portfolio of hedge,
private equity, and real estate funds. Certain entities, however, specialize in
one particular investment category or have a significant investment in one
such category, such as private equity or venture capital. Should these report-
ing entities use a different categorization than that appearing in the sample
disclosure?

Reply—Yes. FASB ASC 820-10-55-107 indicates that "the major categories
presented ... are provided as examples only and are not intended to be treated
as a template. The major categories disclosed should be tailored to the nature
and risks of the reporting entity's investments."

Accordingly, the disclosure should be tailored to address the concentra-
tions of risk that are specifically attributable to the investments. For example,
a private equity fund of funds should not simply categorize its investments
as "private equity" as this categorization is not specific enough to address the
nature and risks of the investee funds. In this example, more specific catego-
rization, perhaps relating to industry, geography, vintage year, or the strategy
of the investees (venture, buyout, mezzanine, and so on), may be more appropri-
ate and more useful to the reader. Such categorization is a matter of judgment
and should only be made after careful consideration of the specific risks and
attributes of the portfolio investments has been made.

[Issue Date: December 2009; Revised, October 2013, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASU No. 2011-04.]

.27 Determining Fair Value of Investments When the Practical Ex-
pedient Is Not Used or Is Not Available

Inquiry—TFor entities that do not elect to use NAV as a practical expedient
to estimate fair value or are unable to adjust the most recently reported NAV
to estimate a NAV that is calculated in a manner consistent with the measure-
ment principles of FASB ASC 946 as of the reporting entity's measurement
date, what inputs or investment features should be considered in estimating
fair value?
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Reply—Section 2220 distinguishes between redeemable and nonre-
deemable types of alternative investments, which are defined as follows:

® Investments with redeemable interests. Typically consist of
hedge funds (based both in the United States and offshore) and
some bank common/collective trust funds. These investment funds
permit holders periodic opportunities to subscribe for or redeem
interests at frequencies that can run from daily to annually. Cer-
tain funds may impose lock-up periods after an initial investment,
under which an investor agrees that it may not redeem its in-
vestment for a specified period of time (in some cases, an early
redemption may be permitted upon payment of an early redemp-
tion fee).

® Investments with nonredeemable interests. Typically consist
of private equity, venture capital, and real estate funds. Gener-
ally, these investments have an initial subscription period, under
which each investor makes a commitment to contribute a speci-
fied amount of capital as called for by the investment manager,
typically as investments are identified and money is needed to
acquire them. Due to the inherent illiquidity of the underlying in-
vestments, redemptions are not permitted during the fund's life;
however, typically, as investments are sold or experience another
liquidity event (for example, an initial public offering), the pro-
ceeds of the sale, less any incentives due to the fund sponsor, are
often distributed back to the investors in the fund immediately
following the sale or liquidity event.

Investment Inputs

A reporting entity might first consider the other market participants to
whom it could sell the asset. In accordance with FASB ASC 820-10-35-9, "[t]he
fair value of the asset ... shall be determined based on the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset ..." Based on guidance in
FASB ASC 820-10-35-53, in the absence of relevant observable inputs, a report-
ing entity uses "unobservable inputs [that] shall reflect the reporting entity's
own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use
in pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk)." In accor-
dance with FASB ASC 820-10-35-55, "[iln developing unobservable inputs, the
reporting entity need not undertake all possible efforts to obtain information
about market participant assumptions. However, the reporting entity shall not
ignore information about market participant assumptions that is reasonably
available without undue cost and effort." When doing so, the reporting entity is
reminded that the FASB ASC glossary defines market participants as "knowl-
edgeable, having a reasonable understanding about the asset or liability and
the transaction based on all available information, including information that
might be obtained through due diligence efforts that are usual and customary."
Thus, it can be presumed that a market participant would be aware of, and
may be willing to accept, limitations on conversion to cash inherent to alterna-
tive investments. However, in some cases, those types of limitations may also
affect the fair value measurement (see "Investment Features").® It also can

6 Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820-
10-35-15 states that "the effect on a fair value measurement of a restriction on the sale or use of an
asset by a reporting entity will differ depending on whether the restriction would be considered by
market participants in pricing the asset."
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be presumed that market participants may consider other factors such as the
investment manager's track record and potentially limited access to desirable
investment opportunities. Finally, it should be acknowledged that market par-
ticipant assumptions normally result in a range of values. According to FASB
ASC 820-10-35-24, "[a] fair value measurement is the point within that range
that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances." See FASB ASC
820-10-35-9 for further guidance. The reporting entity should also consider the
guidance in paragraphs 51A-51H of FASB ASC 820-10-35.

Alternative investments may lend themselves to valuation techniques con-
sistent with the income or market approaches. If both of these approaches are
used to measure fair value, the results should be evaluated and weighted as
discussed in FASB ASC 820-10-35-24. When NAV is not used as a practical
expedient, examples of factors that might be used when estimating fair value
(depending on the valuation technique(s) and facts and circumstances) are as
follows:

® NAV (as one valuation factor)

® Transactions in principal-to-principal or brokered markets (exter-
nal markets) and overall market conditions

® Features of the alternative investment

® Expected future cash flows appropriately discounted (detailed de-
scription is beyond the scope of this document; however, for many
funds with nonredeemable interests, expected future cash flows
from the interests might typically coincide with the expected fu-
ture cash flows from the underlying investments)

® Factors used to determine whether there has been a significant
decrease in the volume and level of activity for the asset when
compared with normal market activity for the asset (FASB ASC
820-10-35-51A)

The preceding examples are not listed in any order of importance. Rather,
the reporting entity might determine the relative weighting and importance of
these inputs based on its view of what market participants might consider in
estimating fair value.

Investment Features’

A valuation technique used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liabil-
ity should reflect assumptions a market participant might use to price the asset
or liability, including assumptions about liquidity and risk, based on the best
information available. The following discussion provides a detailed description
of features of alternative investments that normally might be expected to be
considered by market participants in the estimation of the fair value of an
alternative investment. When considering the potential impact of the features
of an alternative investment on its fair value, it is important that all relevant

7 The "Investment Features" section contains important information related to features of alter-
native investments that a reporting entity may consider in determining fair value when the option
to utilize the practical expedient is unavailable or not elected. The list of features highlighted in this
section is intended to provide some examples to better explain the types of scenarios that could impact
fair values. Because individual investments may have additional terms and features, the examples
included in the "Investment Features" section should not be viewed as an all-inclusive "checklist."
Professional judgment should be applied in evaluating the assumptions appropriate to any individual
investment. The actual computation of fair value requires management's professional judgment and
is beyond the scope of this Technical Questions and Answers section.
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features be considered in the aggregate because that is how a market partic-
ipant might be likely to evaluate them in determining how much it might be
willing to pay for an alternative investment.

Other factors that may be considered include observed subscriptions and
redemptions in redeemable interests; external market transactions in nonre-
deemable interests; expected future cash flows; and features of the alternative
investment. Additionally, a market participant might normally be expected to
compare the performance of the alternative investment to publicly available
data (for example, benchmarks, indexes, expected returns, and returns of com-
parable vehicles), and the cash returns of the investment to NAVs reported
by the alternative investment during the year. A conclusion may ultimately
be reached that the reported NAV is equivalent to fair value, either because
no conditions exist to suggest an adjustment is necessary or because factors
indicating a discount to the reported NAV may be offset by other factors that
might justify a premium. In other cases, however, the investment may be val-
ued at a discount or premium to the reported NAV because factors indicate that
the fair value of the investment is less than, or more than, the reported NAV.
Regardless of whether or not NAV is determined to be equivalent to fair value,
the reporting entity needs to evaluate the relevant individual factors and their
potential impact on fair value, and consider the level of documentation in its
evaluation.

Among the factors that market participants might be expected to consider
are the various terms and features of the alternative investment. Such features
generally fall into one of two categories: initial due diligence features or ongoing
monitoring features. The magnitude of any adjustment resulting from consid-
eration of ongoing monitoring features is a matter of judgment and should be
evaluated based on the facts and circumstances specific to each investee fund.

Initial Due Diligence Features. Generally, initial due diligence features
are inherent characteristics that may have been considered by the reporting
entity as part of its due diligence when making its initial investment in the
particular investee fund. The following provides examples of initial due dili-
gence features of an alternative investment. Not every feature may be relevant
to every alternative investment, nor does this list necessarily include all as-
sumptions that market participants may apply in any specific situation.

Lock-up periods and redemption fees. (Typically applies only to re-
deemable interests)

Lock-up period refers to the initial amount of time a reporting entity
is contractually required to invest before having the ability to redeem.
Typically, when the lock-up period expires, the reporting entity may
redeem its interests on any scheduled liquidity date, subject to the
other liquidity terms described in the investee fund's governing docu-
ments. The length of the lock-up period often depends on the quality
and reputation of the fund manager as well as the expected liquidity
of the underlying investment portfolio. In some instances, alternative
investments may offer reduced fees if an investor agrees to a longer
lock-up period. Also, some funds may permit investors to redeem dur-
ing a lock-up period upon payment of a redemption fee. Such fees are
typically imposed on the amount to be redeemed and generally range
from 1 percent to 3 percent of the gross redemption amount.

Related to the concept of lock-up periods is the general frequency in
which an investor is allowed to redeem or withdraw from a fund.
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In the absence of a lock-up period, investors with redeemable inter-
ests typically may only redeem at prescribed liquidity dates (generally
monthly, quarterly, or annually).

Notice periods. (Typically applies only to redeemable interests)

Following the expiration of any applicable lock-up period, a reporting
entity may, upon specified prior written notice (generally 45-120 days)
to the general partner or manager (redemption notice), elect to redeem
all or a portion of its interest as of the last day of a calendar month,
quarter, or year (redemption date).

Holdbacks. (Typically applies only to redeemable interests)

When the general partner or investment manager receives a redemp-
tion notice, the fund will redeem the interests of an investor as spec-
ified in the redemption notice, at the redemption price (as discussed
subsequently) as of the applicable redemption date. The fund will
distribute all or a substantial portion (for example, 90 percent) of the
redemption price with respect to the interests being redeemed within a
specified number of business days (for example, 30 days) following the
applicable redemption date. Any balance (for example, the remaining
10 percent) is distributed within a specific time frame, often following
the release of the fund's audited financial statements for the year in
which the redemption date falls. Holdback amounts protect the gen-
eral partner or investment manager from adjustments reducing the
NAV of the fund during an audit of the financial statements.

Suspension _of redemptions ("gates"). (Typically applies only to re-
deemable interests)

Pursuant to the fund's governing documents, the general partner or
investment manager can suspend or restrict the right of any investor
to redeem his or her interests (whether in whole or in part). The gen-
eral partner or investment manager can implement this restriction
for certain reasons, including the aggregate amount of redemption
requests, certain adverse regulatory or tax consequences, reduced lig-
uidity of portfolio holdings, and other reasons that may render the
manager unable to promptly and accurately calculate the fund's NAV.
The most common example is the use of a "gate," whereby certain
redemption requests are deferred, in whole or in part, because the ag-
gregate amount of redemption requests as of a particular redemption
date exceeds a specified level, generally ranging from 15 percent to
25 percent of the fund's net assets. The mere presence of a provision
allowing the imposition of a gate might not normally be expected to
have an effect on fair value, in the absence of any evidence suggesting
that the provision actually may be exercised (see "Ongoing Monitoring
Features," which follows).

Lack of redemption option. (Nonredeemable interests and instances

where all or a portion of otherwise redeemable interests have been
declared nonredeemable)

As discussed earlier, funds investing in private equity, venture capital,
or real estate investments generally do not permit withdrawals or
redemptions, primarily to match the liquidity provisions of the fund
with the liquidity of the investment portfolio. When the fund sells any
of its portfolio holdings, it often distributes the proceeds received on
the sale to the investors in the fund.
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Fund sponsor approval to transfer. (Redeemable and nonredeemable
interests)

As discussed earlier, in virtually all cases, transfers of interests in
alternative investments are not permitted under the governing docu-
ments of the fund without the written consent of the fund sponsor or
general partner, for regulatory or tax reasons or both, and thus, are in-
herent to the category of investments. Past experiences, as well as the
current operating environment, are both considerations in assessing
the likelihood of such approval being granted.

In some private equity, venture capital and real estate funds that
require investors to make commitments to invest over time and pe-
riodically call on the commitments as needed, the fund sponsor or
general partner may allow an investor to withdraw or redeem from
the fund and, thus, be absolved of future commitments, but the in-
vestor may forfeit its existing interest if no other investors (including
the fund sponsor or general partner) are willing to assume the with-
drawn partner's interest, including future commitments. If forfeiture
occurs (which, in practice, is rare), the investor's interest is generally
reallocated to the remaining investors in the fund. (The balance of
the withdrawing partner's commitment may also be reallocated to the
other investors, or the total size of the fund may be reduced).

Use of "side pockets." (Typically applies only to redeemable interests)

As noted earlier, certain funds issuing redeemable interests may be
allowed to invest a portion of their assets in illiquid securities. In such
cases, a common mechanism used is a "side pocket," whereby, at the
time of an investment in an illiquid security, a proportionate share
of an investor's capital account, relative to the entire interest of the
fund, is assigned to a separate memorandum capital account or des-
ignated account. Typically, the investor loses its redemption rights
to the designated account, and even a full redemption request is ful-
filled only with that capital ascribed to his or her basic capital account
(that is, the nondesignated capital account), while the investor contin-
ues to hold its proportionate interest in the designated account. Only
when the security is sold (or otherwise deemed liquid) by the fund
is the amount moved back to each applicable investor's basic capital
account (and otherwise withdrawn investors can redeem the desig-
nated account balance). This designated account generally does not
pay a performance fee® (although one may be levied) until the illiquid
investment is sold or otherwise deemed liquid. Designated accounts
are often referred to as "side pocket accounts" or as "special invest-
ment accounts." Similar to "gates," the mere existence of contractual
provisions permitting the use of side pockets typically does not have a
material effect on estimating the fair value unless those provisions are
actually exercised and access to a portion of the investment is actually
limited (see "Ongoing Monitoring Features," which follows).

As previously noted, these examples of initial due diligence features are com-
mon characteristics of alternative investment funds and, as such, are generally

8 Consistent with the definition in the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Investment Compa-
nies, a performance fee (also referred to as an incentive fee) is a fee paid to an investment adviser based
upon the fund's performance for the period. It may be an absolute share of the fund's performance or
a share of the performance in excess of a specified benchmark.
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considered and accepted by investors when making investment decisions in
these investments. Accordingly, a market participant may or may not require
an adjustment to the reported NAV in a transfer of an investment interest
in an alternative investment solely due to the existence of these items. How-
ever, it is necessary to consider these features in conjunction with other inputs
available to the reporting entity. For example, if the reporting entity is valu-
ing redeemable interests and observes that other investors are subscribing for
interests at the reported NAV under the same terms as the reporting entity's
agreement, that fact may provide evidence that no adjustment to the reported
NAV is necessary. However, if other investors are subscribing to the fund at the
reported NAV under terms that, in aggregate, are less favorable than those in
the reporting entity's agreement (for example, higher fees, greater restrictions
on redemption), that fact may provide evidence that the reporting entity's hold-
ings may trade at a premium to the reported NAV. Similarly, if other investors
are receiving more favorable terms in aggregate than those in the reporting
entity's agreement (for example, lower fees, fewer restrictions on redemption),
that fact may provide evidence that the reporting entity's holding may trade
at a discount to the reported NAV. An investor may also typically consider
whether the fund's terms are more or less restrictive than those prevailing in
the current market. For example, terms that are more restrictive may suggest a
discount. Alternatively, the quality of the investment manager may command
a premium.

In short, if market participants would be expected to place a discount or
premium on the reported NAV because of features, risk, or other factors relating
to the interest, then the fair value measurement of the interest would need to be
adjusted for that risk or opportunity.’ However, if market participants might
accept the same features, risk, and other factors relating to the interest and
might transact at the reported NAV without a premium or discount, that fact
may suggest that no adjustment is needed for the factors discussed previously
to estimate fair value.

Ongoing Monitoring Features. Ongoing monitoring features are char-
acteristics related to activity in an investee fund subsequent to a reporting
entity's initial investment. Because ongoing monitoring features often include
specific events relating to the investee fund, the fund sponsor, the industry or
the asset class, they are more likely to result in consideration of a discount or
premium to the reported NAV than initial due diligence features. The follow-
ing provides some examples of ongoing monitoring features for an alternative
investment.

As with initial due diligence features, not every feature may be relevant to
a particular investment, nor does this list necessarily include all assumptions
that market participants may apply in any specific situation. Also, changes
in market conditions may affect the investor's assumptions relating to the
significance of any particular feature.

Imposition of a gate. (Typically applies only to redeemable interests)

Though an investee fund manager's mere ability to impose a gate
on redemption requests is a common initial due diligence feature (as
noted previously), the actual imposition of a gate by an investee fund

9 This is consistent with FASB ASC 820-10-35-54, which states, "A measurement (for example, a
mark-to-model measurement) that does not include an adjustment for risk would not represent a fair
value measurement if market participants would include one in pricing the related asset or liability."
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manager may warrant further consideration of whether a discount
should be applied to the reported NAV. The act of imposing the gate
generally implies that the investee fund manager is experiencing lig-
uidity concerns, either related to specific investments or its portfolio as
a whole, which the reporting entity and a market participant normally
would be expected to consider in estimating fair value of the interest
in the investee fund. Further, the imposition of a gate increases the
uncertainty of the ultimate timing of receipt of cash upon redemption,
sometimes significantly, and, thus, may impose an additional risk pre-
mium on the investment.

Redemptions from an investee fund. (Typically applies only to re-
deemable interests)

Even in the absence of the actual imposition of a gate, when an in-
vestee fund experiences material redemption requests this may sug-
gest comparable liquidity issues that could result in a discount from
the reported NAV, particularly in situations when the investee fund
is leveraged.

Notification of redemption triggers the assessment of redemption fee.
(Typically applies only to redeemable interests)

Though, as noted previously, an investee fund manager may have
the ability to charge redeeming investors a redemption fee, the mere
existence of this feature is generally considered to be an initial due
diligence feature which, in many instances, may not cause the reported
NAV to exceed the fair value of the investment interest. However, if a
reporting entity irrevocably agrees to redeem some or all of its interest,
the redemption fee normally would be expected to cause the reported
NAV to exceed the fair value of the investment interest.

Significant changes in key terms of the investee fund. (Redeemable and
nonredeemable interests)

The initial due diligence features, as previously noted, represent stan-
dard or common characteristics of an alternative investment. They
are generally known and accepted by the reporting entity at the time
of making an initial investment at the reported NAV. As such, a mar-
ket participant with full knowledge of these features may also likely
transact at the reported NAV, so long as the terms remain within the
range prevailing in the market.

If, however, the investee fund makes significant changes to the terms
(for example, fees, lock-up periods, notification periods, gates) subse-
quent to the initial investment, the reporting entity normally would
be expected to consider these changes when evaluating whether the
reported NAV should be adjusted to arrive at fair value. In some cases,
changes may be deemed to have little impact on the investment deci-
sions of a market participant, whereas in other cases, changes to key
terms may create a distinct difference between the existing interest
and other interests (either in the specific alternative investment or
comparable investments), which may result in either a discount or
premium to the reported NAV.

Closure of fund to new subscriptions. (Redeemable interests)

Some funds may cease accepting subscriptions from new investors be-
cause doing so might cause them to exceed the maximum number of
investors they can accept without requiring public filings of financial
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information under securities laws. In other cases, funds may voluntar-
ily suspend the acceptance of subscriptions from new investors, and
even in some cases additional subscriptions from existing investors,
because of the adviser's view that opportunities to make further in-
vestments under the fund's investment strategy may be limited given
the size of the markets involved or that they might not bring acceptable
returns, or both. Such an event may suggest that existing interests in
the fund could trade at a premium because prospective investors may
have no other means of investing in the fund. Further, a large number
of investors or the intent not to "dilute" the fund's returns by accepting
additional investment funds, or both, may provide evidence that the
fund may trade at a premium to the reported NAV.

Ability of fund to identify and make acceptable investments. (Nonre-
deemable interests)

Venture capital, private equity, and real estate funds typically offer
interests on the basis of committed capital, which is only called from
investors as investments are identified. Investors agree to commit cap-
ital under implicit or explicit understandings that committed capital
will be called during an initial investment period, often from one to
five years. Depending on the market environment, managers may find
that they are unable to identify sufficient investments to utilize com-
mitted capital on a timely basis. Such funds often are smaller and less
diversified than expected at the time of inception of the fund, which
may negatively influence fair value. Further, certain vintages (that is,
years when funds were organized) may be identified over time as hav-
ing represented exceptionally good or poor investment opportunities
for the particular investment style, and interests in funds organized
in those years may be more likely to incur premiums or discounts, re-
spectively. The fund's potential inability to identify and make accept-
able investments will often result in unfunded capital commitments,
which may need to be considered when estimating the fair value of an
investment interest in the fund.

Allegations of fraud against the investee fund manager. (Redeemable
and nonredeemable interests)

If the reporting entity is aware of allegations of fraud, noncompliance
with laws and regulations, or other improprieties against the investee
fund manager or its affiliates, the reporting entity should consider the
potential impact of these allegations on the value of its interest in
the investee fund. In many cases, such allegations may result in the
unexpected inability to obtain any cash proceeds from the investee
fund pending the resolution of the investigation or from a general
lack of liquidity resulting from historical misrepresentation of the net
assets of the fund. In other cases, the ongoing ability of the investee
fund manager to manage the fund may be brought into question.

Change in financial strength or key personnel of investment manager.
(Redeemable and nonredeemable interests)

In some cases, a key consideration for investment in certain funds is
the reputation, and prior investment record, of the investment man-
ager, or specific individuals expected to manage the investee fund's
portfolio. In some situations, the desirability of the investment man-
ager or individuals, or both, may influence the nature of the fee,
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lock-up, and similar terms investors are willing to accept in mak-
ing an initial investment. If those key personnel no longer provide
services to the alternative investment, investors may not be willing to
continue to accept those terms. Further, if the advisory organization
experiences financial deterioration, it may be less able to retain key
personnel or, for certain private equity, venture capital, or real estate
funds, to repay previously-received incentive fees to the fund under
contractual clawback provisions (if the fund experiences subsequent
losses). Those uncertainties may increase the risk of the investment.

[Issue Date: December 2009; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]
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Q&A Section 2230

Noncurrent Receivables

[.01] Reserved

.02 Balance Sheet Classification of Deposit on Equipment to Be
Purchased

Inquiry—What is the appropriate balance sheet classification of a deposit
on machinery which is to be purchased within one year?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 210-10-45-4 states, in part:

The concept of the nature of current assets contemplates the
exclusion from that classification of such resources as the
following:

a Cash and claims to cash that are restricted as
to withdrawal or use for other than current op-
erations, are designated for expenditure in the
acquisition or construction of noncurrent assets,
or are segregated for the liquidation of long-term
debts.

Accordingly, the deposit on equipment should be classified as a noncurrent
asset even though the equipment will be purchased within one year.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 2240

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

.01 Balance Sheet Classification of Life Insurance Policy Loan
Inquiry—A company has secured a short-term loan from an insurance
company against the cash surrender value of its life insurance policies.

In Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 210-10-45-4(d), cash surrender value of life insurance poli-
cies is excluded from the classification of a current asset. This reference does
not appear to recommend a different classification if the cash value may have
been fully borrowed from the insurance company.

Is it proper to classify a readily liquid asset as noncurrent and simultane-
ously show the related borrowings as a current liability?

Reply—FASB ASC 210-10-45-4 states, in part:

This concept of the nature of current assets contemplates the
exclusion from that classification of such resources as ... (d)
cash surrender value of life insurance policies.

FASB ASC 210-10-45-9(d) states, in part:

Loans accompanied by pledge of life insurance policies would
be classified as current liabilities if, by their terms or by in-
tent, they are to be repaid within 12 months. The pledging
of life insurance policies does not affect the classification of
the asset any more than does the pledging of receivables, in-
ventories, real estate, or other assets as collateral for a short-
term loan. However, when a loan on a life insurance policy
is obtained from the insurance entity with the intent that
it will not be paid but will be liquidated by deduction from
the proceeds of the policy upon maturity or cancellation, the
obligation shall be excluded from current liabilities.

FASB ASC 210-20-05-1 states, in part:

It is a general principle of accounting that the offsetting of
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet is improper except
if a right of setoff exists.

Therefore, if a company takes out policy loans from the insurance company
on life insurance policies which it owns and if there is no intention to repay
the loan during the ensuing operating cycle of the business, such loan may
be excluded from current liabilities. Furthermore, as the owner of a policy
normally has the right to offset the loan against the proceeds received on
maturity or cancellation of the policy, it is appropriate to apply the amount of
the loan in reduction of the cash surrender value, with disclosure of the amount
so offset.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.02 Disclosure of Life Insurance on Principal Stockholders

Inquiry—A client corporation, which is a nonpublic entity, maintains life
insurance policies on its principal stockholders that will provide for the repur-
chase of the stock in the event of a stockholder's death. The cash surrender
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value of these policies appears on the balance sheet. Is further disclosure nec-
essary?

Reply—The rule of informative disclosure requires that the essential facts
respecting firm commitments for purchase of a corporation's own stock pur-
suant to a buy-sell agreement be set forth in a footnote to the financial state-
ments.

The following is an example of a footnote describing such a situation that
might appear on the balance sheet in reference to the cash surrender value
account:

The company is the owner and beneficiary of key-man life
insurance policies carried on the lives of X, Y, and Z, bearing
face value amounts of $500,000, $500,000, and $450,000, re-
spectively. No loans are outstanding against the policies, but
there is no restriction in the policy regarding loans.

The life insurance contracts are accompanied by mandatory
stock purchase agreements to the amount of the proceeds of
the life insurance. In the event of the insured's death, the
"fair market value" of the stock will, by previous action, be
established by the X Appraisal Company. The insured's estate
will be obligated to sell, and the company will be obligated to
purchase, the insured's stock up to the appraisal value of the
stock or the proceeds of insurance, whichever is the lesser.
The purpose is to protect the company against an abrupt
change in ownership or management.

[Revised, April 2010.]

.03 Omission of Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance from
Assets

Inquiry—Clearly, cash surrender values of life insurance may be included
among the assets in the balance sheet of an enterprise. Is this mandatory, or
may management elect to omit this item from the assets on the theory that its
inclusion will be misleading since the insurance is carried for the purpose of
covering the loss it is anticipated will be sustained as a result of the death of a
key official?

Reply—If the enterprise retains all valuable contract rights incident to
ownership of the life insurance policy, then it is mandatory from the standpoint
of full accountability to reflect the asset status of the cash surrender value of the
policy. Not to reflect the cash surrender value would be tantamount to creating
a hidden reserve which would be contrary to generally accepted accounting
principles.

.04 Corporation's Policy on Life of Debtor Corporation's Officer

Inquiry—A client took out a straight life insurance policy on the life of
an officer of another corporation which is indebted to the client. The client
corporation hopes to receive the proceeds of the insurance policy tax free and
has not deducted the yearly premium payments as expenses. The officer is over
65 years old, and, therefore, there is a great possibility he or she will die prior
to the full payment of the outstanding balance of the corporation's debt. The
prior CPA reported the accumulated premium payments on the Balance Sheet
as "Investment in Life Insurance."
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Is it proper to show total premiums paid as an investment under these
circumstances?

Reply—Where a corporation takes out a life insurance policy on the life of
a debtor corporation's officer (assuming that there is an insurable interest), the
manner of accounting for the premiums should not differ from the manner of
accounting for premiums paid on the life of the corporation's own officer. The
premiums should be broken down between the expense and the cash surrender
value elements. Accordingly, the accumulated premiums account should be
analyzed to determine the cash surrender value as at the balance sheet date,
the expense portion for the period under audit, and the remaining portion
which should be treated as a correction of prior period earnings. See Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, for a discussion of correction
of an error.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.05] Reserved

.06 Measurement of Cash Value Life Insurance Policy
Inquiry—How should a company measure and record a cash value life
insurance policy that it purchases for itself on the company's balance sheet?

Reply—In accordance with FASB ASC 325-30-25-1, "an investment in a
life insurance contract shall be reported as an asset."

FASB ASC 325-30-35-1 states

An asset representing an investment in a life insurance contract shall
be measured subsequently at the amount that could be realized under
the insurance contract as of the date of the statement of financial
position. It is not appropriate for the purchaser of life insurance to
recognize income from death benefits on an actuarially expected basis.
The death benefit shall not be realized before the actual death of the
insured, and recognizing death benefits on a projected basis is not an
appropriate measure of the asset.

FASB ASC 325-30-35-3 states

FASB ASC 325-30-30-1 states that a policyholder shall consider any
additional amounts included in the contractual terms of the policy in
determining the amount that could be realized under the life insur-
ance contract. When it is probable that contractual terms would limit
the amount that could be realized under the life insurance contract,
these contractual limitations shall be considered when determining
the realizable amounts. Those amounts that are recoverable by the
policyholder at the discretion of the insurance entity shall be excluded
from the amount that could be realized under the life insurance con-
tract.

FASB ASC 325-30-35-4 states that "amounts that are recoverable by the pol-
icyholder in periods beyond one year from the surrender of the policy shall be
discounted in accordance with Topic 835."

FASB ASC 325-30-35-5 states

A policyholder shall determine the amount that could be realized
under the life insurance contract assuming the surrender of an
individual-life by individual-life policy (or certificate by certificate in
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a group policy). Any amount that ultimately would be realized by the
policyholder upon the assumed surrender of the final policy (or final
certificate in a group policy) shall be included in the amount that could
be realized under the insurance contract. See Example 1 (paragraph
325-30-55-1) for an illustration of this guidance.

FASB ASC 325-30-35-6 states

A policyholder shall not discount the cash surrender value component
of the amount that could be realized under the insurance contract
when contractual restrictions on the ability to surrender a policy ex-
ist, as long as the holder of the policy continues to participate in the
changes in the cash surrender value as it had done before the sur-
render request. If, however, the contractual restrictions prevent the
policyholder from participating in changes to the cash surrender value
component, then the amount that could be realized under the insur-
ance contract at a future date shall be discounted in accordance with
Topic 835.

FASB ASC 325-30-35-7 states "if a group of individual-life policies or a group
policy only allows for the surrender of all of the individual-life policies or certifi-
cates as a group, then the policyholder shall determine the amount that could
be realized under the insurance contract on a group basis."

§2240.06

[Issue Date: May 2010.]
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Q&A Section 2250
Intangible Assets

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Accounting Treatment of Agreements Not to Compete

Inquiry—A company enters into an agreement with an outgoing officer
whereby the company will make future periodic payments to the officer in
return for the officer's agreement not to compete with the company for the
period coinciding with the payments.

Would it be appropriate for the company to record a liability for the total
future payments to the former officer and a corresponding intangible asset for
the covenant?

Reply—The authoritative literature does not provide specific guidance for
the treatment of executory contracts, which require future consideration upon
the occurrence of certain events.

FASB Concept No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements—a replacement
of FASB Concepts Statement No. 3 (incorporating an amendment of FASB
Concepts Statement No. 2), paragraph 36 specifies that a characteristic of a
liability is that "the transaction or other event obligating the entity has already
happened." Because the event that gives rise to the company's obligation is
the former officer's forbearance from competition, many accountants believe
that the transaction should be recorded prospectively, as the payments are
"earned" by the former officer. They would disclose the contractual obligation
as a commitment in the company's notes to its financial statements.

FASB Concept No. 6 paragraph 26 provides that a characteristic of an asset
is that "it embodies a probable future benefit." Accordingly, the company would
only record an intangible asset if the payment to the former officer preceded
the period of forbearance.

[.07] Reserved

©2015, AICPA §2250[.07]






Other Assets 111
Q&A Section 2260

Other Assets

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Legal Expenses Incurred to Defend Patent Infringement Suit
Inquiry—A company is sued for patent infringement. Should the cost to
defend the patent be capitalized or expensed?

Reply—The choice of capitalizing or expensing depends on the outcome
of the lawsuit. FASB Concept No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements—a re-
placement of FASB Concepts Statement No. 3 (incorporating an amendment of
FASB Concepts Statement No. 2), paragraph 247 states ". .. the legal and other
costs of successfully defending a patent from infringement are 'deferred legal
costs' only in the sense that they are part of the cost of retaining and obtaining
the future economic benefit of the patent."

If defense of the patent lawsuit is successful, costs may be capitalized to
the extent of an evident increase in the value of the patent. Legal costs which
relate to an unsuccessful outcome should be expensed.
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.01 Estimated Liability for Unemployment Claims

Inquiry—Under state law, a corporation has a choice of the method to pay
unemployment insurance contributions. The corporation may pay a percentage
of gross wages or may reimburse the state employment commission directly for
actual unemployment claims. A client chose to reimburse the state for the
actual claims which may arise. If no claims against the client are filed, may
the client record an expense and a liability for unemployment claims?

Reply—The estimated unemployment insurance costs should be accrued
currently based on the client's estimated or past history of unemployment.
Unemployment insurance cost should be related to the period worked by the
employees. Not recording unemployment costs until claims are actually filed
would result in a mismatching of revenues and expenses. Such an approach
would be unacceptable under generally accepted accounting principles.

[.02] Reserved

.03 Accounting for Possible Refunds of Leasing Fees

Inquiry—A company franchises distributorships for home and office oxygen
inhalator units. The licensees lease the units from the company and pay an
initial leasing fee for each unit before receipt of the unit. As stipulated in the
franchise agreement, the licensee is entitled to a refund, upon termination of
the franchise agreement and return of the units, of a specified amount of the
initial leasing fee depending on the period of time that the units are leased
out. When units are returned they can usually be redistributed with little or no
repair. Is there a liability for the return of a portion of the initial leasing fees?

Reply—The returned units can usually be redistributed with little or no
repair. Therefore, accounting for these units would be similar to accounting for
returnable containers. Because the licensee pays the initial leasing fee prior
to delivery of the units, there is no receivable to be offset by an "allowance
account" for the estimated refunds, and so the amounts for estimated refunds
should be shown as a liability.

.04 Date for Accrual of Tax Penalties

Inquiry—A company has received certain billings from the federal gov-
ernment for interest and penalties for late filing of federal withholding taxes.
Some of these notices were received prior to the balance sheet date, while other
notices were received after the balance sheet date, but in either case they apply
to periods prior to the balance sheet date. Should liabilities for the interest and
penalties be shown on the balance sheet?

Reply—Paragraph .02 of AU-C section 560, Subsequent Events and Subse-
quently Discovered Facts (AICPA, Professional Standards), states, in part:

Financial statements may be affected by certain events that occur after
the date of the financial statements . . . financial reporting frameworks
ordinarily identify two types of events:

a. Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at
the date of the financial statements

b. Those that provide evidence of conditions that arose after
the date of the financial statements
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The auditor's objective is to determine whether events occurring between the
date of the financial statements and the date of auditor's report that require
adjustment of, or disclosure in, the financial statements have been identified
and are appropriately reflected in the financial statements. Therefore, provision
should be made for any billings received for penalties on late filing of federal
withholding taxes which were required to be filed prior to the balance sheet
date. Similarly, any such interest should be provided for up to the balance sheet
date. Interest accrued subsequent thereto would be an expense of the following
period.

[Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved

.09 Accrual for Employer Co-Insurance Arrangements

Inquiry—A company pays for the medical expenses of its active employees
but purchased "stop-gap" or "excess of loss" insurance to cover medical expenses
exceeding $10,000, lifetime benefit, per employee. What amount, if any, should
the company accrue to cover its liability?

Reply—Although Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Account-
ing Standards Codification (ASC) 450, Contingencies, excludes employment-
related costs, that accounting guidance may be appropriate for this situation.
FASB ASC 450-20-25-2 states that an accrual for a loss contingency is required
if the loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
Medical expenses incurred by the employee during the reporting period should
be accrued. This includes expenses incurred during the reporting period but
submitted after the balance sheet date. The accrual should be based on all
relevant data (including statistical data), the company's historical experience,
and its expectations of the future. Some of this data may be available from
insurance administrators or actuaries.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.10 Compensated Absences

Inquiry—A company with a June 30 year end has a sick pay policy that
states that an employee employed for at least three months is entitled to ten
sick days annually. The employee is entitled to these days as of January 1 and
any unused sick days as of December 31, are paid to these workers. Should
the company accrue a liability as of June 30 for the unused sick days of these
workers?

Reply—Yes. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 710, Compensation—General, indicates that sick
pay that is customarily paid even though the absence from work is not actually
the result of an illness, should not be considered sick pay in applying the
provisions of paragraphs 6—7 of FASB ASC 710-10-25. In considering necessity
for making an accrual, the four criteria in FASB ASC 710-10-25-1 should be
considered.
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In determining the amount of the accrual, the guidance in FASB ASC
450, Contingencies, concerning the probability of future payment should be
considered. Specifically, the company should consider its payment history and
employee turnover in calculating the accrual.

In this example, if an employee had taken three days through June 30,
the remaining accrual would be seven days. If this example were modified, and
the days were earned on a pro rata basis throughout the year, the company
would record a liability for the expected payment to be made to the employee
for only the accumulated right through June 30. With the same three days
taken through June 30, the company would have an accrual for the remaining
two days in the June 30 financial statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 3200

Long-Term Debt

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Amortization Period for Placement Fee When Mortgage
Refinanced

Inquiry—A company paid a $100,000 mortgage placement fee for an eigh-
teen year mortgage. Ten months later, it became apparent that a refinancing
of a significantly larger mortgage would be needed. The company negotiated
a commitment with a bank for a larger mortgage to be placed one year from
the date of this agreement. At the time of the commitment, in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codifica-
tion (ASC) 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, which deals with intangible
assets, the company reduced the amortization period of the placement fee to
the expected remaining period of the original mortgage.

Two months before the closing date of the original mortgage, at which
time almost the entire prepaid mortgage fee had been amortized, the bank was
unable to make the loan and exercised an option to extend the closing date
of the old mortgage and the placement date of the new mortgage for six more
months.

Should the amortization period now be extended to the new settlement
date?

Reply—The mortgage placement fee should not be viewed as an intan-
gible asset but as a deferred charge under FASB ASC 835, Interest. It is an
amortizable cost incurred to secure the mortgage.

The unamortized amount of the fee at the time when the bank exercises the
option should be amortized over the remaining six month period. The reasons
for the exercise of the option do not change the fact that the period benefited
has been extended. The change should be treated as a change in accounting
estimate, in accordance with FASB ASC 250, Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections. If the new mortgage is placed before the end of the six month
option period, any balance of the fee should then be written off in accordance
with FASB ASC 470-50 and FASB ASC 470-50-45-1, which deal with early
extinguishment of debt.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved

.09 Financial Statement Presentation of "Pay Any Day" Loans
Inquiry—Corporation A finances its purchases of equipment through "pay
any day" loans. Under this type of financing arrangement, the borrower signs a
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note and security agreement which sets forth the amount financed, the finance
charge, and the amount of monthly payment. This instrument differs from
a conditional sales contract or "add-on" loan. The "add-on" loan is a contract
calling for a specified number of payments, including interest, and therefore the
liability is the total amount to be repaid over the life of the contract; whereas,
the "pay any day" loan, or note and security agreement is a simple interest loan
and the agreement shows the finance charge in order to disclose the amount of
interest that will be paid if each installment payment is made on its exact due
date.

What is the appropriate financial statement presentation of "pay any day"
loans?

Reply—A "pay any day" loan can be recorded and reported in the financial
statements at its face amount plus accrued interest because it is in effect a
term loan with interest charged at the current rate. The amount of the loan, if
any, expected to be paid within one year would be shown as a current liability.

.10 Determining the Allocation for Lease Payments for a Lease
Capitalized at Fair Market Value

Inquiry—According to Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Ac-
counting Standards Codification (ASC) 840-30-30-1, a lessee accounting for a
capital lease, records an asset and an obligation equal to the present value of
the minimum lease payments at the beginning of the lease term, excluding any
portion of the payments which represent executory costs (such as insurance
and taxes) which will be paid by the lessor. However, if this amount is greater
than the fair market value of the leased property, the amount recorded as the
asset and obligation should be fair market value. When the asset and obliga-
tion are recorded at the fair market value, since the interest rate is not known,
how should the amount for the lease payments be recorded?

Reply—FASB ASC 840-30-35-6 states that during the lease term, each
minimum lease payment shall be allocated between a reduction of the obliga-
tion and interest expense so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the obligation. This is the "interest" method described
in paragraphs 2-3 of FASB ASC 835-30-35.

When the asset to be recorded based on the present value of the minimum
lease payments exceeds the fair market value of the asset, it is usually because
the incremental borrowing rate used to determine present value is lower than
the interest rate implicit in the lease.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.11 Effect of Sales Taxes on the Determination of Present Value of
Minimum Lease Payments

Inquiry—A company leases a machine for $14,000 a month for 72 months.
The monthly invoice received from the lessor includes the stipulated monthly
rent plus a charge for state sales taxes. The lease does not meet the 90 per-
cent criterion of a capital lease (i.e., the present value of the minimum lease
payments excluding executory costs equals or exceeds 90 percent of the fair
value of the leased property) if sales taxes are excluded from minimum lease
payments. The criterion is met if both the rent and sales taxes are included as
minimum lease payments.

Should the minimum lease payments include sales taxes?
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Reply—Practice in this area varies. Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 840-10-25 describes, in part,
minimum lease payments as the payments that the lessee is obligated to make
or can be required to make in connection with the leased property. However,
the lessee's obligation to pay (apart from rental payments) executory costs such
as insurance, maintenance, and taxes in connection with leased property are
excluded. Many accountants interpret this to mean that all taxes, including
sales taxes, levied on lease payments are considered executory costs since the
lessor is merely acting as a collection agent for the taxing authority.

Other accountants believe that only taxes other than sales taxes (such as
property taxes) should be excluded from the minimum lease payments because
sales taxes are often capitalized as part of the cost of purchased assets. FASB
ASC 840-10-10-1 states that the criteria are derived from the concept that a
lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to own-
ership should be accounted for as the acquisition of an asset and the incurrence
of an obligation.

Because the authoritative pronouncements do not specifically address
whether sales taxes should be included as part of minimum lease payments,
practice varies and should be determined by the company's general policy for
accounting for sales taxes on purchased assets.

Regardless of which approach is used, in order to properly apply the 90
percent test referred to in FASB ASC 840-10-25-1(d), the components of the
numerator and denominator should be the same. For example, if the sales
taxes are included as part of the minimum lease payments (the numerator)
then the sales taxes should be included in the fair value of the leased asset (the
denominator).

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.12 Balance Sheet Classification of Revolving Line of Credit

Inquiry—A company has a revolving line of credit with a bank. The com-
pany is only required to make monthly interest payments. No principal pay-
ments are required. In the event the credit line is terminated, the principal is
due 12 months after the date of termination.

Should the principal amount be classified as current or long-term in a
classified balance sheet?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 210-10-45-9 states that liabilities whose regular and
ordinary liquidation is expected to occur within a relatively short period of time,
usually 12 months, are intended for inclusion in the current liability classifi-
cation. If the line of credit has not been terminated at the balance sheet date,
the principal amount should be classified as long-term, unless the company
intends to repay the outstanding debt within 12 months.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Uncertainty Arising From Violation of Debt Agreement

Inquiry—At the end of 20X1, a company was in violation of its long-term
debt covenant and was unable to obtain a waiver from the bank. It therefore
reclassified its debt to current and appropriate footnote disclosures were made.
During 20X2, the violation was cured. What is the proper classification of the
debt in the company's 20X2 comparative financial statements?
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Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) ASC 470-10-45-11 states that:

Current liabilities shall include long-term obligations that are or will
be callable by the creditor either because the debtor's violation of
a provision of the debt agreement at the balance sheet date makes
the obligation callable or because the violation, if not cured within a
specified grace period, will make the obligation callable. Accordingly,
such callable obligations shall be classified as current liabilities unless
either of the following conditions is met:

a. The creditor has waived or subsequently lost (for exam-
ple, the debtor has cured the violation after the balance
sheet date and the obligation is not callable at the time
the financial statements are issued) the right to demand
repayment for more than one year (or operating cycle, if
longer) from the balance sheet date. If the obligation is
callable because of violations of certain provisions of the
debt agreement, the creditor needs to waive its right with
regard only to those violations.

b. For long-term obligations containing a grace period within
which the debtor may cure the violation, it is probable
that the violation will be cured within that period, thus
preventing the obligation from becoming callable.

Since the violation was cured in 20X2, the debt should be classified as
long-term in the 20X2 financial statements. The debt should not be reclassified
to long term in the 20X1 financial statements because it was a current liability
based on the facts existing at the 20X1 balance sheet date.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.14] Reserved

.15 Disclosure of Five-Year Maturities on Long-Term Debt

Inquiry—A company entered into a 10-year loan agreement with a lender.
The mortgage note contains a variable interest rate based on prime plus one
percent. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 440, Commitments, the company will
disclose the maturities on the debt for each of the next five succeeding years.
Should the disclosure include principal and interest?

Reply—No. The required disclosure of the amount of scheduled repayments
for each of the five succeeding fiscal years relates only to principal repayments
and should not include interest. Disclosure is also called for when interest rates
vary with the prime rate.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.16 Amortization of Premium or Discount in Investment Securities
With an Early Call Date

Inquiry—Investment securities may be acquired at par value, at a pre-
mium, or at a discount. If the investment securities have an earlier call date,
how should the amortization of premium or accretion of discount be recorded?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 310-20 applies to the accounting for discounts, pre-
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miums, and commitment fees associated with the purchase of loans and other
debt securities such as corporate bonds. In accordance with FASB ASC 310-
20-35-26, "the calculation of the constant effective yield necessary to apply the
interest method shall use the payment terms required by the loan contract, and
prepayments of principal shall not be anticipated to shorten the loan term." Ac-
cordingly, the period of amortization or accretion is from the purchase date to
the maturity date. As provided by FASB ASC 310-20-35-26, in order to amor-
tize the premium or accrete the discount to an early call date, the enterprise
must hold a large number of similar loans for which prepayments are probable
and the timing and amount of prepayments can be reasonably estimated.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.17 Disclosure of Covenant Violation and Subsequent Bank
Waiver

Inquiry—At the balance-sheet date, an entity was in violation of certain
provisions of the loan covenant associated with its long-term debt. Under the
terms of the loan agreement, the obligation is now callable by the creditor.
Subsequent to the balance-sheet date, the bank waived its right to demand
repayment for more than one year from the balance-sheet date. Therefore,
the loan remained classified as long-term, per Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 470-10-45-12. Does
the covenant violation and subsequent bank waiver need to be disclosed in the
financial statements?

Reply—The authoritative literature applicable to nonpublic entities does
not address disclosure of debt covenant violations existing at the balance-sheet
date that have been waived by the creditor for a stated period of time. Never-
theless, disclosure of the existing violation(s) and the waiver period should be
considered for reasons of adequate disclosure. If the covenant violation resulted
from nonpayment of principal or interest on the debt, inability to maintain re-
quired financial ratios, or other such financial covenants, that information may
be vital to users of the financial statements even though the debt is not callable.
If the lender has waived the right for greater than one year but retained the
future covenant requirements (i.e., covenant requirements will have to be met
at interim dates during the next 12 months), the accounting and disclosure
provisions of FASB ASC 470, Debt, apply.

For SEC registrants, Regulations S-X, Article 4, Section 210-4-08(c), re-
quires disclosure of the amount of the obligation and the period of waiver
whenever a creditor has waived its right to call the debt for a stated period of
time.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 3400

Contingent Liabilities

.01 Contested Liability

Inquiry—A company acquired the entire outstanding stock of another com-
pany several years ago. The acquired company was reorganized under IRS Code
Section 334(b)(2) causing its building and equipment to be written up in value.
Inventory was later written down.

An unpaid portion of the original purchase price is claimed by the for-
mer owners of the acquired company, but this is contested by the acquiring
company on the grounds that the value of the acquired company's stock was
misrepresented.

The acquired company's shareholders intend to sue the acquiring company
for the unpaid balance, but a suit has not yet been filed. How should the amount
due under the original purchase contract and the possible suit be reflected on
the acquiring company's financial statements?

Reply—Because the possibility of a suit exists, footnote disclosure describ-
ing the entire dispute should be made, including legal counsel's comment that
no suit is pending at this time. The amount due under the original purchase
contract, plus accrued interest, should still be reported as a liability. No ad-
justments should be made in the acquiring company's financial records until
the dispute is settled or legal counsel advises that a statute of limitations ef-
fectively bars filing of the suit in question and the company is not legally liable
to pay the debt.

[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved

.04 Accounting for Issuance of Cents Off Coupons

Inquiry—A client includes with its consumer product a coupon for cents off
on the next purchase of the product. Should the coupon be accounted for as a
reduction of the selling price when the second product is sold?

Reply— Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 450-20-05-10 would consider the possible future
coupon claims as a loss contingency to be evaluated as a future event. More
than likely, the redemption of some or all of the coupons would be considered
a probable event as defined in FASB ASC glossary. The amount to be accrued
and charged to earnings at the time the first product is sold should be based
on a reasonable estimate of the amount of coupons expected to be presented
for redemption. This estimate could be based on experience in previous promo-
tions.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved
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Q&A Section 3500

Commitments

.01 Accounting for Contract to Cut Timber

Inquiry—A corporation is engaged in the forest products industry and
purchases timber under both "pay as cut" (specifies a rate the buyer will pay
per unit of volume cut) and "lump sum" (buyer pays a fixed amount for the right
to cut timber on a specific tract of land). The corporation agrees to purchase
timber on land which is identified in the contract. The exact amount of timber
purchased can vary in total footage as well as species due to the nature of the
goods. Is it proper to recognize the transactions as assets and liabilities on the
balance sheet?

Reply—It would be improper to recognize a contract to cut timber as an
asset and a liability unless the contract, at the time it was entered into, resulted
in the purchase of the timber.

A distinction must be made between a contract that is executory in nature
and one in which a sale and a purchase of lumber has occurred. Evidence of a
purchase would be the transfer of title to the lumber at the time the contract
is signed. Such a transfer usually occurs with lump sum contracts and may
occur under pay as cut contracts if they include performance guarantees or
risk of monetary damages if not performed. Therefore, those contracts would
generally be recognized as assets and liabilities.

Receiving title at the time the timber is cut rather than at the time the
contract is signed makes the contract executory. It is generally accepted prac-
tice to adequately disclose the nature and amounts of commitments relating to
executory contracts in the notes to financial statements. Therefore, pay as cut
contracts without performance guarantees or risk of monetary damages would
generally not be recognized as assets and liabilities until performance occurs.

.02 Liability Under Foreign Bank's Letter of Payment Guarantee

Inquiry—A client, an import-export firm, agreed to purchase goods from
a foreign manufacturer. The agreement calls for advance payment with the
goods being delivered over the twelve-month period following the date of the
agreement. The client arranged to make this advance payment through a letter
of credit issued by a U.S. bank. The U.S. bank has received a letter of payment
guarantee issued by a bank in the foreign country. If the supplier fails to make
shipments under the terms of the agreement, the U.S. bank will look to the
foreign bank for any unpaid advances owed to the U.S. bank by the client. The
U.S. bank will look to the client for payment of all amounts represented by
shipments to the client under the terms of the agreement.

Is the client directly liable for the amount advanced by the U.S. bank
through its letter of credit, or does the client become liable only as the goods
are received and payment is due the U.S. bank?

Reply—The client is directly liable for the amount advanced to the foreign
supplier. It appears from the description of the transactions that the foreign
bank is contingently liable if the supplier does not perform under the agree-
ment. The offsetting asset would be classified as an "Advance to Suppliers."
Additional footnote disclosure of the financial arrangements would also be re-
quired.
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[.03] Reserved

.04 Recognition of Losses on Purchase Commitments

Inquiry—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 330-10-35-17 states: "A net loss on firm purchase
commitments for goods for inventory, measured in the same way as are in-
ventory losses, shall be recognized in the accounts". FASB ASC 330-10-50-5
further states: "The amounts of net losses on firm purchase commitments ac-
crued under paragraph 330-10-35-17 shall be disclosed separately in the income
statement."

Does this statement mean that the measurement of losses cannot be done
on an item by item basis but must only be done if there is an overall net loss
on purchase commitments?

Reply—Net losses apply to specific purchase commitments and contracts,
and not necessarily to components of major categories of inventories, as dis-
cussed in FASB ASC 330-10-35-8.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.05 Letters of Credit
Inquiry—Should a company report its outstanding letters of credit as a
liability in the financial statements?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 440-10-50-1 requires disclosure of unused letters of
credit. They are commitments and should not be reported as a liability in the
financial statements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.06 Covenants Imposed by Loan Agreements

Inquiry—Restrictive covenants under certain loan agreements of Company
A require the Company to maintain a special level of working capital, reduce
the amount of its debts, and restrict the amount of retained earnings available
for dividend payments. Should the restrictive covenants be disclosed?

Reply—FASB ASC 440-10-50-1 requires the disclosure of restrictive
covenants.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

.07 Disclosure of Unused Lines of Credit
Inquiry—Should nonpublic companies disclose the existence of unused
lines of credit that are available as of the balance sheet date?

Reply—Although public companies are required [pursuant to SEC Regu-
lation S-X, section 210.5-02.19(b)] to disclose significant unused lines of credit
for short-term financing in the notes, there is no such explicit requirement
for nonpublic companies under generally accepted accounting principles. How-
ever, under certain circumstances, disclosure by nonpublic companies may be
advisable based on the general principle of adequate disclosure.

The notes, as well as the financial statements, should be informative of
matters that may affect their use, understanding, and interpretation.
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[Amended, June 1995; Revised, October 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the withdrawal of SAS No. 69; Revised, December 2012, to
reflect conforming changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS
Nos. 122-126.]

©2015, AICPA §3500.07






Deferred Credits 131
Q&A Section 3600
Deferred Credits

.01 Balance Sheet Presentation of Unearned Revenue

Inquiry—A client, a motor club with an insurance company subsidiary,
has annually contended that unearned insurance premiums and membership
dues should be presented on the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income
immediately preceding the members' equity and should not be included in the
amount for total liabilities. The client recognizes the revenues on the insurance
premiums and membership dues on a pro rata basis over the period covered by
the insurance policy and the memberships, therefore, the auditors have main-
tained that the unearned portion of the insurance premiums and membership
dues represent a liability on the part of the client to render services in the
future.

Is it appropriate to show these unearned premiums and dues outside the
liability section of the balance sheet?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement
in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraph 84, indicates that
amounts received for goods or services in advance are not treated as revenue
of the period in which they are received but as revenue of the period or periods
in which they are earned. These amounts are carried as "unearned revenue"—
that is, liabilities to transfer goods or render services in the future—until the
earnings process is complete. Therefore, the unearned portions of the insurance
premiums and membership dues represent liabilities to provide services in
the future. While the description of the liabilities might vary, to present the
unearned premiums and membership dues outside of the liability section of the
balance sheet would be inappropriate.

[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
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Q&A Section 3700

Pension Obligations

.01 Effect of New Mortality Tables on Nongovernmental Employee
Benefit Plans (EBPs) and Nongovernmental Entities That Sponsor
EBPs

Inquiry—Nongovernmental EBPs and nongovernmental entities that
sponsor EBPs (sponsoring entities) incorporate assumptions about partici-
pants' mortality in the calculation of the benefit liability for financial reporting
purposes. Professional associations of actuaries occasionally publish updated
mortality tables and mortality improvement projection scales (collectively re-
ferred to as mortality tables for purposes of this Technical Question and An-
swer) to reflect changes in mortality conditions based on recent historical trends
and data. Established actuarial companies also may develop mortality tables
based on other information and assumptions. For financial reporting purposes,
how and when should nongovernmental EBPs and nongovernmental sponsor-
ing entities consider these updated mortality tables if their financial state-
ments have not yet been issued at the time the updated mortality tables are
published?

Reply—Nongovernmental EBPs and nongovernmental sponsoring enti-
ties should consider the specific requirements of generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), which require the use of a mortality assumption that reflects
the best estimate of the plan's future experience for purposes of estimating the
plan's obligation! as of the current measurement date (that is, the date at
which the obligation is presented in the financial statements). In making this
estimate, GAAP requires that all available information through the date the fi-
nancial statements are available to be issued should be evaluated to determine
if the information provides additional evidence about conditions that existed
at the balance sheet date.

FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 855-10-55-1 specifies that
information that becomes available after the balance sheet date (but before the
financial statements are available to be issued) may be indicative of conditions
existing at the balance sheet date when that information is a culmination of
conditions that existed over a long period of time. Updated mortality tables are
based on historical trends and data that go back many years; therefore, the
existence of updated mortality conditions is not predicated upon the date that
the updated mortality tables are published. Management of a nongovernmental
EBP or a nongovernmental sponsoring entity should understand and evaluate
the reasonableness of the mortality assumption chosen, even when assisted by
an actuary acting as a management's specialist, and document its evaluation
and the basis for selecting the mortality tables it decided to use for its current
financial reporting period. A management's specialist is defined in paragraph
.05 of AU-C section 500, Audit Evidence (AICPA, Professional Standards), as an
individual or organization possessing expertise in a field other than accounting

1 Obligations that use a mortality assumption include, but are not limited to, defined benefit
obligations under pension and other postretirement plans, and certain postemployment and deferred
compensation arrangements. In accordance with paragraphs 18 and 21 of FASB Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 715-30-35 and FASB ASC 960-20-35-4, changes in actuarial assumptions
result in gains and losses that are recognized as they arise, and the comparative obligation amounts
that have been previously reported would not be adjusted for issuance of updated mortality tables.
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or auditing, whose work in that field is used by the entity to assist the entity
in preparing the financial statements.

Many defined benefit pension plans present plan obligations as of the
beginning of the plan year, as allowed under FASB ASC 960-205-45-1. Although
this presentation is before the balance sheet date, it represents a measurement
of an amount that is presented in the financial statements that should reflect
management's best estimate of the plan's mortality and other assumptions.
The assumptions used to estimate the plan's obligation should be evaluated
based on all available information through the date the financial statements
are available to be issued, including determining whether updated mortality
conditions existed as of the date the obligation is presented in the financial
statements (that is, the beginning of the year).

Auditors are required to evaluate the competence, capabilities, and objec-
tivity of a management's specialist; obtain an understanding of the work of that
specialist; and evaluate the appropriateness of that specialist's work as audit
evidence for the relevant assertion. Considerations may include evaluating the
relevance and reasonableness of significant assumptions and methods used by
that specialist. Refer to paragraphs .08 and .A35—-.A49 of AU-C section 500 and
the "Using the Work of a Specialist" section in chapter 2, "Planning and Gen-
eral Auditing Considerations," of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Em-
ployee Benefit Plans, for further guidance. In addition, the auditor is responsible
for evaluating subsequent events under AU-C section 560, Subsequent Events
and Subsequently Discovered Facts (AICPA, Professional Standards). That sec-
tion requires the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about
whether events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the
date of the auditor's report that require adjustment of, or disclosure in, the
financial statements are appropriately reflected in those financial statements
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

[Issue Date: February 2015.]

§3700.01 ©2015, AICPA



Table of Contents 135

Q&A Section 4000

CAPITAL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Section

4110  Issuance of Capital Stock
.01 Expenses Incurred in Public Sale of Capital Stock
.02 Stock Issued for No Consideration
.03 Stock Issued for Accounting and Management Services
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved
.07 Expenses Incurred in Withdrawn Public Offering
[.08] Reserved
.09 Costs Incurred to Acquire Treasury Stock
.10 Costs Incurred in Shelf Registration
.11 Default on Stock Subscribed
4120  Reacquisition of Capital Stock
[.O1] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Repurchase of Stock in Excess of Retained Earnings and
Additional Paid-in Capital

[.04] Reserved

.05 Purchase of Treasury Shares for an Amount in Excess of Market
Price

4130  Warrants
[.O1] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
.03 Warrants Reacquired
4150  Stock Dividends and Stock Splits
[.O1] Reserved
.02 Stock Dividend Affecting Market Price of Stock
[.03] Reserved
4160  Contributed Capital
.01 Payment of Corporate Debt by Stockholders
[.02] Reserved
4200  Retained Earnings
.01 Foreign Currency Translation —Retained Earnings
4210  Dividends
.01 Write-Off of Liquidating Dividends
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
.04 Accrual of Preferred Dividends

©2015, AICPA Contents



136 Table of Contents
Section

4230  Capital Transactions
[.O1] Reserved

.02 Exchange of No Par Common Shares for Par Value Preferred
Shares

.03 Use of Stockholder’s Assets to Repay Corporate Loan

Contents ©2015, AICPA



Issuance of Capital Stock 137
Q&A Section 4110
Issuance of Capital Stock

.01 Expenses Incurred in Public Sale of Capital Stock
Inquiry—A closely held corporation is issuing stock for the first time to the
public.

How would costs, such as legal and accounting fees, incurred as a result of
this issue, be handled in the accounting records?

Reply—Direct costs of obtaining capital by issuing stock should be deducted
from the related proceeds, and the net amount recorded as contributed stock-
holders' equity. Assuming no legal prohibitions, issue costs should be deducted
from capital stock or capital in excess of par or stated value.

Such costs should be limited to the direct cost of issuing the security. Thus,
there should be no allocation of officers' salaries, and care should be taken that
legal and accounting fees do not include any fees that would have been incurred
in the absence of such issuance.

.02 Stock Issued for No Consideration

Inquiry—A corporation issued stock without receiving any consideration
and set up goodwill to offset the credit to capital stock. Was this transaction
properly recorded?

Reply—This is primarily a legal rather than an accounting question, and it
would be advisable to obtain legal advice as to the effect of such issuance. If such
stock were legally issued, the appropriate entry would be to show the offset as
discount on capital stock issued. Goodwill should only be recognized when ac-
quired, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Ac-
counting Standards Codification (ASC) 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.03 Stock Issued for Accounting and Management Services

Inquiry—A newly formed corporation is going public and wishes to issue
shares of stock for certain services, such as accounting, legal, underwriting,
printing, etc.

How should the value for these services be set up on the books of the
corporation?

Reply—It would be appropriate to record the stock issued at the fair value
of the stock or services rendered, whichever is the more clearly evident. The
recipients should be able to furnish evidence as to such fair value. Since the
amounts the Securities and Exchange Commission might consider to be fair
value cannot be predicted, a consultation with the staff of the Commission
might be advisable before formal submission of the financial statements.

[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved

.07 Expenses Incurred in Withdrawn Public Offering
Inquiry—What is the proper accounting for the costs of a public offering
that was withdrawn?
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Reply—Accounting Research Study No. 15, Stockholders' Equity, page 23,
discusses accounting for stock issue costs. The Study states that such costs are
usually deducted from contributed portions of equity, that is, capital stock or
capital in excess of stated or par value, as a reduction in the proceeds from the
sale of securities.

Since there were no proceeds from a sale of securities to offset the costs, the
costs should be charged to current year's income, but not as an extraordinary
item.

[.08] Reserved

.09 Costs Incurred to Acquire Treasury Stock

Inquiry—A company has incurred legal and accounting costs arising from
the acquisition of treasury stock. How should the costs be classified in the
company's financial statements?

Reply—There is no authoritative literature on this particular subject. Some
accountants believe that costs associated with the acquisition of treasury stock
should be treated in a manner similar to stock issue costs. Stock issue costs
are usually accounted for as a deduction from the gross proceeds of the sale of
stock. Costs associated with the acquisition of treasury stock may be added to
the cost of the treasury stock.

.10 Costs Incurred in Shelf Registration

Inquiry—A public company incurs legal and other fees in connection with
an SEC filing for a stock issue it plans to offer under a shelf registration. How
should the company account for these costs?

Reply—The costs should be capitalized as a prepaid expense. When secu-
rities are taken off the shelf and sold, a portion of the costs attributable to the
securities sold should be charged against paid in capital. Any subsequent costs
incurred to keep the filing "alive" should be charged to expense as incurred.
If the filing is withdrawn, the related capitalized costs should be charged to
expense.

.11 Default on Stock Subscribed

Inquiry—A company entered into a stock subscription agreement to sell
its stock. The agreement called for three monthly payments of $10,000 after
which the stock would be issued. Although the first payment was received
by the company, the subscriber subsequently defaulted on the remaining two
payments. According to the agreement, any payments made by the subscriber
towards the stock subscription are not refundable. How should the company
account for the retention of the first $10,000 payment?

Reply—The payment should be recorded as an addition to shareholders'
equity (i.e., a credit to paid-in capital). According to Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 505-10-25-2,
capital transactions shall be excluded from the determination of net income or
the results of operations.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 4120

Reacquisition of Capital Stock

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Repurchase of Stock in Excess of Retained Earnings and Addi-
tional Paid-in Capital

Inquiry—A corporation has contracted to repurchase, over a period, some
of its own stock. The corporation does not have sufficient retained earnings and
additional paid-in capital from which to charge the excess of amounts paid over
par value. How should this repurchase be reflected in the company's financial
statements?

Reply—In many states, it would not be legal for a corporation to repurchase
shares of its own stock at a cost greater than the amount of retained earnings of
the corporation. Competent legal advice as to the effect of the agreement should
be obtained. This may be an executory contract, with only amounts currently
being paid for considered as repurchases. If this be the case, only amounts
disbursed are to be recognized in the accounts, with an offset to treasury stock.
There should of course be disclosure in a note to the financial statements of the
date, number of shares, and amounts of future payments under the contract.
Such future payments would thus include the interest factor, which would be
an additional cost of the stock, rather than being interest expense.

However, if legal counsel advises that this is in fact a completed con-
tract and enforceable, the full amount should be shown (excluding interest)
as treasury stock, with an offsetting liability. Again, there should be footnote
disclosure of the nature of the liability and of the interest rate and maturity
dates. Under these circumstances, the interest would be included as a current
expense.

[.04] Reserved

.05 Purchase of Treasury Shares for an Amount in Excess of Market
Price

Inquiry—A corporation enters into an agreement to purchase a major
block of its shares from one of its shareholders at a price in excess of its current
market price. These shares represent the controlling interest in the corpo-
ration. The purchase price of the treasury stock does not include any other
rights or privileges. At what value should the corporation record the treasury
stock?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 505-30-30-4 states that transactions do arise in which
an acquisition of an enterprise's stock may take place at prices different from
routine transactions in the open market. A block of shares representing a
controlling interest will generally trade at a price in excess of market, and a
large block of shares may trade at a price above or below the current market
price depending on whether the buyer or seller initiates the transaction. A
company's acquisition of its shares in those circumstances is solely a treasury
stock transaction and is properly accounted for at the purchase price of the
treasury shares.
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In this situation, since the purchase price does not include amounts at-
tributable to items other than the shares purchased, the entire purchase price
should be accounted for as the cost of treasury shares.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 4130

Warrants

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved

.03 Warrants Reacquired

Inquiry—Company A issued, in a prior year, stock warrants with a subor-
dinated note. The value of the warrants as determined at the date of issuance
was added to capital in excess of par value and recorded as deferred loan costs
to be amortized over the term of the loan. Company A plans to reacquire the
warrants for $110,000. Should the $110,000 be:

(a) accounted for as additional cost of the loan and amortized over the
remaining term of the loan, or

(b) accounted for as a capital transaction and deducted from capital in
excess of par value, or

(¢) accounted for in some other manner?

Reply—The purchase price of the warrants should be deducted from either
capital in excess of par value or retained earnings.
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Q&A Section 4150

Stock Dividends and Stock Splits

[.01] Reserved

.02 Stock Dividend Affecting Market Price of Stock

Inquiry—A company issued a 10 percent stock dividend. May the dividend
be treated as a stock split if the dividend resulted in a drop in the market price
of the stock?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 505-20-25-3 states, in part: "except for a few in-
stances, the issuance of additional shares of less than 20 or 25 percent of
the number of previously outstanding shares would call for treatment as a
stock dividend as described in paragraph 505-20-30-3." FASB ASC 505-20-30-3
requires a transfer from retained earnings to the category of permanent capi-
talization in an amount equal to the fair value of the additional shares issued.

In order to treat the 10 percent "stock dividend" as a "split-up effected in the
form of a dividend," the company would have to demonstrate that the additional
shares issued is "large enough to materially influence the unit market price of
the stock" as indicated in FASB ASC 505-20-25-3.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.03] Reserved
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Q&A Section 4160

Contributed Capital

.01 Payment of Corporate Debt by Stockholders

Inquiry—Three shareholders own stock in Corporations A and B. They
agree to personally pay a debt of Corporation A by giving the creditor stock
in Corporation B. How should this transaction be recorded on the books of
Corporation A?

Reply—The payments by the three stockholders of Corporation A's debt
would represent an additional contribution by the stockholders to Corporation
A. This can be recorded as a credit to "additional capital."

[.02] Reserved
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Q&A Section 4200

Retained Earnings

.01 Foreign Currency Translation—Retained Earnings

Inquiry—A parent company is translating a foreign subsidiary's financial
statements for consolidation purposes. It is the second year of operation for the
subsidiary. How should retained earnings be translated?

Reply—For assets and liabilities, Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 830-30-45-3 requires the use
of the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. For revenues, expenses, gains,
and losses, the exchange rate at the dates on which those elements are rec-
ognized shall be used. However, an appropriately weighted average exchange
rate for the period may be used to translate the income statement.

In year two, net income or loss would be translated at the weighted average
exchange rate for the current year and accumulated with the historical opening
translated retained earnings. It should be noted there may be a number of other
transactions that may affect the subsidiary's retained earnings including the
declaration of dividends.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 4210
Dividends

.01 Write-Off of Liquidating Dividends

Inquiry—Quite a few years ago, cash dividends were distributed to stock-
holders in excess of earnings. The company would now like to "clean up" the
stockholders' equity section of the balance sheet by removing the account "Prior
Years' Liquidation Dividends" which is shown as a reduction of the capital stock
account. Can the liquidating dividends account be written off against "retained
earnings" or "paid in capital in excess of par value"?

Reply—Essentially, this question is a legal one as to whether cash distri-
bution to stockholders in excess of earnings in prior years may be charged to
earnings in subsequent years. When liquidating dividends are declared, the
charge is made to accounts such as "capital repayment," "capital returned," or
"liquidating dividends" which appear on the balance sheet as offsets to paid-
in capital. By this treatment, the amount of capital returned as well as the
amount of capital originally paid in can be disclosed. Perhaps the wisest thing
to do under the circumstances is to consult legal counsel to determine whether
the write-off proposed is legal under the corporate statutes of the state. Per-
haps it is legally permissible, under the laws of incorporation, to reduce the
par or stated value of the corporation's stock, thereby creating a reduction sur-
plus which may then be used retroactively to absorb the original deficit, on the
ground that the excess payments were dividends in partial liquidation.

[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved

.04 Accrual of Preferred Dividends

Inquiry—A corporation has cumulative preferred stock. It has not paid any
dividends on this stock in the last three years. Should the corporation accrue
the preferred dividends in arrears?

Reply—Generally, preferred stock contains a cumulative provision
whereby dividends omitted in previous years must be paid prior to the pay-
ment of dividends on other outstanding shares. Since dividends do not become
a corporate liability until declared, no accrual is needed. Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 505-10-50-
5 requires entities to disclose within its financial statements (either on the
face of the statement of financial position or in the notes thereto) the aggre-
gate and per-share amounts of arrearages in cumulative preferred dividends.
Furthermore, FASB ASC 260-10-45-11 states that dividends accumulated for
the period on cumulative preferred stock (whether or not earned) should be de-
ducted from income from continuing operations and also from net income when
computing earnings per share. If there is a loss from continuing operations
or a net loss, the amount of the loss should be increased by those preferred
dividends. Preferred dividends that are cumulative only if earned should be
deducted only to the extent that they are earned.

If preferred dividends are not cumulative, only the dividends declared
should be deducted. In all cases, the effect that has been given to preferred
dividends in arriving at income available to common stockholders in computing
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basic earnings per share should be disclosed for every period for which an
income statement is presented.

[Amended, September 1997; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 4230

Capital Transactions

[.01] Reserved

.02 Exchange of No Par Common Shares for Par Value Preferred
Shares

Inquiry—The shareholders of Corporation A exchanged their no par com-
mon shares for preferred shares with a par value to "freeze" the value of stock
ownership for estate tax purposes. How should the difference between the car-
rying basis of the preferred shares and the carrying basis of the common shares
be accounted for?

Reply—The difference should be charged or credited to additional paid-in
capital. If there is no additional paid-in capital, any "debit" balance should first
be charged to retained earnings and any remaining "debit" balance should be
described in the financial statements as a discount on preferred stock. However,
in many states the law requires that issued stock must be fully paid and
nonassessable and therefore, if the par value of the preferred shares exceeds the
market value of the common shares this exchange may have legal implications
that should be considered.

.03 Use of Stockholder's Assets to Repay Corporate Loan

Inquiry—The sole owner of a corporation agreed to collateralize the com-
pany's bank loan with personal assets. As a result of financial difficulties, the
company's bank loan was called and its owner agreed to sell his personal as-
sets collateralizing the company's loan, to repay the bank debt. What is the
appropriate accounting of this transaction?

Reply—The monies used to repay the bank loan are in substance a further
capital infusion by the individual, which increases his investment in the com-
pany. The company would eliminate its liability to the bank and credit paid-in
capital.
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Q&A Section 5100
Revenue Recognition

.01 Equipment Sales Net of Trade-Ins
Inquiry—A Client who deals in heavy equipment records all sales at net of
trade-ins. Is this an acceptable accounting practice?

Reply—Support for the accounting treatment for trade-ins which this client
follows could not be found. Sales should be credited with the nominal or stated
contract price, and the difference between (a) the trade-in allowance and (b)
the amount determined by pricing the trade-in at net realizable value minus
normal profit margin should be treated as a sales allowance or discount. The
traded-in equipment should be set up in inventory at an amount which, when
reconditioning costs are added, will allow a margin approximating a normal
profit when the sale is made.

.02 Rights to Broadcast Time Received for Services

Inquiry—An advertising agency creates and sells jingles and station iden-
tifications to radio and television stations. The agency receives broadcast time
credit as part payment. This broadcast time is then resold by the agency to its
clients. Should this broadcast time be recognized by the advertising agency:

1. when the agency bills the radio or television station, or
2. when it is subsequently sold to advertisers?

Reply—The broadcast time credit should be recognized as income when the
services are billed to the station. It may be necessary to estimate the value of
the credits. A corresponding asset account should be charged. This asset would
be relieved as the broadcast time is sold by the advertising agency.

[.03] Reserved

.04 Discounts on Prepaid Funeral Arrangement Plans

Inquiry—An incorporated mortuary sells pre-need funeral plans in addi-
tion to rendering current mortuary services. These pre-need funeral plans are
sold at a discount in order to be attractive to the public. All monies received
from the sale of these plans are placed in a trust fund which has been set up
at a local bank. The bank is the trustee of the trust and makes investments
as it sees fit. The pre-need funeral plan agreements stipulate that all income
earned by the trust belong to the mortuary, and withdrawals of such income
from the trust may be made by the mortuary periodically. In return for the
feature of the agreements calling for the mortuary's entitlement to the trust
fund income, purchasers of the pre-need plans are permitted to buy the plans at
a substantial discount. The agreements also provide for fully-covered funeral
benefits in certain cases, although the plans may not be fully paid at time of
death. Another advantage to the purchasers is that the costs of their funerals
will not be influenced by increases in the cost of living index.

Certain expenses are met by the mortuary in the selling of its pre-need
funeral plans; these are recorded monthly in a separate expense account in
its general ledger. Trust fund income earned is also recorded monthly in the
mortuary's general ledger, in a separate income account. As pre-need plans
are utilized by persons who had purchased them earlier, the special discounts
mentioned in the preceding paragraph are recorded in a separate expense
account in the mortuary's general ledger. It should be emphasized here that
such discounts are not reflected as an expense in the mortuary's operations
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until such time the plans are actually used, whereas the expenses of the sales
of the plans and the income earned by the trust affect operations currently,
with no dependency whatsoever on the deaths of the purchasers or holders of
the plans.

In order to achieve a better matching of expenses with revenues accruing
from the sales of plans, could the trust fund income or the excess of trust fund
income over the expenses of selling the plans be deferred until the plans are
utilized? Or could the special discounts be charged to income at some date prior
to the utilization of the plans?

Reply—It would be more acceptable to currently accrue or recognize selling
expenses, fees and commissions, and trust fund income rather than use the
"completed contract" or deferral accounting approach. If it is a fact that costs
of furnishing services commonly exceed the trust funds expended at time of
utilizing a plan, current provision should be made on an estimated basis for
the potential or possible losses (more accurately, estimated excess of future
servicing costs over monies to be released from trust to defray same) on plans
not utilized as yet at the balance sheet date.

The special discounts are more in the nature of sales adjustments rather
than costs or expenses.

[.05] Reserved

[.06] Reserved

.07 One-Cent Sales

Inquiry—A client in the fast food business has a "one-cent sale" once a
week. For example, the sale might be two cheeseburgers for the price of one
(60¢) plus one cent. The company would record the transaction as follows:

Cash (.60 + .01) $.61
Advertisement Expense .59
Sales (.60 x 2) $1.20

The company makes this entry so that their "food costs" are not distorted,
but should an adjustment be made at the end of the year for financial reporting
purposes eliminating this advertising expense against sales?

Reply—The practice of crediting sales and charging advertising expense
for the difference between the normal sales price and the "bargain day" sales
price of merchandise is not acceptable for financial reporting. Realization of
the full sales price cannot properly be imputed under such conditions. To do so
would seem to imply that the same quantities would have been sold if the price
had not been reduced.

It might however be appropriate to adjust the cost of sales and charge
advertising for the cost of the one-cent hamburger. Such cost of sales should
include only out-of-pocket expenses.

.08 Life Membership Fees in a Club
Inquiry—A company is engaged in a service club enterprise. What is the
proper accounting for life membership fees?

Reply—The life membership fees should be allocated over the time the
individual may be expected to require the services of the club.
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[.09] Reserved

.10 Members of Country Club Assessed for Debt Retirement

Inquiry—A country club has voted to impose a special yearly assessment
on its membership for ten years. The proceeds are to be used to retire a first
mortgage on the property of the club.

The assessment is being imposed on all members including voting certifi-
cate holders and nonvoting associate members.

Is the proper accounting treatment of this transaction a contribution to
capital, or are dues to be reflected in the annual income statement?

Reply—When billing the assessments each year, the receivables from the
members can be shown as an asset with a credit to income for the special
assessment. Such amounts might then be appropriated to a special membership
equity, perhaps entitled "appropriation for retirement of debt." The financial
statements should disclose that the directors had voted a special assessment
for ten years and the amount of assessment per year. The first or the last year
for the assessment, or both, should also be disclosed.

.11 Excise Tax on Club Dues

Inquiry—The members of certain private clubs must pay a federal excise
tax in addition to their annual dues. Should the clubs record, as revenues, the
dues net of the excise tax, or should revenues include both dues and taxes?

Reply—A club, in collecting excise taxes on dues, is acting as no more than
an agent or conduit for the federal government. The amounts paid to the club
by members to be turned over as excise taxes should not be construed as dues,
and to show them as such on the income statement is erroneous.

[.12] Reserved
[.13] Reserved

.14 Recognition of Fees Earned on Construction Mortgage
Placements

Inquiry—A client is in the business of bringing lenders and borrowers
together for a fee. When a construction mortgage has been arranged and agreed
to, it would appear that the client has earned its fee. However, because of the
terms of the fee arrangement, there is some doubt as to when the income should
be recognized.

The following is a summary of the types of transactions involved:
1. Negotiable Note

The company receives a negotiable note in payment of its fees.
Generally the note is unsecured and non-interest-bearing and
is payable over the same period as the construction draws on
the related mortgage are to be made.

2. Nonnegotiable Note

The terms of the nonnegotiable note are comparable to the
negotiable note.

3. Commitment Letter, Not Contingent on Future
Events

The company receives a letter from the borrower indicating
that the lender and the borrower have agreed on the terms of
the mortgage. In addition, the letter states that the borrower
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agrees to pay the company a fixed fee by a specified date for
services rendered in arranging the loan.

4. Commitment Letter, Contingent on Future Draws

The company receives commitment letters from the borrower
as described in No. 3 in the preceding. However, the commit-
ment letters state that a certain amount of the fee will not be
paid unless or until certain construction draws are received
from the lender.

When should revenue be recognized as earned by the client?

Reply—Revenue recognition is discussed in Financial Accounting Stan-

dards Board (FASB) Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement
in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraphs 83 and 84.

Applying the guidelines of Concepts No. 5, paragraphs 83 and 84, to the

specific situations, revenue would be recognized as follows:

1. Negotiable Note

Income would be recognized when the services have been per-
formed and billed which may be prior to receipt of the nego-
tiable note.

2. Nonnegotiable Note

The terms of the nonnegotiable note are comparable to the
negotiable note, and revenue would be recognized in a similar
manner.

3. Commitment Letter, Not Contingent on Future
Events

Such a letter would be evidence that the services have been
rendered and are now "billable"; therefore, the fee has been
earned and income should be recognized.

4. Commitment Letter, Contingent on Future Draws

From the description, it appears that the agreement between
the client, borrower, and lender in this case is such that the
parties do not consider all the services rendered until actual
borrowings take place even though the client need not phys-
ically do anything else. In such a situation, a portion of the
fees should be deferred until the stipulated draw provisions
have been met.

[.15] Reserved

.16 Rental Revenue Based on Percentage of Sales
Inquiry—A supermarket built an addition to its store to house a liquor

store. The rent to the liquor store is to be a percent of its sales. On its income
statement, would it be proper for the supermarket to include the liquor store
sales as though they were their own sales? The rent would then appear as a

gross margin.

Reply—No. In accordance with the FASB Accounting Standards Codifica-

tion (ASC) glossary, this transaction meets the definition of a lease, which is "...
the right to use property, plant, or equipment (land and/or depreciable assets)
usually for a stated period of time."

§5100[.15]
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The revenue received from the liquor store represents rental income to the
supermarket and it would be inappropriate for the supermarket to include as
its sales the sales of the liquor store. However, it would be appropriate for the
supermarket to include the rental income as part of its gross revenues.

[Amended June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.17] Reserved
[.18] Reserved
[.19] Reserved

.20 Payment for Termination of License Agreement

Inquiry—A research and development company holds numerous patents.
The company derives its income from the sale of products which utilize its
patents as well as from the licensing of the patents, for which it receives roy-
alties, and also from the sale of patent rights, for which it receives a single
payment for the term of the license.

A licensee desired to terminate its license, since it was no longer using
the technology contained in the company's patent, and paid to the company
a lump sum termination payment. This payment approximated the amount
the company would have earned during the remaining years of the license
agreement. How should the termination payment be reflected in the company's
financial statements?

Reply—The transaction is similar to sale of a license for the remaining life
of a patent and should be accounted for in the same manner. If this is the sole
license for a patent, any remaining unamortized cost of such patent should be
written off at this time. If the license represents only a portion of the use of the
patent, an appropriate portion of the remaining unamortized cost should be
written off. The proceeds should be included in this year's current operations,
and there should be disclosure that a major source of income from licensing
agreements is being terminated.

[.21] Reserved
[.22] Reserved
[.23] Reserved
[.24] Reserved

.25 Finished Parts Held by Manufacturer for Customers

Inquiry—Corporation A, a subcontractor, manufacturers precision parts
to customers' specifications. Parts produced by Corporation A are inspected by
a customer's quality control representative and then held in a secured area in
Corporation A's plant. Corporation A is entitled to full contract payment on
parts inspected and held in the secured area. Historically, there has been a
short time span between completion date and scheduled shipment date, but
recently production efficiency has improved to the extent that contracts are
completed significantly in advance of scheduled shipment dates. Based on the
recent experience of Corporation A, what is the proper date for revenue recog-
nition?

Reply—FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and Measurement in
Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, paragraph 83, states in part:
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"Revenues are not recognized until earned. An entity's
revenue-earning activities involve delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or other activities that constitute
its ongoing major or central operations, and revenues are con-
sidered to have been earned when the entity has substantially
accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the benefits
represented by the revenues . . .."

Revenue should be recognized at the time of inspection and delivery to
the secured areas, since the realization criteria have been met. Corporation
A should disclose the method followed for income recognition as part of its
disclosure of accounting policies.

[.26] Reserved
[.27] Reserved

.28 Revenue From Private Label Sales

Inquiry—Corporation A produces certain products that are sold under
Corporation B's label. Corporation B reimburses Corporation A for all direct
costs of raw material, ingredients, and packaging plus 10 cents per pound
processing fee. Corporation A prepares an invoice for each shipment which
itemizes the various direct costs plus 10 cents per pound processing fee. Should
Corporation A record the total invoice amount as a sale or should it record the
processing fee as revenue and the reimbursed direct costs as a reduction of
expenses?

Reply—Corporation A should probably record the total invoice amount as
a sale. Accounting for contracts of this type would be treated similar to cost-
plus-fixed-fee contracts discussed in FASB ASC 912-605.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.29] Reserved
[.30] Reserved

.31 Accounting for Zero Coupon Bonds
Inquiry—A client purchased a 20-year zero coupon treasury bond for $189,
with a maturity value of $1,000, at an 8 1/2 percent yield to maturity.

(1) What authoritative pronouncement would provide guidance for this
transaction?

(2) How is the interest income computed for financial reporting pur-
poses?

Reply—(1) FASB ASC 835-30-15-2 states that, "The guidance in this
Subtopic applies to receivables and payables that represent contractual rights
to receive money or contractual obligations to pay money on fixed or deter-
minable dates, whether or not there is any stated provision for interest . . .
Some examples are secured and unsecured notes, debentures, bonds . . ."

(2) FASB ASC 835-30-35-2 states that, "the difference between the present
value and the face amount shall be treated as discount or premium and amor-
tized as interest expense or income over the life of the note in such a way as to
result in a constant rate of interest when applied to the amount outstanding
at the beginning of any given period." This is the "interest" method described
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in paragraphs 2-3 of FASB ASC 835-30-35. However, other methods of amor-
tization may be used if the results obtained are not materially different from
those which would result from the "interest" method.

The following is an example of the application of the interest method.
To calculate the semi-annual amount, multiply the purchase price by 4 1/4
percent (half of 8 1/2 percent) to arrive at the adjusted cost basis for the first
six-month period. Then repeat this calculation for the next six-month period
using the adjusted cost basis. The total amount of income (accrual) in the first
year will be $16.40. Each year the cost basis is increased by the amount of
income (accrual) reported in the previous year, as indicated in the following
example:

Your Purchase 1/2 Accrual Adjusted Coast
Semi-Annual Price or Purchase During Basis at End of
Period Adjusted Cost Basis YTM Period Period
1 $189.00 4.25% $8.03 $197.03
2 197.03 4.25% 8.37 205.40
3 205.40 4.25% 8.73 214.13
4 214.13 4.25% 9.10 223.23

The interest income would be reported annually for financial reporting
purposes. If the bond is held to maturity, there will be no gain or loss. If sold
prior to maturity any gain or loss is determined by the difference between the
adjusted cost basis and the selling price.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.32] Reserved

.33 Operating Lease With Rental Payments Rebated Against Pur-
chase Price

Inquiry—A lessor corporation leases construction equipment for periods of
six to eighteen months under short-term cancellable leases. The leases provide
that during the first six months, 100 percent of the rentals paid may be applied
toward the purchase price of the equipment if the lessee decides to purchase the
equipment; during the next three months the percentage drops to 80 percent,
and after nine months 60 percent may be applied toward the purchase price.
The leases do not qualify as capital leases. How should the lessor account for
the leases and the respective rebates?

Reply—The authoritative literature does not address this matter. The
lessor should record rental income until the lessee decides to purchase the
equipment. The lessor should then record the sale of the equipment net of
the applicable rebate. The amount recorded as rental income should not be
reclassified as sales proceeds.

[.34] Reserved

.35 Involuntary Conversion—Recognition of Gain

Inquiry—A tornado virtually destroys a company's building on June 12,
20X0. The company has insurance and expects to be reimbursed for costs
incurred to refurbish the building. The company's fiscal year-end is June 30,
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20X0. On August 15, 20X0, prior to the issuance of the financial statements,
the company receives a check in excess of the carrying amount of the building.
Should the company recognize the gain on the involuntary conversion in the
June 30, 20XO0 financial statements?

Reply—No. Since the company was reimbursed for an amount in excess of
the carrying amount of the building there was no loss to record on June 30,
20X0. The gain, which was received on August 15, 20X0, was a gain contingency
on June 30, 20X0. Per FASB ASC 450-30-25-1, contingencies that might result
in gains usually are not reflected in the accounts since to do so might be to
recognize revenue prior to its realization.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.36 Sales of Investment to Minority Stockholder

Inquiry—A corporation enters into an agreement to sell an investment
accounted for on the equity method to a minority stockholder in return for his
shares in the corporation. The fair value of the investment exceeds its book
value. Would the corporation recognize a gain on this transaction or would the
excess be credited to equity?

Reply—FASB ASC 845-10-30-1 states that a transfer of a nonmonetary
asset to a stockholder or to another entity in a nonreciprocal transfer should
be recorded at the fair value of the asset transferred, and that a gain or loss
should be recognized on the disposition of the asset. FASB ASC 845-10-30-
2 also indicates that the fair value of an entity's own stock reacquired may
be a more clearly evident measure of the fair value of the asset distributed
in a nonreciprocal transfer if the transaction involves acquiring stock for the
treasury or retirement.

The corporation should recognize as a gain, in the year in which the trans-
action occurs, the excess of the fair value of the investment transferred over its
carrying amount.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.37 Sales Price Based on Future Revenue

Inquiry—A company sold one of its direct-mail catalog offices for cash plus
a percentage of revenue to be earned over the next five years. The sales agree-
ment limits the percentage of revenue to a stipulated maximum. Management
believes the maximum will be earned within the five-year period. When should
revenue from this transaction be recorded?

Reply—According to FASB ASC 450-30-25-1, "A contingency that might
result in a gain usually should not be reflected in the financial statements
because to do so might be to recognize revenue before its realization."

Unless it is assured that adequate revenue will be earned to cause payment
of the contingent portion of the sales price, the contingent portion of the sales
price should only be accrued as earned. The accuracy and reasonableness of
management's projections must be ascertained. If realization is assured, which
would be relatively infrequent, revenue should be recorded as of the date of the
sale using the present value of the projected cash receipts in accordance with
FASB ASC 835, Interest.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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[.49] Reserved
[.50] Reserved
[.51] Reserved
[.52] Reserved
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[.73] Reserved
[.74] Reserved
[.75] Reserved
[.76] Reserved
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Q&A Section 5210

Depreciation and Depletion

[.01] Reserved

.02 Disclosure of Depreciation Expense

Inquiry—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 360-10-50-1 states that the financial statements
should disclose depreciation expense for a period. Does expense mean the total
amount of depreciation accrued (that is, credited to the allowance for deprecia-
tion account) for the period or the amount actually expensed after allowing for
depreciation included in overhead apportioned to inventories?

Reply—In concerns such as public utilities and trading or commercial en-
terprises, determination of the total provision for depreciation is usually sim-
ple since the amounts of depreciation are generally identified in the expense
accounts. In manufacturing concerns, however, there are difficulties in deter-
mining the amount of depreciation to be disclosed. Depreciation is usually
included in overhead which in turn is distributed over a number of depart-
ments and products and finds its way ultimately into cost of sales through
inventory accounts. To determine the amount of depreciation which is included
as a part of the cost of merchandise sold may require an extensive and usually
impracticable, if not impossible, analysis of cost accounts. The auditor usually
solves the problem by suggesting that the amount of depreciation charged to
manufacturing costs and to expense accounts be taken as representing the
amount charged to income. Obviously, this method does not correctly state
the depreciation charge which was recovered through sale of goods in which
depreciation was an element of cost. From a practical standpoint, in view of
the indicated difficulty, if not impossibility, of determining the exact amount
of depreciation included in cost of sales, it has become recognized practice to
report the amount of depreciation charged in the statement of income as that
which has been charged to manufacturing costs and to expense accounts, even
when amounts of depreciation included in inventories at the beginning and end
of the period vary sufficiently to affect depreciation included in cost of sales.
Such practice also is acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.03] Reserved

.04 Depreciation of Clothing Rented to Individuals

Inquiry—Company A maintains a stock of tuxedos, shoes and related items
which are rented to individuals. Management estimates that this stock will
have a useful life of approximately two years. Additional stock will be pur-
chased from time to time as required. At the end of each fiscal year, a complete
physical inventory is taken of all items on hand. What is the most appropriate
accounting treatment for the stock of rental clothing?

Reply—The clothing represents a fixed asset to be depreciated over its
estimated life. The estimated life should be adjusted periodically to reflect
experience and should not exceed two years. The depreciation charge should
be computed monthly based on inventory at the beginning of the period plus
additions during the current year.

©2015, AICPA §5210.04



170 Revenue and Expense

Logically it seems that loss and retirement of clothing will relate to that
clothing first purchased. Accordingly the first-in first-out basis would appro-
priately account for such loss and retirement.

.05 Classification of Costs of Constructing a Golf Course
Inquiry—How should the costs of constructing a golf course be broken down
into depreciable and nondepreciable classifications?

Reply—For the costs incurred in constructing a golf course, those expendi-
tures made to change the land itself, exclusive of buildings, should be treated
as permanent improvements to the land and are not, therefore, depreciable.
These costs would include clearing the land, building fairways, changing the
contour of the earth by moving and filling, building sand traps, and creating
water hazards. If trees are planted, and their lives can be estimated, it would
appear to be proper to depreciate these over such lives. In the absence of any
reasonable estimate, trees and shrubs should be carried at cost. Any struc-
tures such as buildings, shacks or stands should be depreciated along with
the costs of any vehicles such as trucks or carts, and any equipment used. A
watering system should be depreciated as it is made of material that will not
last indefinitely.

[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved

.08 Additional First Year Depreciation

Inquiry—A corporation reports depreciation expense on its financial state-
ments at the same amount that it claims on its income tax return. If that
amount included the maximum $10,000 deduction for additional first year de-
preciation (election to expense recovery property) allowed for tax purposes,
whereas, normal depreciation was $18,000, would the financial statements be
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—FASB ASC 360-10-35-4 states, in part: ". . . depreciation account-
ing, a system of accounting which aims to distribute the cost or other basic
value of tangible capital assets, less salvage (if any), over the estimated useful
life of the unit . . . in a systematic and rational manner . . . ." Accordingly, if any
arbitrary additional first year depreciation amount is included in the financial
statements and it is material, it would be a departure from generally accepted
accounting principles. Refer to paragraph .A5 of AU-C section 705, Modifica-
tions to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor's Report (AICPA, Professional
Standards), and paragraph .06 of AU-C section 320, Materiality in Planning
and Performing an Audit (AICPA, Professional Standards), for guidance on
materiality.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122—-126.]

.09 Amortization of Leasehold Improvement

Inquiry—A zoological society leases property in the city zoo for concession
stands. The society plans to construct a new building, which will house several
concession stands, on the leased property. When construction is complete the
title to the building will be turned over to the city. The lease is not a service
concession arrangement within the scope of FASB ASC 853, Service Concession
Arrangements. How should the building be accounted for by the zoological
society?
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Reply—The construction of a building on leased property is considered a
leasehold improvement. A leasehold improvement is a permanent improvement
or betterment that increases the usefulness of the leased property and will
revert to the lessor at the end of the lease term. The costs of such improvements
are normally amortized either over the life of the improvement or the lease
term, whichever is shorter.

[Revised, April 2014, to reflect conforming changes necessary
due to revisions to FASB ASC.]

[.10] Reserved
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Q&A Section 5220

Interest Expense

.01 Deferral of Payment of Interest

Inquiry—A client experienced problems in meeting its current obligations
and reached an agreement with its primary creditor concerning several mort-
gage loans. Under the agreement, the interest rate on these loans will, for the
present, be reduced from 10 percent to 8 percent, but the lender has the option
in the future of increasing the interest rate to 11 percent to recover the foregone
interest. At the maturity date, any unpaid interest calculated at the original
10 percent rate will be due.

How should the interest expense be recorded on the client's financial state-
ments?

Reply—Interest should be accrued at the rate of 10 percent, the original
rate under the mortgage loans. This debit would represent the interest expense
charged to income. The credit would be segregated between current liabilities
(an amount representing the 8 percent rate) and noncurrent liabilities (an
amount representing the deferred interest).

[.02] Reserved

.03 Computation of Interest Expense on Long-Term Redeemable
Bonds

Inquiry—A bank has issued four year nonnegotiable savings bonds with
interest of 7 percent for the first year, 7 1/2 percent for the second year, 8
percent for the third year and 8 1/2 percent for the fourth year. The depositor
has the option to request that he or she be paid his interest on a semiannual
or annual basis, but few do so, and the normal procedure is that the interest
will be compounded and left on deposit for the four years.

If a bond is redeemed prior to maturity, interest is paid to the bondholder
at the rate of 5 percent per annum for the period that the bond was held, less
90 days. Few instances of bond redemption prior to maturity are anticipated.

Which of the following methods of accounting for interest expense is ap-
propriate?

(1) Accrue interest at 7 percent for the first year, 7 1/2 percent for the
second year (plus the compounding factor), 8 percent for the third year (plus
the compounding factor), and 8 1/2 percent for the fourth year (plus the com-
pounding factor), making a debit to the interest expense and a credit to the
accrued interest payable on four year bonds.

(2) Determine the total amount of interest that will be due to the holder
upon the maturity of the bond and accrue a pro rata share of this amount for
each month of the four year period that the bond is in effect.

Reply—A rate of interest should be used which reflects the bank's liabilities
and assumes that the bondholders will not redeem their bonds and not with-
draw the interest prior to maturity. This is essentially the second approach in
the preceding.
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[.04] Reserved

.05 Amortization of Prepaid Interest on Discounted Notes

Inquiry—An equipment leasing company will use as of the beginning of
the year the interest method to amortize prepaid interest on new discounted
notes. But it will continue to use the straight-line method to amortize prepaid
interest on notes discounted earlier. Is the adoption of the interest method on
a prospective basis a change in accounting principle?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 835-30-35 states that the interest method of amorti-
zation should be used but that other methods of amortization may be used if
the results obtained are not materially different from those which would result
from the interest method.

If the results in earlier periods would not have differed materially by using
the interest method, the interest method may be adopted for the new notes,
disclosed, and not be reported as a change in accounting principle.

If the results in earlier periods would have been materially different by
using the interest method, the interest method should be adopted for the old
and new notes, and be reported as a correction of an error.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.06 Imputed Interest on Shareholder Loans

Inquiry—A section of the Internal Revenue Code requires, under certain
circumstances, that a company impute interest on demand loans made to a
shareholder of the company. Would this also be required under generally ac-
cepted accounting principles? If not, must it be disclosed and would there be
an effect on the deferred income tax accounts?

Reply—No. FASB ASC 835-30-15-2 states that the guidance in FASB ASC
835-30 applies to receivables and payables which represent contractual rights
to receive money or contractual obligations to pay money on fixed or deter-
minable dates. Imputed interest would not be required on demand loans since
they have no fixed or determinable due date.

However, disclosure of this transaction would be required under FASB
ASC 850, Related Party Disclosures.

There would be no effect on the deferred income tax accounts since this
would be considered a permanent difference.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.07 Imputed Interest on Note Exchanged for Cash Only

Inquiry—If an enterprise receives cash in exchange for a non-interest
bearing long-term note payable with a stated amount equal to the cash received,
must interest be imputed on the note in accordance with FASB ASC 835,
Interest?

Reply—If there are rights or privileges other than cash attendant to the
exchange, the value of such rights or privileges should be given accounting
recognition pursuant to FASB ASC 835-30-25-6. If the note is issued solely for
cash (that is, the cash received is equivalent to the face amount of the note)
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and no other right or privilege is exchanged, it is presumed to have a present
value at issuance measured by the cash proceeds exchanged.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 5230
Employee Benefit Plans

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved

.06 Deferred Compensation Payable To Surviving Spouse

Inquiry—Corporation A and its president entered into an employment
contract. The contract stipulated that if the president died while employed by
Corporation A, Corporation A would pay $500 a month to the president's widow
for the rest of her life. Shortly after the contract was signed, the president died.
The present value of the estimated future payments by Corporation A to the
president's widow is $X. Should Corporation A accrue the $X?

Reply—Under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 710-10-25-11, the estimated amounts to be paid
under a compensation contract would normally be accrued over the period of
active employment. The president's death accelerates recognition of a liability
that is reasonably determinable from actuarial tables. Accordingly, the present
value of the estimated future payments not previously recognized should be
accrued and recognized as an expense.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved

.09 Deferred Compensation Arrangement Funded by Life Insur-
ance Contracts

Inquiry—A company has a deferred compensation contract with one of its
employees. In accordance with FASB ASC 710-10-25-11, the estimated amount
of future payments was accrued over the period of active employment. The com-
pany purchases a life insurance policy on the employee, naming the company
as beneficiary. May the cash surrender value earned on the policy be offset
against the liability for the deferred compensation arrangement?

Reply—No. Paragraphs 1-2 of FASB ASC 325-30-35 specify that the cash
surrender value on a life insurance contract should be reported on the balance
sheet as an asset with any changes in that value reflected as an adjustment of
insurance expense for the period. No right of offset or other deviations from the
preceding accounting would be appropriate regardless of the funding objective
pertaining to the purchase of the insurance contract, as stated in paragraphs
2-3 of FASB ASC 325-30-15.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 5240

Cost Allocation

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved
[.09] Reserved

.10 Sale of Research and Development Technology

Inquiry—A company has incurred material research and development costs
in the current year. Subsequent to the balance sheet date but prior to issuance
of the financial statements, the company commenced negotiations and sold
the research and development technology to an unrelated company. May the
company capitalize the incurred research and development costs in its annual
financial statements in light of the subsequent sale?

Reply—No. Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification 730-10-25 states that research and development costs should be
expensed when incurred. There is no justification for capitalizing the costs be-
cause the technology will be sold. The company should disclose the subsequent
sale of the research and development technology in the footnotes to its financial
statements if the amount is material.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.11] Reserved
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Q&A Section 5250

Tax Allocation

[.01-.13] Reserved

.14 Application of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
(codified in FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 740-10)
to Taxes Other Than Income Taxes

Inquiry—Does FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, (codified in FASB ASC 740-10) apply to federal or state income
taxes only, or does it apply to sales, payroll, and other taxes as well?

Reply—The scope of FASB Interpretation No. 48 or FASB ASC 740-10 ap-
plies to income taxes only. Entities should follow FASB ASC 450, Contingencies,
to account for uncertainties related to payroll, sales, and other taxes.

[Issue Date: May 2010.]
[.15] Reserved
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Q&A Section 5260

Estimated Losses

.01 Recognition of Estimated Losses on Uncompleted Contracts

Inquiry—An engineering firm manufactures and sells telemetry compo-
nents on the basis of bids previously submitted to customers. In some cases,
engineering time is required to modify a component to customer specifications.
Since the amount of required engineering time is not known at the time a bid
is submitted, costs to complete a particular job may exceed the bid price. The
firm completes all jobs.

Presently all costs that accumulate on a particular job (direct materials,
labor, and applied manufacturing and engineering overhead) are charged to
that job and treated as work in process, even though the costs may exceed the
selling price. Once the job is completed, it is taken out of work in process in-
ventory and treated as costs of completion in the month that the job is shipped.
Therefore, a loss on a job is recognized only when the job is shipped. When cost
to complete a job is expected to exceed the bid price, what disclosure should be
made on the balance sheet?

Reply—The problem faced by the firm is not primarily one of disclosure
but rather that of satisfying the generally accepted accounting principle of
"providing for losses which are reasonably certain to occur."

It is assumed that the firm is accounting on the completed-contract basis.
With regard to construction companies using this method of accounting, Finan-
cial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification
(ASC) 605-35-25-89 states, "Although the completed-contract method does not
permit the recording of any income prior to completion, provision shall be made
for expected losses. See paragraphs 605-35-25-45 through 25-47." The same
concept applies to companies accounting under the percentage-of-completion
method (paragraphs 5 and 46 of FASB ASC 605-35-25).

A possible journal entry to recognize the loss would be a charge to "Es-
timated Loss on Uncompleted Contracts" while crediting "Estimated Liability
for Loss on Uncompleted Contracts." This estimated liability could then be de-
ducted from any excess of accumulated costs over related billings (or added to
any liability arising from billings in excess of accumulated costs) for balance
sheet purposes. If the loss is not deductible for tax purposes, part of the income
tax paid should be set up as a deferred charge.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 5290
Other Expenses

[.01] Reserved

.02 Classification of Expenses Which Are Taxable to Employees

Inquiry—An amendment to the Internal Revenue Code requires, under
certain circumstances, that an employer include as income, the fair value for
the use of a company automobile, in the employee's wage and tax statement
(Form W-2).

Should this be reported in the company's statement of income as compen-
sation to employees?

Reply—No. The fair value is the amount the employee would have paid
to use the car if the employee had owned it. The employer should report, as
automobile expenses, the amount of actual expenses it incurred as owner of the
car.

[.03] Reserved
[.04] Reserved

.05 Accrual of Audit Fee

Inquiry—A CPA has been engaged to audit the financial statements of a
client company. The audit is being conducted after year end. Is it proper to
accrue the audit fee as an expense of the year under audit?

Reply—According to FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Finan-
cial Statements, paragraph 145, "The goal of accrual accounting is to account in
the periods in which they occur for the effects on an entity of transactions and
other events and circumstances, to the extent that those financial effects are
recognizable and measurable." The audit fee expense was incurred in the pe-
riod subsequent to year end. Therefore, it is properly recorded as an expense in
the subsequent period. However, fees incurred in connection with planning the
audit, together with preliminary procedures (for example, confirmation work)
would be accruable for the year under audit.

.06 Accounting for a Lease Trial Period

Inquiry—A lease agreement allows a prospective lessee the free use of
newly introduced specialized equipment for 30 days prior to entering into a
long-term lease agreement for the equipment. The prospective lessee is not
committed to enter into a long-term lease agreement at the beginning or during
the 30-day trial period and there is no economic penalty to the lessee if the
lessee does not enter into that agreement. How should the prospective lessee
account for the 30-day trial period?

Reply—The 30-day trial period is part of the lessor's marketing strategy.
Therefore, the lessee should not report any lease expense during the 30-day
trial period. If the lessee subsequently enters into the lease arrangement, the
date of inception should begin on the first day of the lease with no accounting
recognition given to the trial period.
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Q&A Section 5400

Extraordinary and Unusual ltems

[.01] Reserved

.02 Sale of Cotton Futures Commitment Contracts

Inquiry—A textile manufacturer entered into firm purchase commitments
for cotton at a very favorable price. At the present time, the corporation has an
unusually long position of purchase commitments at a low fixed price. Some of
these contracts may be sold at a tremendous profit which is extremely mate-
rial in relation to normal operating income. This results from the tremendous
increase in cost of raw cotton during recent months. The corporation has not
sold such commitment contracts in the past; nor does it anticipate selling such
contracts in the future.

Will the sale of cotton futures commitment contracts be considered an
extraordinary item?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 225-20-45 discusses the criteria for extraordinary
items. In order to be classified as an extraordinary item, an event or transac-
tion would have to be both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. The
transaction would not meet the "unusual nature" test. Making a commitment
for future delivery of cotton to insure a source of supply would be part of the
normal operations of a textile manufacturer. Any resulting gain or loss would
therefore be considered ordinary. Although the corporation has not sold such
commitment contracts in the past; nor does the corporation anticipate selling
such contracts in the future, any gain realized on the sale of such a contract
should not be considered an extraordinary item under FASB ASC 225-20-45.
However, it should be shown as a separate line item in the income statement
in accordance with FASB ASC 225-20-45-16.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.03] Reserved

.04 Reporting the Proceeds From Life Insurance on an Officer

Inquiry—A company received the life insurance proceeds on the death of
its president before the end of its fiscal year and intends to report the amount
in its income statement as an extraordinary item. Would this be in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—No. FASB ASC 225-20-45-2 states that "extraordinary items are
events and transactions that are distinguished by their unusual nature and by
the infrequency of their occurrence." The receipt of insurance proceeds from an
officer's life insurance policy is an infrequent occurrence, but it is not unusual
in nature. Since it does not meet both the criteria of unusual and infrequent it
does not qualify as an extraordinary item.

FASB ASC 225-20-45-16 states that "a material event or transaction that
is unusual in nature or occurs infrequently but not both, and therefore does not
meet both criteria for classification as an extraordinary item, shall be reported
as a separate component of income from continuing operations."
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[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC; Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of SAS Nos. 122—-126.]

.05 Accounting and Disclosures Guidance for Losses From Natural
Disasters—Nongovernmental Entities
(This section identifies certain issues that may arise in accounting for losses
from natural disasters, and lists relevant accounting literature for nongovern-
mental entities to consider in addressing those financial reporting issues.)

Inquiry—A natural disaster (such as a hurricane, tornado, fire, or earth-
quake) strikes and causes substantial damages. Though extreme in the loss
of life and financial harm caused, the nature and location of the disaster may
be such that one might reasonably expect that type of activity of nature to
strike again in greater or lesser magnitude of damage. What are some of the
accounting issues that arise and which accounting literature provides guidance
for recognizing, measuring, and disclosing losses from natural disasters?

Reply—The following questions may arise in accounting for losses incurred
as a result of a natural disaster:

1. How should losses from a natural disaster of a type that is rea-
sonably expected to reoccur be classified in the statement of opera-
tions?

2. When should an asset impairment loss related to a natural disaster
be recognized?

3. When should a liability for non-impairment losses and costs related
to a natural disaster be recognized?

4. What is the accounting for insurance recoveries to cover losses
sustained in a natural disaster? Also, what are the additional con-
siderations related to business interruption insurance recoveries?

5. What are the required disclosures regarding the impact of a natural
disaster?

Issue 1—How should losses from a natural disaster of a type that is rea-
sonably expected to reoccur be classified in the statement of operations?

FASB ASC 225-20-45-2 describes an extraordinary item as an item that is
both unusual in nature and nonrecurring. A natural disaster of a type that is
reasonably expected to reoccur would not meet both conditions. The magnitude
of loss from a particular natural disaster does not cause that disaster to be
unusual in nature or unlikely to reoccur. If losses from such natural disasters
meet the criteria for disclosure of unusual or infrequently occurring items in
FASB ASC 225-20-45-16, they should be reported as a separate component
of income from continuing operations either on the face of the statement of
operations or in the notes to the financial statements.

Issue 2—When should an asset impairment loss related to a natural
disaster be recognized?

FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, provides guidance on
recognition and measurement of impairment losses on long-lived assets. That
literature should be used to determine when an impairment loss on long-lived
assets resulting from a natural disaster should be recognized and how that
impairment loss should be measured.

FASB ASC 310, Receivables, provides guidance on recognition and mea-
surement of impairment losses on loans. The FASB ASC glossary defines loan
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as "a contractual right to receive money on demand or on fixed or determinable
dates that is recognized as an asset in the creditor's statement of financial po-
sition." According to FASB ASC 310-10-35-16, a loan is impaired when, "based
on current information and events, it is probable that a creditor will be unable
to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agree-
ment." In measuring impairment losses on loans, creditors should follow FASB
ASC 310-10-35-22, which states

When a loan is impaired as defined in paragraphs 310-10-35-
16 through 35-17, a creditor shall measure impairment based
on the present value of expected future cash flows discounted
at the loan's effective interest rate, except that as a prac-
tical expedient, a creditor may measure impairment based
on a loan's observable market price, or the fair value of the
collateral if the loan is a collateral-dependent loan.

FASB ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, provides guidance on
recognition and measurement of impairment losses on intangible assets and
goodwill.

FASB ASC 450, Contingencies, provides guidance on recognition and mea-
surement of impairment losses on assets not covered by specific other literature.

Issue 3—When should a liability for non-impairment losses and costs
related to a natural disaster be recognized?

FASB ASC 450-20-25-2 requires a loss accrual by a charge to income, if it
is probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at
the date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably
estimated.

Paragraph 63 of FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and Mea-
surement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises, provides that liabil-
ities should be recognized when

a. the item meets the definition of a liability. Paragraph 35 of Con-
cepts Statement 6 defines liabilities as "probable future sacrifices
of economic benefits arising from present obligations of a partic-
ular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities
in the future as a result of past transactions or events" (footnote
references omitted).

b. the liability can be measured with sufficient reliability.
c. theinformation about the liability is capable of making a difference
in user decisions.
d. the information about the liability is representationally faithful,
verifiable, and neutral.
Other authoritative literature to consider includes FASB ASC 420, Exit or
Disposal Cost Obligations, and FASB ASC 450-20.

Issue 4—What is the accounting for insurance recoveries to cover losses
sustained in a natural disaster? Also, what are the additional consid-
erations related to business interruption insurance recoveries?

In accounting for insurance payments to cover losses, entities should follow
the guidance in FASB ASC 210-20; FASB ASC 225-20; FASB ASC 410-30;
FASB ASC 605-40; and FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.

FASB ASC 605-40 clarifies the accounting for involuntary conversions
of nonmonetary assets (such as property or equipment) to monetary assets
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(such as insurance proceeds). It requires that a gain or loss be recognized
when a nonmonetary asset is involuntarily converted to monetary assets even
though an enterprise reinvests or is obligated to reinvest the monetary assets
in replacement nonmonetary assets. FASB ASC 605-40-45-1 states

Gain or loss resulting from an involuntary conversion of a
nonmonetary asset to monetary assets shall be classified in
accordance with the provisions of Subtopic 225-20.

Entities should follow the guidance in FASB ASC 605-40-25-4 (for recov-
eries in connection with property and casualty losses), or paragraphs 8-11 of
FASB ASC 410-30-35 (for recoveries in connection with environmental obliga-
tions), as applicable. That guidance generally requires that an asset relating
to the insurance recovery should be recognized only when realization of the
claim for recovery of a loss recognized in the financial statements is deemed
probable (as that term is used in FASB ASC 450). In addition, under FASB
ASC 450-30-25-1, a gain (that is, a recovery of a loss not yet recognized in
the financial statements or an amount recovered in excess of a loss recognized
in the financial statements) should not be recognized until any contingencies
relating to the insurance claim have been resolved. It is important to note that
in some circumstances, losses and costs might be recognized in the statement
of operations in a different (earlier) period than the related recovery.

An additional consideration relates to FASB ASC 225-30, which indicates
that entities may choose how to classify such recoveries in the statement of
operations, provided that classification does not conflict with existing GAAP
requirements.

Issue 5—What are the required disclosures regarding the impact of a
natural disaster?

In disclosing the impact of a natural disaster in the financial statements,
entities should follow the guidance in FASB ASC 225-20-45-16 pertaining to
presentation and disclosure of a material event or transaction that is unusual
in nature or occurs infrequently.

As it relates to the issues covered in this section, entities also should con-
sider the disclosure requirements of FASB ASC 275, Risks and Uncertainties;
FASB ASC 310; FASB ASC 350; FASB ASC 360; FASB ASC 410, Asset Retire-
ment and Environmental Obligations; FASB ASC 420; and FASB ASC 450.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 5500

Earnings per Share

[.01] Reserved

.02 Earnings Per Share of Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries

Inquiry—The annual report of a holding company with five wholly owned
subsidiaries shows the consolidated net income and earnings per share of the
companies. If the report also includes the individual income statements of
the five subsidiaries, is it necessary to include individual earnings per share
figures?

Reply—Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Stan-
dards Codification (ASC) 260-10-15-3 does not require presentation of earnings
per share in statements of wholly owned subsidiaries.

Therefore, it is not necessary to show earnings per share figures for the
subsidiaries.

[Amended, September 1997; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

.03 Weighted Average Shares Outstanding for an Interim Period

Inquiry—A company retired some of its common stock during the first
quarter of its fiscal year. Should earnings per share for the interim period
be based on annualized weighted average shares outstanding or the weighted
average shares outstanding during the period?

Reply—The earnings per share computation should be based on the
weighted average shares outstanding during the interim period, and not on
an annualized weighted average.

[Amended, September 1997; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.04] Reserved
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved
[.07] Reserved
[.08] Reserved
[.09] Reserved
[.10] Reserved
[.11] Reserved
[.12] Reserved
[.13] Reserved
[.14] Reserved

.15 Stock Dividend Declared But Not Paid at Balance-Sheet Date
Inquiry—A client declared a percent stock dividend to shareholders of
record in December 20X4, payable in 20X5. In calculating the weighted average
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number of shares outstanding for determining the earnings per share for 20X4,
how should this stock dividend apply?

Reply—FASB ASC 260-10-55-12 requires the computations of basic and di-
luted earnings per share to be adjusted retroactively for all periods presented
to reflect a change in capital structure resulting from a stock dividend. There-
fore, the 5 percent stock dividend should be considered as being outstanding
for every month of 20X4, as well as for every month of every preceding period
presented.

[Amended, September 1997; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming
changes necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.16] Reserved
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Q&A Section 5600

Leases

[.01] Reserved
[.02] Reserved
[.03] Reserved

.04 Accounting for Subleases

Inquiry—A corporation leased a building and, ultimately, subleased half
of the space to a third party with the lease agreement between the two original
parties remaining in effect. Management believed that a fairer presentation
was made by netting the rental income from the sublease against its own
minimum lease payments. Is the corporation properly accounting for its leased
property and sublease income?

Reply—No. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 840-30-35-12 states that the original lessee, as
sublessor, shall continue to account for the obligation related to the original
lease as before. The sublease shall be accounted for in accordance with para-
graphs 1, 29-31, and 41-44 of FASB ASC 840-10-25, depending upon which of
the criteria the original lease met. If the original lease is an operating lease, the
original lessee shall account for both it and the new lease as operating leases.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
[.05] Reserved
[.06] Reserved

.07 Determining a Lease Term for Accounting Purposes

Inquiry—How should a lessee and lessor determine, for accounting pur-
poses, the lease term of a lease, which is fundamental to determining the
appropriate accounting for that lease?

Reply—FASB ASC glossary provides a definition of lease term as follows:

The fixed noncancelable lease term plus all of the following, except as noted
in the following paragraph:

a. All periods, if any, covered by bargain renewal options

b. All periods, if any, for which failure to renew the lease imposes a
penalty on the lessee in such amount that a renewal appears, at
lease inception, to be reasonably assured

c. All periods, if any, covered by ordinary renewal options during
which any of the following conditions exist:

1. A guarantee by the lessee of the lessor's debt directly or
indirectly related to the leased property is expected to be
in effect

2. A loan from the lessee to the lessor directly or indirectly
related to the leased property is expected to be outstanding

d. All periods, if any, covered by ordinary renewal options preceding
the date as of which a bargain purchase option is exercisable
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e. All periods, if any, representing renewals or extensions of the lease
at the lessor's option

The lease term shall not be assumed to extend beyond the date a bargain
purchase option becomes exercisable.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.08 Lease Term for Accounting Purposes Differs From Term Stated
in Lease (Part 1)

Inquiry—Can a lease term for accounting purposes begin before an initial
fixed noncancelable term stated in a lease agreement?

Reply—Yes. FASB ASC 840 provides that a lease term for accounting
purposes includes all periods in which a lessee has access to and control over
leased space, even if those periods precede the fixed noncancelable term stated
in the lease agreement. For example, a lease agreement is signed on January
1 but the initial fixed noncancelable term begins on April 1. The lease allows
the lessee to make improvements to the leased space at any time starting after
January 1. In this situation, the lease term for accounting purposes starts on
January 1.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.09 Lease Term for Accounting Purposes Differs From Term Stated
in Lease (Part 2)

Inquiry—Can a lease term for accounting purposes extend beyond an initial
fixed noncancelable term stated in a lease agreement?

Reply—Yes. FASB ASC glossary term lease term identifies situations in
which the lease term for accounting purposes extends beyond the fixed non-
cancelable term stated in a lease agreement. Section 5600.07 identifies those
situations. For example, the lease term for accounting purposes would include
renewal periods that at lease inception appear reasonably assured because
failure to exercise renewal periods would impose a penalty on the lessee.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.10 Rent Expense and Rent Revenue in an Operating Lease—
General

Inquiry—In an operating lease, how should a lessee accrue rent expense
and a lessor recognize rent revenue?

Reply—FASB ASC 840-20-25-1 says that the lessee should accrue rent
expense on a straight line basis over the lease term unless another systematic
and rational basis is more representative of the time pattern use of the property.

Paragraphs 1-2 of FASB ASC 840-20-25 say that the lessor should recog-
nize rent revenue on a straight line basis over the lease term unless another
systematic and rational basis is more representative of the time pattern use of
the property.

Also see section 5600.11, "Rent Expense and Rent Revenue in an Operating
Lease—Scheduled Increase in Rental Space."

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.11 Rent Expense and Rent Revenue in an Operating Lease—
Scheduled Increase in Rental Space

Inquiry—Related to sections 5600.08 and 5600.10 assume a lessee has
access to and use of one floor of a building as of the beginning of a lease
agreement in year 1. In accordance with the agreement and at the start of
year 3, the lessee will have access to and the ability to occupy a second floor
in addition to the first floor, and will pay an additional rental fee starting at
that time. In this situation, how should the lessee accrue rent expense and the
lessor recognize rent revenue before the lessee is allowed to occupy the second
floor?

Reply—FASB ASC 840 is the applicable guidance. In years 1 and 2, the
lessee should accrue rent expense on a straight line basis (unless another
systematic and rational basis is more representative of the time pattern use
of the property) for the one floor and not include the rental of the second floor
in its accrual because the lessee does not have access to and control over the
second floor until the start of year 3. Starting in year 3, the lessee should accrue
rent expense on a straight line basis for both floors.

The lessor's accounting for revenue is parallel to that of the lessee for
expense in this fact pattern.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.12 Rent Expense and Rent Revenue in an Operating Lease—Rent
Holiday

Inquiry—A lessee has a 120 month lease for $10,000 per month on space
owned by a lessor. The lease term for accounting purposes is 120 months. As an
incentive to sign the lessee to the lease agreement, the first 6 of those months
are rent free. In an operating lease, if a lease term includes a period of free or
reduced rent (rent holiday), how does the rent holiday factor into the lessee's
recognition of rent expense and the lessor's recognition of rent revenue?

Reply—FASB ASC 840-20-25-2 provides that the lessee should recognize
rent expense of $9,500 per month ($10,000 x 114 months/120 month lease term)
for 120 months, which is on a straight line basis. Likewise, the lessor should
recognize rent revenue of $9,500 per month.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Rent Expense and Rent Revenue in an Operating Lease—
Scheduled Rent Increases

Inquiry—In an operating lease, how should a lessee accrue rent expense
and a lessor recognize rent revenue using the straight line method (see section
5600.10) when the lease agreement contains scheduled rent increases over the
lease term?

Reply—FASB ASC 840-20-25-2 provides that the lessee and lessor should
add up all rental payments over the lease term and divide that number by the
number of periods in the lease term to arrive at the expense/revenue amounts
to be accrued/recognized on a straight line basis.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.14 Amortization/Depreciation of Leasehold Improvements in an
Operating Lease (Part 1)

Inquiry—A lessee enters into an operating lease in which the lease term
for accounting purposes is 10 years. Upon signing the lease, the lessee acquires
leasehold improvements that have a useful life of 15 years. Over what period
should the lessee amortize or depreciate the leasehold improvements?

Reply—For leasehold improvements contemplated at or near the beginning
of an initial lease term, the lessee should amortize or depreciate the leasehold
improvements over the shorter of the (a) useful life of the improvements or (b)
remaining lease term, which is 10 years in this inquiry. If the leasehold im-
provements are acquired and placed in service significantly after the inception
of a lease, FASB ASC 840-10-35-6 requires that the lessee amortize or depreci-
ate leasehold improvements over the shorter of the useful life of the leasehold
assets or a term that includes required lease periods and renewals that are
deemed to be reasonably assured at the date the leasehold improvements are
acquired. Note that FASB ASC 840-10-35-6 does not apply to preexisting lease-
hold improvements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.15 Leasehold Improvements and Lease Term in an Operating
Lease (Part 2)

Inquiry—A lessee enters into an operating lease in which the initial fixed
noncancelable term within the lease agreement is 10 years and the agreement
includes three 5-year renewal periods. Upon signing the lease, the lessee plans
to acquire leasehold improvements that have a useful life of 15 years. Is the
lessee's plan to acquire the leasehold improvements a factor in determining the
lease term for accounting purposes?

Reply—Yes, the lessee should consider the impact on the lease term for
accounting purposes, if any, of the plan to acquire leasehold improvements. If
the leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant value at the end
of the initial 10 year term such that the lessee would not be willing to abandon
these assets (that is, effectively incur a penalty) resulting in a renewal option
being reasonably assured of being exercised, that renewal period would be
added to the initial fixed noncancelable term in determining the appropriate
lease term for accounting purposes.

.16 Landlord Incentive Allowance in an Operating Lease

Inquiry—A lessee enters into an operating lease in which the landlord
offers an incentive allowance towards the cost of the lessee making leasehold
improvements. The leasehold improvements are the lessee's assets and cost $1
million, and the incentive allowance totals $500,000. Should the lessee net the
$500,000 allowance received from the landlord against the $1 million leasehold
improvement asset?

Reply—No. In accordance with FASB ASC 840-20-55-3, the $500,000 al-
lowance should be reported by the lessee as a liability and amortized straight
line over the lease term as a reduction of rent expense. Therefore, the lessee's
amortization/depreciation calculation is based on the $1 million leasehold im-
provements.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.17 Cash Flows Statement Presentation of Landlord Incentive Al-
lowance in an Operating Lease

Inquiry—Related to section 5600.16, how should a lessee categorize ex-
penditures for leasehold improvements and a related cash incentive allowance
received from a landlord in the statement of cash flows?

Reply—In accordance with FASB ASC 230, Statement of Cash Flows, a
lessee should report expenditures for leasehold improvements in the invest-
ing section of a statement of cash flows. Cash allowances received from the
landlord should be presented in the lessee's operating activities section of its
statement of cash flows. The cash allowances from the lessor are treated for
accounting purposes as adjustments of rent. FASB ASC 230 does not identify
rent payments on operating leases as investing or financing activities.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Q&A Section 5700

Contributions Made

.01 Income Tax Accounting for Contributions to Certain Not-for-
Profit Scholarship Funding Entities

Inquiry—A state's corporate income taxpayers are allowed a credit against
their state corporate income tax of 100 percent of eligible contributions made
during the year to a not-for-profit scholarship funding entity. Unused credits
may be carried forward up to 3 years. The taxpayer may not convey, assign, or
transfer the credit to another entity unless all of the assets of the taxpayer are
conveyed, assigned, or transferred in the same transaction.

Should corporate income taxpayers report contributions that qualify for
the tax credit as contributions or as income tax expense in income statements
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles?

Reply—Corporate income taxpayers should report such contributions as
contributions in their income statements in accordance with Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
720-25.

Such contributions meet the definition of a contribution in the FASB ASC
glossary. Just as the federal government offering a tax deduction for such a
contribution does not change the nonreciprocal nature of the gift, the fact that
the state provides a dollar-for-dollar tax credit to the donor for its remittance
to the scholarship funding entity does not change the nonreciprocal nature of
the gift. Nor does having only the alternative of paying a corresponding, higher
tax make the contribution involuntary.

FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, provides that total income tax expense or
benefit for the year is the sum of deferred tax expense or benefit and income
taxes currently payable or refundable.

Example

Assumptions:

$100 contribution to qualified scholarship funding entity

$5,000 federal taxable income (includes $100 charitable contribution deduction)
Tax rate—>5.5 percent

State Tax Computation:

Federal taxable income $5,000
Contribution 100

State taxable income 5,100
Tax rate 0.055
Pre-credit state income tax 275
Tax credit (100)
State income taxes payable $175
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Journal Entries:
Journal entries made during the year should achieve the following result:
Dr. Contributions 100
Cr. Cash 100

To record contribution to scholarship fund

Dr. Income tax expense 175

Cr. State income taxes payable 175

To record state income tax expense

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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Section

6140 Not-For-Profit Entities —continued

.15 Application of FASB ASC 958 —Classification of a Beneficiary’s
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated
Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary cannot influence the
operating and financial decisions of the foundation to such an
extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing and
amount of distributions from the foundation.)

.16 Application of FASB ASC 958 —Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated
FundRaising Foundation (More Than One Beneficiary—Some
Contributions Are Designated)

.17 Application of FASB ASC 958 —Classification of a Beneficiary’s
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Inferrelated
Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary makes an
expenditure that meets a purpose restriction on net assets held
for its benefit by the recipient entity—The beneficiary can
influence the operating and financial decisions of the recipient
to such an extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing
and amount of distributions from the recipient.)

.18 Application of FASB ASC 958 —Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated
Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary makes an
expenditure that is consistent with a purpose restriction on net
assets held for its benefit by the recipient entity—The
beneficiary cannot influence the operating and financial
decisions of the recipient to such an extent that the beneficiary
can determine the timing and amount of distributions from the
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.20 NPEs Reporting No Fund-Raising Expenses
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Reporting NPE Compensates the Fund-Raising NPE for Raising
Those Contributions (Compensation Including, But Not Limited
to, an Administrative Fee), Should the Reporting NPE Report
the Fund-Raising NPE's Compensation Gross, as Fund-Raising
Expenses, or Net, as a Reduction of Contributions?

.23 Changing Net Asset Classifications Reported in a Prior Year

.24 Contributions of Certain Nonfinancial Assets, Such as
Fundraising Material, Informational Material, or Advertising,
Including Media Time or Space for Public Service
Announcements or Other Purposes

.25 Multiyear Unconditional Promises to Give—Measurement
Obijective and the Effect of Changes in Interest Rates

.26 Notfor-Profit Entity With For-Profit Subsidiary and Adoption of
FASB ASU No. 2014-02 on Goodwill
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.18 Accounting Guidance for Transfer of Insurance Risk
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Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary cannot influence the
operating and financial decisions of the foundation to such an
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Application of FASB ASC 958 —Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated
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decisions of the recipient to such an extent that the beneficiary
can determine the timing and amount of distributions from the
recipient.)
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Q&A Section 6130
Finance Companies

.01 Amortization of Discount on Receivables of Consumer Finance
Companies

Inquiry—A client in the consumer finance business loans money for short
periods of time. What method should be used to amortize discounts on such
loans?

Reply—In determining income from loans receivable which have been is-
sued at a discount, the required method of income recognition for any such
discount is the interest method, as described in Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 310-20.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.02 Method of Recognizing Revenue From Finance Charges

Inquiry—A finance company would like to establish a policy of recognizing
15 percent of the finance charges on discount loans as revenues in the first
month of the loan and recognizing the balance of such charges as yield ad-
justments as the receivables are liquidated. Is this an acceptable method of
recognizing revenues from finance charges?

Reply—No. In accordance with FASB ASC 310-20, the interest (actuarial)
method should be used to account for interest income. In addition, FASB ASC
310-20-35-2 requires that certain direct loan acquisition costs be deferred and
treated as yield adjustments in applying the interest method.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.03 Method of Recognizing Revenue From Service Charges

Inquiry—A company finances insurance premiums of individuals through
various insurance agents. The company's policy is to receive completed pre-
mium finance agreements directly from the insurance agents. The amount
financed includes a finance charge and a nonreturnable service charge. The
finance charge is recognized in income by the interest method.

How should the service charge be recognized on the records of the company?

Reply—In accordance with FASB ASC 310-20, the service charge should
also be recognized in income over the life of the related loan as an adjustment
of yield using the interest method.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.04 Method of Recognizing Revenue From Commissions on Loan
Insurance

Inquiry—A finance company receives commissions for loan insurance. How
should the company recognize commission revenues?

Reply—FASB ASC 942-605-25-1 states that the insurance commissions re-
ceived from independent insurers should be deferred and systematically amor-
tized to income over the life of the related insurance contracts because the
insurance and lending activities are integral parts of the same transactions.
The method of commission amortization should be consistent with the method
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of premium income recognition for that type of policy in accordance with FASB
ASC 944, Financial Services—Insurance.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.05 Disclosure of Contractual Maturities of Direct Cash Loans
Inquiry—FASB ASC 944-805-50-4 states

Disclosures that typically would be required by the preceding para-
graph for the various specific elements included in the closed block
need not be made separately for the closed block if the nature of the
information for the closed block would not differ significantly from that
already included for the reporting entity as a whole. For example, it
is not necessary to show a separate schedule of contractual maturities
of closed block fixed maturity securities if the relative composition of
contractual maturities is similar to those of the reporting entity taken
as a whole. However, if the relative maturities of the closed block fixed
maturities securities differ from those of the reporting entity taken as
a whole, separate disclosures shall be made.

At December 31, 20X1, a company has only three loans outstanding of $36,000
each, payable monthly as follows: 12 installments of $3,000 each; 24 install-
ments of $1,500 each; and 36 installments of $1,000 each. How would these
contractual maturities properly be shown?

Reply—Appropriate disclosure of the amounts to be received would be:
20X2, $66,000; 20X3, $30,000; and 20X4, $12,000. Refer to FASB ASC 944-
805-55 for implementation guidance and illustrations.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.06 Balance Sheet Presentation of Subordinated Debt

Inquiry—A consumer finance company, whose financial statements are
used only by the company and its banks, would like to include subordinated
debt in its balance sheet with the caption "Total Subordinated Notes and Share-
holders' Equity." The company believes that presentation would show more
clearly the position of the banks with respect to other creditors. Would the
presentation be acceptable if the statements were clearly labeled, "For the Use
of Banks and Bankers Only"?

Reply—No. Although the total of subordinated long-term debt and stock-
holders' equity is important to creditors of finance companies, the prominent
presentation of this total in balance sheets causes many users of financial
statements to interpret this amount as total stockholders' equity, and, for this
reason, its use is not acceptable.

The proposed balance sheet presentation would not be in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles even if the financial statements are
clearly and conspicuously labeled, "For the Use of Banks and Bankers Only."

[Revised, December 2012, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of SAS Nos. 122-126.]

[.07] Reserved
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Q&A Section 6140
Not-For-Profit Entities

.01 Inventory Valuation for a Not-for-Profit Scientific Entity

Inquiry—A not-for-profit scientific entity produces products that are sold at
a price less than cost. The difference between cost and sale proceeds is covered
by contributions. The not-for-profit entity reports inventories in its financial
statements at an arbitrary amount and discloses that fact on the face of the
financial statements. Is this accounting appropriate?

Reply—No. Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 330-10-35-1 states

A departure from the cost basis of pricing the inventory is required
when the utility of the goods is no longer as great as their cost. Where
there is evidence that the utility of goods, in their disposal in the ordi-
nary course of business, will be less than cost, whether due to physical
deterioration, obsolescence, changes in price levels, or other causes,
the difference shall be recognized as a loss of the current period. This
is generally accomplished by stating such goods at a lower level com-
monly designated as market.

Accordingly, inventories should be valued at lower of cost or market and not
at an arbitrary amount. The fact that the difference between the sales proceeds
and the costs is covered by contributions does not change the application of the
requirements of FASB ASC 330-10.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

.02 Income Recognition of Membership Dues by Not-for-Profit
Entity

Inquiry—A local not-for-profit entity collects membership dues and does
not provide any services to its members in return for the dues. It records the
dues as contributions and recognizes them as revenue in the period they are
received. The entity provides services, such as seminars, group insurance, and
so on., to its members at an extra cost.

Is this the appropriate accounting method?

Reply—Yes. This entity qualifies as a not-for-profit entity under the FASB
ASC glossary definition. Accordingly, FASB ASC 958-605-25-2 would require
that the dues be recognized as contributions revenue when received since the
members receive no benefits from the dues. In accordance with FASB ASC
958-605-25-1, if the member did receive benefits from those dues, dues revenue
would be recognized over the period of membership.

[Amended, June 1995; Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes
necessary due to the issuance of FASB ASC.]

.03 Lapsing of Time Restrictions on Receivables That Are Uncol-
lected at Their Due Date

Inquiry—FASB ASC 958-605-45-5 provides that "receipts of unconditional
promises to give with payments due in future periods shall be reported as re-
stricted support unless explicit donor stipulations or circumstances surround-
ing the receipt of a promise make clear that the donor intended it to be used
to support activities of the current period. It is reasonable to assume that by
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specifying future payment dates donors indicate that their gift is to support
activities in each period in which a payment is scheduled. For example, re-
ceipts of unconditional promises to give cash in future years generally increase
temporarily restricted net assets."

Do time restrictions on contributions receivable lapse when the receivable
is due or when it is collected?

Reply—Time restrictions on contributions receivable lapse when the re-
ceivable is due. (In some cases, the due date may be explicitly stated. In other
cases, circumstances surrounding receipt of the contribution may make clear
the implicit due date. In yet other cases, the due date may be unclear. NPEs
should consider the facts and circumstances surrounding the promise to give
to determine the due date, if any.)

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.04 Lapsing of Restrictions on Receivables if Purpose Restrictions
Pertaining to Long-Lived Assets Are Met Before the Receivables Are
Due

Inquiry—FASB ASC 958-605-45-4 provides, in part, that "a restriction on a
not-for-profit entity's use of the assets contributed results either from a donor's
explicit stipulation or from circumstances surrounding the receipt of the con-
tribution that make clear the donor's implicit restriction on use." These are
purpose restrictions. FASB ASC 958-605-45-5 provides that "receipts of uncon-
ditional promises to give with payments due in future periods shall be reported
as restricted support unless explicit donor stipulations or circumstances sur-
rounding the receipt of a promise make clear that the donor intended it to
be used to support activities of the current period. It is reasonable to assume
that by specifying future payment dates donors indicate that their gift is to
support activities in each period in which a payment is scheduled. For exam-
ple, receipts of unconditional promises to give cash in future years generally
increase temporarily restricted net assets." These are time restrictions. FASB
ASC 958-205-45-9 provides, in part, as follows:

If two or more temporary restrictions are imposed on a contribution,
the effect of the expiration of those restrictions shall be recognized in
the period in which the last remaining restriction has expired.

FASB ASC 958-205-45-11 further provides, in part

Temporarily restricted net assets with time restrictions are not avail-
able to support expenses until the time restrictions have expired.

FASB ASC 958-205-45-12 further provides

Time restrictions implied on gifts of long-lived assets pursuant to para-
graph 958-605-45-6 expire as the economic benefits of the acquired
assets are used up; that is, over their estimated useful lives. In the
absence of donor stipulations specifying how long donated assets must
be used or a not-for-profit entity's policy of implying time restrictions,
restrictions on long-lived assets, if any, or cash to acquire long-lived
assets expire when the assets are placed in service.

NPEs may receive promises to give contributions that are restricted by
donors for investment in long-lived assets. In some circumstances, the assets
may be placed in service, and the purpose restrictions met, prior to the due date
of the contribution. For example, an NPE may have a capital campaign, asking
for commitments to contribute over the next five years so the entity can build
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a new facility. A donor may promise to give $100,000 in five years in response
to that request.

Are the restrictions met when the assets are placed in service or when the
receivable is due?

Reply—NPEs should consider the facts and circumstances surrounding the
promise to give and whether those facts and circumstances indicate that the
donor intended the contribution to be used to support activities of the current
period, with constructing the building or placing it in service considered activ-
ities of the current period. If circumstances indicate that the donor intended
to support activities of the current period, there is no time restriction and the
preceding guidance in paragraphs 9 and 11-12 of FASB ASC 958-205-45 would
not be applicable, unless a restriction was placed on the contribution other than
constructing the building. If circumstances indicate that the donor's intent is
not to support activities of the current period, there are both a time restriction
and a purpose restriction. In accordance with FASB ASC 958-205-45-11, the
effect of the expiration of restrictions is recognized in the period in which the
last remaining restriction has expired.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

[.05] Reserved

.06 Functional Category of Cost of Sales of Contributed Inventory

Inquiry—How should the cost of sales of contributed inventory be reported?
For example, should it be reported as a separate supporting service, as program,
or as fund-raising?

Reply—Cost of sales of contributed inventory should be reported as the cost
of a separate supporting service, unless the item sold is related to a program
activity, in which case, cost of sales is reported as a cost of a program activity.
Cost of sales of contributed inventory should not be reported as fund-raising.

.07 Functional Category of Costs of Special Events

Inquiry—FASB ASC 958-720-25-4 provides that "fundraising costs, includ-
ing the cost of special fundraising events, are incurred to persuade potential
donors to make contributions to a not-for-profit entity and shall be expensed
as incurred." The FASB ASC glossary defines the term fundraising activities
as "activities undertaken to induce potential donors to contribute money, se-
curities, services, materials, facilities, other assets, or time." Chapter 13 of the
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Not-for-Profit Entities provides guidance
on accounting for special events and provides that not-for-profit entities may re-
port the gross revenues of special events and other fund-raising activities with
the cost of direct benefits to donors (for example, meals and facilities rental)
displayed either (1) as a line item deducted from the special event revenues or
(2) in the same section of the statement of activities as are other programs or
supporting services and allocated, if necessary, among those various functions.

Should all costs of special fund-raising events, such as costs of direct
donor benefits that are provided in exchange transactions, be reported as fund-
raising?

Reply—The discussion of special fund-raising events in FASB ASC 958-
720-25 and 958-720-45 provide that some, but not necessarily all, costs of
special fund-raising events should be reported as fund-raising. Certain costs
of special fund-raising events, such as costs of direct donor benefits that are
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provided in exchange transactions, should be reported in categories other than
fund-raising.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.08 Functional Category of the Costs of Direct Donor Benefits

Inquiry—NPEs may hold special events that provide donor benefits. For
example, an entity may hold a special event and provide a meal to donors, which
would be a direct donor benefit. Paragraphs 10-15 of FASB ASC 958-720-55
provide guidance on reporting the costs of special events, including the costs of
direct donor benefits. Paragraphs 20-22 of FASB ASC 958-720-45 provide that,
if cost of sales relates to an item that is program related, cost of sales should
be reported as program expense. Otherwise, cost of sales could be reported as
a separate supporting service. Also, FASB ASC 958-720-45-19 provides that
the cost of premiums provided that are greater than nominal in value should
be reported as cost of sales. However, FASB ASC 958 provides no guidance
concerning the functional category in which the costs of direct donor benefits
should be reported in circumstances in which the benefits are not program
related, beyond providing that they should be reported as a supporting service.

In which functional category should the costs of direct donor benefits that
are not program related be reported?

Reply—The costs of donor benefits that are not program related and that
are provided in exchange transactions should be reported as a separate support-
ing category, such as cost of sales, and should not be reported as fund-raising.

The costs of donor benefits that are not program related and that are
provided in transactions that are other than exchange transactions, such as a
fund-raising dinner for which there is no charge to attend, should be reported
as fund-raising.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.09 Reporting Bad Debt Losses
Inquiry—FASB ASC 958-225-45-7 provides that expenses should be re-
ported as decreases in unrestricted net assets.

FASB ASC 958-225-45-15 provides that "a statement of activities may
report gains and losses as net amounts if they result from peripheral or inci-
dental transactions or from other events and circumstances that may be largely
beyond the control of the not-for-profit entity and its management."

FASB ASC 958-310-35-7 provides that, if the fair value of contributions
arising from unconditional promises to give cash or noncash assets decreases
subsequent to initial measurement because of changes in the quantity or nature
of assets expected to be received, the decrease should be recognized as expenses
or losses (bad debt) in the period(s) in which the expectation changes.!

May bad debt losses be netted against contribution revenue?

1 The provision that certain decreases in the fair value of contributions arising from uncondi-
tional promises to give should be accounted for as losses, rather than as expenses, is an accounting
convention. This convention provides that, in circumstances in which the net assets related to receiv-
ables are represented as restricted net assets, decreases in net assets should be reported as decreases
in restricted net assets, rather than as decreases in unrestricted net assets.
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Reply—Bad debt losses are prohibited from being netted against contribu-
tion revenue under FASB ASC 958-225-45-15 because losses are permitted to
be netted only against gains, and not against revenues.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.10 Consolidation of Political Action Committee

Inquiry—Some not-for-profit entities are related to other not-for-profit en-
tities that perform political activities that the reporting entity does not wish to
perform, perhaps because performing those activities may threaten the report-
ing entity's tax exempt status, the reporting entity is precluded from conducting
such activities, or for other reasons. For example, a membership entity may
establish and sponsor a political action committee (PAC) whose mission is to
further the interests of the membership entity. The resources held by the PAC
are used for the purposes of the membership entity and the governing board of
the PAC is appointed by the board of the membership entity.

Does FASB ASC 958-810 require consolidation of PACs in the circum-
stances previously described?

Reply—FASB ASC 958-810 requires consolidating PACs in the circum-
stances described in the preceding. Under FASB ASC 958-810, the threshold
issues pertaining to the circumstances previously described are whether there
is (1) control through a majority voting interest in the board of the PAC and
(2) an economic interest. In the circumstances described in the preceding, both
are present. Control through a majority voting interest in the board of the
PAC exists because the governing board of the PAC is appointed by the board
of the membership entity. An economic interest exists because the PAC holds
significant resources that must be used for the purposes of the membership
entity.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.11 Costs of Soliciting Contributed Services and Time That Do Not
Meet the Recognition Criteria in FASB ASC 958

Inquiry—Questions have arisen about the classification of costs of soliciting
contributed services and time. The issue focuses on whether those costs should
be reported as fundraising in all cases or whether, in circumstances in which
the services or time do not meet the recognition criteria in FASB ASC 958-605-
25-16, those costs should be reported in the functional category to which the
solicited services or time pertain.

According to FASB ASC 958-720-45-9, fundraising activities include the
following:

a. Publicizing and conducting fundraising campaigns
b. Maintaining donor mailing lists
c¢. Conducting special fundraising events

d. Preparing and distributing fundraising manuals, instructions, and
other materials

e. Conducting other activities involved with soliciting contributions
from individuals, foundations, government agencies, and others.

The FASB ASC glossary defines contribution and provides as follows:
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An unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a
settlement or cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonrecipro-
cal transfer by another entity acting other than as an owner. Those
characteristics distinguish contributions from exchange transactions,
which are reciprocal transfers in which each party receives and sac-
rifices approximately equal value; from investments by owners and
distributions to owners, which are nonreciprocal transfers between an
entity and its owners; and from other nonreciprocal transfers, such
as impositions of taxes or fines and thefts, which are not voluntary
transfers. In a contribution transaction, the value, if any, returned to
the resource provider is incidental to potential public benefits. In an
exchange transaction, the potential public benefits are secondary to
the potential proprietary benefits to the resource provider. The term
contribution revenue is used to apply to transactions that are part
of the entity's ongoing major or central activities (revenues), or are
peripheral or incidental to the entity (gains).

The FASB ASC glossary defines the term fundraising activities as follows:

Activities undertaken to induce potential donors to contribute money,
securities, services, materials, facilities, other assets, or time.

FASB ASC 958-605-25-16 discusses recognition criteria for contributed
services and provides, in part, as follows:

Contributions of services shall be recognized if the services received
meet any of the following criteria:

a. They create or enhance nonfinancial assets

b. Theyrequire specialized skills, are provided by individuals
possessing those skills, and would typically need to be
purchased if not provided by donation.

Contributed services that do not meet these criteria are prohibited from
being recognized.

As previously mentioned, questions have arisen about the classification
of the costs of soliciting contributed services and time that do not meet the
recognition criteria in FASB ASC 958-605-25-16.

How should the costs of soliciting contributed services that do not meet the
recognition criteria in FASB ASC 958-605-25-16 be reported?

Reply—FASB ASC 958-720-45-10 provides that fundraising activities in-
clude soliciting contributions of services from individuals, regardless of whether
those services meet the recognition criteria for contributions in paragraphs 2—
20 of FASB ASC 958-605-25.2 For example, costs of soliciting contributed ser-
vices to be used in program functions should be reported as fundraising, even
if the services do not meet the recognition criteria. Similarly, costs of soliciting
management and general services should be reported as fundraising, even if
the management and general services do not meet the recognition criteria.

Certain contributed services are prohibited from being recognized for prac-
tical, rather than conceptual, reasons. Those services are nevertheless contri-
butions, regardless of whether or not they are recognized. Therefore, soliciting

2 NPEs frequently incur other costs in connection with contributed services, such as costs of
training and managing volunteers. Costs of training and managing volunteers should not be reported
as fund raising, unless those volunteers are performing fundraising functions.
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those contributions meets the definition of fundraising in the FASB ASC glos-
sary.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.12 Nondiscretionary Assistance Programs

Inquiry—FASB ASC 958 provides guidance for transactions in which an
entity—the donor—makes a contribution by transferring assets to a not-for-
profit entity—the recipient entity, as defined in the FASB ASC glossary—that
accepts the assets from the donor and agrees to use those assets on behalf of
or transfer those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both to
another entity—the beneficiary—that is specified by the donor. It also provides
guidance for transactions that take place in a similar manner but are not
contributions because the transfers are revocable, repayable, or reciprocal.
FASB ASC 958 provides that a recipient entity that (a) accepts assets from
a donor without variance power and (b) agrees to use those assets on behalf
of or transfer those assets, the return on investment of those assets, or both
to a specified beneficiary that is not financially interrelated is not a donee.
The recipient entity should recognize its liability to the specified beneficiary
concurrent with its recognition of cash or other financial assets?® received from
the donor. Further, FASB ASC 958 provides that a nondonee recipient entity
that receives nonfinancial assets is permitted, but not required, to recognize
its liability and those assets provided that the entity reports consistently from
period to period and discloses its accounting policy.

FASB ASC 958-605-55-71 discusses transfers that are not contributions
and provides as follows:

Receipts of resources as an agent, trustee, or intermediary of a donor
are not contributions received to the agent because the recipient of
assets who is an agent or trustee has little or no discretion in deter-
mining how the assets transferred will be used. For the same reason,
deliveries of resources as an agent, trustee, or intermediary of a donor
are not contributions made by the agent. Similarly, contributions of
services (time, skills, or expertise) between donors and donees that
are facilitated by an intermediary are not contributions received or
contributions made by the intermediary.

Some NPEs participate in activities wherein the resource provider (donor)
determines the eligibility requirements for the ultimate beneficiaries and the
NPE must disburse to any who meet guidelines specified by the resource
provider or return the assets. In some of those programs, the NPE receives
assets, such as food, food vouchers, public transportation vouchers, and cash
and distributes the assets on behalf of the resource provider (donor) in exchange
for a fee for performing that service.

3 The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
glossary defines financial assets as

cash, evidence of an ownership interest in an entity, or a contract that conveys to one entity a
right to do either of the following:

a. Receive cash or another financial instrument from a second entity

b. Exchange other financial instruments on potentially favorable terms with the second
entity
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Should recipient entity NPEs report receipts and disbursements of as-
sets under such programs (other than any fees for performing the service) as
revenues and expenses?

Reply—Receipts and disbursements of assets under such programs (other
than any fees for performing the service) are agency transactions, and are
not contributions to the recipient entity NPE. A recipient entity that receives
financial assets, such as cash or vouchers that can be exchanged for cash,
should recognize its liability to the beneficiaries concurrent with its recognition
of financial assets received from the donor. A recipient entity that receives
nonfinancial assets, such as food vouchers or public transportation vouchers
that are denominated in either dollar values or in nonfinancial terms, such as
pounds of food or bus rides, but that will not be settled in cash, is permitted, but
not required, to recognize its liability and those assets provided that the entity
reports consistently from period to period and discloses its accounting policy.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.13 Note to Sections 6140.14-.18—Implementation of FASB ASC
958—Classification of a Beneficiary's Interest in the Net Assets of a Fi-
nancially Interrelated Fund-Raising Foundation (in the Beneficiary's
Financial Statements)

Some not-for-profit entities have separate fund-raising foundations (com-
monly referred to as institutionally related foundations) that solicit contribu-
tions on their behalf. FASB ASC 958 provides guidance on (among other things)
the accounting that should be followed by such institutionally related founda-
tions and their related beneficiary entity(ies) with respect to contributions
received by the foundation.

Some institutionally related foundations and their beneficiary entities meet
the characteristics of financially interrelated entities provided in FASB ASC
958-20-15-2. If entities are financially interrelated, FASB ASC 958 provides
that the balance sheet of the beneficiary entity(ies) should reflect that entity's
interest in the net assets of the foundation, and that interest should be pe-
riodically adjusted to reflect the beneficiary's share of the changes in the net
assets of the foundation. This accounting is similar to the equity method of
accounting, which is described in FASB ASC 323, Investments—Equity Method
and Joint Ventures.

FASB ASC 323-10-35-5 requires that the periodic adjustment of the invest-
ment be included in the determination of the investor's net income. The purpose
of sections 6140.14—.18 (applicable to NPEs other than health care [HC] enti-
ties) and sections 6400.36— .42 (applicable to not-for-profit HC entities) is to
clarify that in circumstances in which the recipient and the beneficiary are
financially interrelated:

® Beneficiary entities should segregate the adjustment into changes
in restricted and unrestricted net assets. (NPE TPA [sections
6140.14—.16]; HC TPA [section 6400.36—-37 and .39])

® In circumstances in which the beneficiary can influence the finan-
cial decisions of the recipient entity to such an extent that the
beneficiary can determine the timing and amount of distributions
from the recipient to the beneficiary, the existence of the recipient
entity should be transparent in determining the net asset classi-
fications in the beneficiary's financial statements. In other words,
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the recipient cannot impose time or purpose restrictions beyond
those imposed by the donor. (NPE TPA [sections 6140.14 and .16];
HC TPA [sections 6400.36 and .39])

® In circumstances in which the beneficiary cannot influence the
financial decisions of the recipient entity to such an extent that the
beneficiary can determine the timing and amount of distributions
from the recipient to the beneficiary, the existence of the recipient
entity creates an implied time restriction on the beneficiary's net
assets attributable to the beneficiary's interest in the net assets of
the recipient (in addition to any other restrictions that may exist).
Accordingly, in recognizing its interest in the net assets of the
recipient entity and the changes in that interest, the beneficiary
should classify the resulting net assets and changes in those net
assets as temporarily restricted (unless donors placed permanent
restrictions on their contributions). (NPE TPA [section 6140.15];
HC TPA [section 6400.37])

® In circumstances in which the beneficiary can influence the finan-
cial decisions of the recipient entity to such an extent that the
beneficiary can determine the timing and amount of distributions
from the recipient to the beneficiary and some net assets held by
the recipient for the benefit of the beneficiary are subject to pur-
pose restrictions (for example, net assets of the recipient restricted
to the beneficiary's purchase of property, plant, and equipment
[PPE]), expenditures by the beneficiary that meet those purpose
restrictions result in the beneficiary (and recipient) reporting re-
classifications from temporarily restricted to unrestricted net as-
sets (assuming that the beneficiary has no other net assets subject
to similar purpose restrictions), unless those net assets are subject
to time restrictions that have not expired, including time restric-
tions that are implied on contributed long-lived assets as a result
of the beneficiary's accounting policy pursuant to FASB ASC 958-
605-45-6. (If those net assets are subject to time restrictions that
have not expired and the beneficiary has other net assets with
similar purpose restrictions, the restrictions on those other net
assets would expire in accordance with FASB ASC 958. These sec-
tions do not, however, establish a hierarchy pertaining to which
restrictions are released first—restrictions on net assets held by
the recipient or purpose restrictions on net assets held by the ben-
eficiary.) (NPE TPA [section 6140.17]; HC TPA [section 6400.40])

® In circumstances in which the beneficiary cannot influence the fi-
nancial decisions of the recipient entity to such an extent that the
beneficiary can determine the timing and amount of distributions
from the recipient to the beneficiary and some net assets held
by the recipient for the benefit of the beneficiary are subject to
purpose restrictions, though not subject to time restrictions other
than the implied time restrictions that exist because the benefi-
ciary cannot determine the timing and amount of distributions
from the recipient to the beneficiary, expenditures by the benefi-
ciary that are consistent with those purpose restrictions should
not result in the beneficiary reporting a reclassification from tem-
porarily restricted to unrestricted net assets, subject to the excep-
tions in the following sentence. Expenditures by the beneficiary
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that are consistent with those purpose restrictions should result
in the beneficiary reporting a reclassification from temporarily
restricted to unrestricted net assets if (a) the recipient has no
discretion in deciding whether the purpose restriction is met* or
(b) the recipient distributes or obligates itself to distribute to the
beneficiary amounts attributable to net assets restricted for the
particular purpose, or otherwise indicates that the recipient in-
tends for those net assets to be used to support the particular
purpose as an activity of the current period. In all other circum-
stances, (a) purpose restrictions and (b) implied time restrictions
on the net assets attributable to the interest in the recipient en-
tity exist and have not yet expired. (However, if the beneficiary
has other net assets with similar purpose restrictions, those re-
strictions would expire in accordance with FASB ASC 958. These
TPAs do not establish a hierarchy pertaining to which restrictions
are released first—restrictions on net assets held by the recipient
or restrictions on net assets held by the beneficiary.) (NPE TPA
[section 6140.18]; HC TPA [section 6400.41])

For HC NPEs Only. In circumstances in which the beneficiary
can influence the financial decisions of the recipient to such an
extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing and amount
of distributions from the recipient to the beneficiary, changes in
the beneficiary's interest in the net assets of a recipient entity
attributable to unrealized gains and losses on investments should
be included or excluded from the performance indicator in accor-
dance with FASB ASC 954-10, FASB ASC 954-205-45, FASB ASC
954-320-45, FASB ASC 954-320-55, and FASB ASC 954-605 in the
same manner that they would have been had the beneficiary had
the transactions itself. Similarly, in applying this guidance, the
determination of whether amounts are included or excluded from
the performance measure should comprehend that if the bene-
ficiary cannot influence the financial decisions of the recipient
entity to such an extent that the beneficiary can determine the
timing and amount of distributions from the recipient to the ben-
eficiary, an implied time restriction exists on the beneficiary's net
assets attributable to the beneficiary's interest in the net assets of
the recipient (in addition to any other restrictions that may exist).
Accordingly, in circumstances in which the beneficiary cannot in-
fluence the financial decisions of the recipient entity to such an
extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing and amount
of distributions from the recipient to the beneficiary, the benefi-
ciary should classify the resulting net assets and changes in those
net assets as temporarily restricted (unless donors placed per-
manent restrictions on their contributions) and therefore exclude

4 In some circumstances, the purpose restrictions may be so broad that the recipient entity

has discretion in deciding whether expenditures by the beneficiary that are consistent with those
purpose restrictions actually meet those purpose restrictions. For example, the recipient's net assets
may have arisen from a contribution that was restricted for the beneficiary's purchase of research
equipment, with no particular research equipment specified. Purchasing an XYZ microscope, which
is consistent with that purpose restriction, may or may not meet that purpose restriction, depending
on the decision of the recipient. In contrast, the net assets may have arisen from a contribution that
was restricted for an XYZ microscope. Purchasing an XYZ microscope, which also is consistent with
that purpose restriction, would result in the recipient having no discretion in determining whether
that purpose restriction is met.
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those changes from the performance indicator. (HC TPA [section
6400.42])

® For HC NPEs Only. In circumstances in which the recipient entity
and the beneficiary are both controlled by the same entity, entities
should consider the specific facts and circumstances to determine
whether the beneficiary can influence the financial decisions of
the recipient entity to such an extent that the beneficiary can de-
termine the timing and amount of distributions from the recipient
to the beneficiary. (HC TPA [section 6400.38])

Technical Practice Aids for Not-for-Profit Entities
Implementation of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated Fund-Raising
Foundation (in the Beneficiary's Financial Statements)

recipient to

HC NPEs

NPEs that are not HC NPEs
Can the How does the | Are any net assets Are any changes in
beneficiary existence of held by the the beneficiary's
determine the | the recipient | recipient for the interest in the net
timing and affect the benefit of the assets of the
amount of beneficiary's | beneficiary subject | recipient
distributions | reporting of to donor-imposed attributable to
from the its interest? purpose restrictions | unrealized gains

and has the

and losses on

the beneficiary made investments?
beneficiary? expenditures that
[Not-for-profit meet those purpose
health care restrictions (in
entities (HC circumstances in
NPEs) under which the
common beneficiary can
control determine the
consider HC timing and amount
Technical of distributions
Practice Aid from the recipient
(TPA) section to the beneficiary)
6400.38] or that are
consistent with
those purpose
restrictions (in
circumstances in
which the
beneficiary cannot
determine the
timing and amount
of distributions
from the recipient
to the beneficiary)?
(continued)
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recipient
creates an
implied time
restriction on
the beneficiary's
net assets
attributable to
the beneficiary's
interest in the
net assets of the
recipient. (NPE
TPA [section
6140.15]; HC
TPA [ section
6400.37])

HC NPEs
NPEs that are not HC NPEs
Yes Existence of Reclass the applicable | Changes in the

recipient is net assets from beneficiary's interest

transparent in | temporarily restricted | in the net assets of a

determining net | (TR) to unrestricted recipient entity

asset (UR) unless those net | attributable to

classifications. | assets are subject to unrealized gains and

(NPE TPA time restrictions that | losses on investments

[sections have not expired. should be included or

6140.14 and (NPE TPA [section excluded from the

.16]; HC TPA 6140.17]; HC TPA [ performance indicator

[sections section 6400.40]) in accordance with

6400.36 and FASB ASC 954-10,

.39D FASB ASC
954-205-45, FASB
ASC 954-320-45,
FASB ASC
954-320-55, and
FASB ASC 954-605 in
the same manner that
they would have been
had the beneficiary
had the transactions
itself. (HC TPA
[section 6400.42])

No Existence of the | Reclass the applicable | An implied time

net assets from TR to
UR only if the purpose
restriction and the
implied time
restriction are met.
Whether the purpose
restriction is met
depends in part on (1)
whether the recipient
has discretion in
determining whether
the purpose restriction
is met and (2) the
recipient's decision in
exercising that
discretion, if any.
(NPE TPA [ section
6140.18]; HC TPA
[section 6400.41])

restriction exists on
the beneficiary's net
assets attributable to
the beneficiary's
interest in the net
assets of the
recipient. The
beneficiary should
classify the resulting
net assets and
changes in those net
assets as temporarily
restricted (unless
donors placed
permanent
restrictions on their
contributions) and
therefore exclude
those changes from
the performance
indicator. (HC TPA
[section 6400.42])

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]
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.14 Application of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated Fund-Raising
Foundation (The beneficiary can influence the operating and financial
decisions of the foundation to such an extent that the beneficiary can
determine the timing and amount of distributions from the founda-
tion.)

Inquiry—ABC Research Institute, a not-for-profit entity subject to FASB
ASC 958° and ABC Foundation are financially interrelated entities as described
in FASB ASC 958-20-15-2. ABC Foundation's bylaws state that it is organized
for the purpose of stimulating voluntary financial support from donors for the
sole benefit of ABC Research Institute. Assume that ABC Research Institute
can influence the operating and financial decisions of ABC Foundation to such
an extent that ABC Research Institute can determine the timing and amount
of distributions from ABC Foundation to ABC Research Institute.

During its most recent fiscal year, ABC Foundation's activities resulted in
an increase in net assets (before distributions) of $3,200, comprised of $2,000
in unrestricted contributions, $1,000 in temporarily restricted contributions
(purpose restrictions), $500 in unrestricted dividend and interest income, and
$300 in expenses. In addition, ABC Foundation distributed $2,500 in cash
representing unrestricted net assets to ABC Research Institute. How should
this activity be reported in ABC Research Institute's financial statements?

Reply—Because ABC Foundation (the recipient entity) and ABC Research
Institute (the beneficiary) are financially interrelated, FASB ASC 958-20-25-
2 requires ABC Research Institute to recognize its interest in the net assets
of ABC Foundation and periodically adjust that interest for its share of the
change in net assets of ABC Foundation. This is similar to the equity method
of accounting described in FASB ASC 323.

In recognizing its interest in the net assets of ABC Foundation and the
changes in that interest, ABC Research Institute should classify the result-
ing net assets as if contributions were received by ABC Research Institute
directly from the donor, because ABC Research Institute can influence the
operating and financial decisions of ABC Foundation to such an extent that
ABC Research Institute can determine the timing and amount of distributions
from ABC Foundation to ABC Research Institute. In other words, the exis-
tence of ABC Foundation should be transparent in determining the net asset
classifications in ABC Research Institute's financial statements because ABC
Foundation cannot impose time or purpose restrictions beyond those imposed
by the donor. (Any instructions given by ABC Foundation are designations,
rather than restrictions.)

In the circumstances described in the preceding, ABC Research Institute
would initially increase its asset, "Interest in Net Assets of ABC Foundation" for
the change in ABC Foundation's net assets ($3,200). ABC Research Institute's
Statement of Activity would include "Change in Unrestricted Interest in ABC
Foundation" of $2,200, which would be reported as an increase in unrestricted
net assets, and "Change in Temporarily Restricted Interest in ABC Foundation"
of $1,000 as an increase in temporarily restricted net assets.

5 This section addresses not-for-profit entities subject to FASB ASC 958. Section 6400.36, "Appli-
cation of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially
Interrelated Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary can influence the operating and financial de-
cisions of the foundation to such an extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing and amount
of distributions from the foundation.)," addresses a similar issue for not-for-profit health care entities
subject to FASB ASC 954, Health Care Entities.

©2015, AICPA §6140.14



228 Specialized Industry Problems

The $2,500 distribution from ABC Foundation to ABC Research Institute
would not be reported as an increase in net assets on ABC Research Institute's
Statement of Activity. By analogy to equity method accounting, the $2,500
would be reported in a manner similar to a distribution from a subsidiary to
its parent (for example, a dividend). ABC Research Institute should report the
distribution by increasing cash and decreasing its interest in the net assets of
ABC Foundation.

If the distribution represented restricted net assets, ABC Research Insti-
tute would not reclassify the net assets from temporarily restricted to unre-
stricted at the time of the distribution. Instead, ABC Research Institute would
reclassify the net assets from temporarily restricted to unrestricted when those
restrictions were met.

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.15 Application of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated Fund-Raising
Foundation (The beneficiary cannot influence the operating and finan-
cial decisions of the foundation to such an extent that the beneficiary
can determine the timing and amount of distributions from the foun-
dation.)

Inquiry—ABC Research Institute, a not-for-profit entity subject to FASB
ASC 958% and ABC Foundation are financially interrelated entities as described
in FASB ASC 958-20-15-2. ABC Foundation's bylaws state that it is organized
for the purpose of stimulating voluntary financial support from donors for the
sole benefit of ABC Research Institute. Assume that ABC Research Institute
cannot, however, influence the operating and financial decisions of ABC Foun-
dation to such an extent that ABC Research Institute can determine the timing
and amount of distributions from ABC Foundation to ABC Research Institute.

During its most recent fiscal year, ABC Foundation's activities resulted in
an increase in net assets (before distributions) of $3,200, comprised of $2,000 in
unrestricted contributions, $1,000 in temporarily restricted contributions (pur-
pose restrictions), $500 in unrestricted dividend and interest income, and $300
in expenses. In addition, ABC Foundation elected to distribute $2,500 in cash
representing unrestricted net assets to ABC Research Institute. How should
this activity be reported in ABC Research Institute's financial statements?

Reply—Because ABC Foundation (the recipient entity) and ABC Research
Institute (the beneficiary) are financially interrelated, FASB ASC 958-20-25-
2 requires ABC Research Institute to recognize its interest in the net assets
of ABC Foundation and periodically adjust that interest for its share of the
change in net assets of ABC Foundation. This is similar to the equity method
of accounting described in FASB ASC 323.

ABC Research Institute cannot influence the operating and financial deci-
sions of ABC Foundation to such an extent that ABC Research Institute can
determine the timing and amount of distributions from ABC Foundation to

6 This section addresses not-for-profit entities subject to FASB ASC 958. Section 6400.37, "Appli-
cation of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially
Interrelated Fund-Raising Foundation (The beneficiary cannot influence the operating and financial
decisions of the foundation to such an extent that the beneficiary can determine the timing and
amount of distributions from the foundation.)," addresses a similar issue for not-for-profit health care
entities subject to FASB ASC 954.
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ABC Research Institute. Therefore, an implied time restriction exists on ABC
Research Institute's interest in the net assets of ABC Foundation (in addition
to any other restrictions that may exist). Accordingly, in recognizing its in-
terest in the net assets of ABC Foundation and the changes in that interest,
ABC Research Institute should classify the resulting net assets as changes in
temporarily restricted net assets (unless donors placed permanent restrictions
on their contributions).

In the circumstances described in the preceding, ABC Research Institute
would initially increase its asset, "Interest in Net Assets of ABC Foundation"
for the change in ABC Foundation's net assets ($3,200). ABC Research Insti-
tute's Statement of Activity would include "Change in Temporarily Restricted
Interest in ABC Foundation" of $3,200 as an increase in temporarily restricted
net assets.

The $2,500 distribution from ABC Foundation to ABC Research Institute
would not be reported as an increase in net assets on ABC Research Institute's
Statement of Activity. By analogy to equity method accounting, the $2,500
would be treated similar to a distribution from a subsidiary to its parent (for
example, a dividend). ABC Research Institute should report the distribution by
increasing cash and decreasing its interest in the net assets of ABC Foundation.

ABC Research Institute would reclassify the net assets from temporarily
restricted to unrestricted at the time of the distribution, because the time
restriction would expire at the time of the distribution. (If those net assets were
subject to purpose or time restrictions that remained even after the net assets
had been distributed to ABC Research Institute, ABC Research Institute would
not reclassify the net assets from temporarily restricted to unrestricted at the
time of the distribution. Instead, ABC Research Institute would reclassify the
net assets from temporarily restricted to unrestricted when those restrictions
were met.)

[Revised, June 2009, to reflect conforming changes necessary due to the
issuance of FASB ASC.]

.16 Application of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's
Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially Interrelated Fund-Raising
Foundation (More Than One Beneficiary—Some Contributions Are
Designated)

Inquiry—DEF Arts Entity is the parent of three brother-sister not-for-profit
entities: Ballet, Orchestra, a not-for-profit entity subject to FASB ASC 9587 and
Foundation. Foundation is organized for the purpose of raising contributions for
the benefit of both Ballet and Orchestra. The four entities are legally separate
not-for-profit entities that are financially interrelated pursuant to the guidance
in FASB ASC 958-20-15-2. Assume that Orchestra can influence the financial
decisions of Foundation to such an extent that Orchestra can determine the
timing and amount of distributions from Foundation to Orchestra.

A donor contributes $5,000 cash to Foundation and stipulates that the
contribution is for the benefit of Orchestra. Foundation would record the con-
tribution as temporarily restricted revenue (because Foundation must use the
contribution for the benefit of Orchestra). In its separately issued financial

7 This section addresses not-for-profit entities subject to FASB ASC 958. Section 6400.39, "Appli-
cation of FASB ASC 958—Classification of a Beneficiary's Interest in the Net Assets of a Financially
Interrelated Fund-Raising Foundation (More Than One Beneficiary—Some Contributions Are Des-
ignated)," addresses a similar issue for not-for-profit health care entities subject to FASB ASC 954.
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statements, Orchestra would recognize its interest in the net assets at-
tributable to that contribution by debiting "Interest in Net Assets of Foun-
dation" for $5,000. Would the offsetting credit be reported as temporarily re-
stricted revenue (because the net assets attributable to the contribution are
restricted on Foundation's Balance Sheet) or unrestricted revenue (because
there are no donor-imposed time restrictions or purpose restrictions on how
Orchestra must use the contribution)?

Reply—Orchestra should report the offsetting credit as unrestricted rev-
enue. Because Orchestra can influence the financial decisions of Foundation
to such an extent that Orchestra can determine the timing and amount of dis-
tributions from Foundation to Orchestra, no implied time restriction exists on
Orchestra's net assets attributable to its interest in the net assets of Founda-
tion. Accordingly, in recognizing its interest in the net assets of Foundation and
the changes in that interest, Orchestra should classify the resulting net assets
as if contributions were received by Orchestra directly from the donor. In other
words, the existence of Foundation should be transparent in determining the
net asset classifications in Orchestra's separately issued financial statements
because Foundation cannot impose time or purpose restrictions beyond those
imposed by the donor. (Any instructions given by Foundation are designations,
rather than restrictions.)

Because there are no donor-imposed restrictions on how Orchestra must
use the contribution, Orchestra should report the change in its interest in
the net assets attributable to the contribution as an increase in unrestricted
net assets in its separately issued Statement of Activity. When Foundation
actually distributes the funds, Orchestra should increase cash and decrease